

THE RIGHT TO INCLUSIVE, OUALITY EDUCATION

PLAN INTERNATIONAL POSITION PAPER

OCTOBER 2017

THE RIGHT TO INCLUSIVE, QUALITY EDUCATION: PLAN INTERNATIONAL'S POSITION STATEMENT

Plan International believes that every child and young person has the right to access and complete a quality, inclusive education that covers at least pre-primary, primary and secondary education, in formal or non-formal settings, at the appropriate age, in a safe and supportive learning environment.

OVERVIEW: ACCESS TO EDUCATION

Plan International believes that education should be available and accessible to all children on the basis of equal opportunity and non-discrimination. Every child must be able to access and complete an inclusive, quality preprimary, primary and secondary education in order to meet global commitments.

It is unacceptable that certain groups of children are prevented from being able to access, transition and complete a quality education due to their gender, nationality, ethnic or social origin, religion or political preference, age or disability. Such barriers are discriminatory and must be tackled through effective policies and adequate funding. Plan International will continue to work to ensure that girls' education is a priority issue globally, so that inequality in access to education is eradicated.

If Agenda 2030 is not met for the most disadvantaged, the global community will have failed. Learning environments must be fit to accommodate all girls and boys regardless of their physical, intellectual, social, emotional and linguistic abilities. To achieve this, all actors must prioritise supporting the most vulnerable and excluded children who are least likely to be able to access education: These are: girls, children with disabilities, from the poorest backgrounds, living in conflict or emergency situations and from the most vulnerable and excluded groups.

SOCIAL NORMS AND ACCESS TO EDUCATION FOR GIRLS

Plan International believes that education is the key to unlocking girls' potential, and one of the most effective interventions for achieving development goals. Every girl has an equal right to access a quality education, in safe school environments that are free from gender bias, challenge discriminatory social norms and promote gender equality. We commit to prioritising the removal of gendered barriers to girls' access to education, such as poor sanitation and menstrual hygiene management facilities, early pregnancy and childcare, and child marriage.

Girls are the under-valued majority, and can be a powerful force in their homes, communities and societies. It is crucial to challenge the gender inequality and social norms which prohibit girls from accessing and completing a quality education. Negative gender norms should never be justified on traditional, cultural or religious grounds.

ACCESS TO EDUCATION FOR CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES

- Plan International believes that mainstream education systems can and should be adapted to meet the needs of all learners, and should offer learning opportunities for every child. Not to do so is to ignore the potential of all children. Children with disabilities have an equal right to access an inclusive, quality education, and a right to the support and adaptations necessary to facilitate their learning.
- Child-friendly, inclusive education from early years onwards brings better social, academic, health and economic outcomes for all learners, and at a lower cost than special/segregated education. As such, Plan International believes that inclusive education should be a global priority, without which development goals cannot be met.

ACCESS TO EDUCATION FOR CHILDREN IN POVERTY

- ➢ Plan International believes that no child should be denied the right to access an inclusive, quality education due to poverty, and recognises that poverty exacerbates the likelihood of exclusion for girls or children with disabilities. All actors − governments, intergovernmental organisations and civil society − have a responsibility to support those most in need to access and complete an inclusive, quality education.
- Plan International believes that pre-primary, primary and secondary education should be fee-and cost-free. Targeted measures should be taken to ensure that children from the poorest backgrounds, and particularly girls, are supported to access their right to education.
- **ACCESS TO EDUCATION IN EMERGENCIES**
- Plan International believes that no child should be denied their right to an education due to conflict and disaster. This fundamental right must be protected before, during and after an emergency, including for displaced children, refugees, asylum seekers and internally displaced persons, to ensure educational continuity.
- We believe that education in emergencies is crucial to maintaining a sense of normalcy in children's lives, to provide safe, supportive spaces for children, and for equipping children with the skills and knowledge they need to negotiate their present and future circumstances.
- We believe that education is a core humanitarian need. Education in emergencies interventions must be integrated into all stages of emergency planning and response: through contingency and disaster preparedness planning; early recovery immediately following an emergency; and long-term recovery.
- Interventions should ensure that children's immediate education needs are met, whilst also planning for longer-term provision, eventually

- reinstating or strengthening national education services.
- Plan International recognises that education in emergency responses should target those disproportionally affected by emergencies, or at greater risk, in particular girls and children with disabilities.

ACCESS TO NON-FORMAL EDUCATION

Plan International recognises that non-formal education is a key inclusive education intervention. Non-formal education programmes can help to ensure that out-ofschool children are able to access an education, and in some cases can be prepared for re-entry into the formal education system.

OVERVIEW: QUALITY, EQUITY AND EQUALITY

- Plan International believes that a quality education is comprehensive, empowering, promotes respect for the dignity and value of all people, and provides a broad range of learning processes that include wider life skills and comprehensive sexuality education. Quality education should provide children and young people with the necessary skills and knowledge, attitudes and behaviours to lead positive and productive lives and to be responsible and active citizens.
- Plan International believes that quality education outcomes cannot be secondary to access to education. If children are unable to learn and develop whilst in school, then the education system has failed them.
- We believe that education can help to realise the potential in all children, tackling many of the inequalities and exclusionary practices societies perpetuate. We believe we have a collective responsibility to ensure education systems achieve this, through quality curricula, teaching pedagogies and learning environments.

QUALITY EARLY CHILDHOOD CARE AND PRE-PRIMARY PROVISION

- Plan international believes that pre-primary education is a vital component of quality education, ensuring children's brain development, strengthening their ability to learn, develop psychological resilience and to adapt to change, and preparing children to enter primary school. This helps to mitigate disadvantages faced by children born into poor and non-literate environments.
- We believe that early childhood care and preprimary education is of critical value for the socialisation of gender equality. It is during early childhood and during the very first years of school that discriminatory social norms are formed. Pre-primary education must be gendersensitive and actively reject harmful gender stereotypes.
- Plan International believes that ensuring every child has access to at least one year of free, quality pre-primary education should be a priority for national governments.
- Plan International believes that early childhood care provision is a vital intervention to reduce the burden and gendered distribution of unpaid care work, and provides essential support for young mothers in taking up educational or economic opportunities.

QUALITY CURRICULA

- Plan International believes that education must promote a culture of peace, dignity, equality and sustainability, and enable learners to engage with and address the issues relevant to their lives. The school curriculum should actively combat discrimination or prejudice on the basis of sex, gender, caste, language, age, religion, sexual orientation, ethnicity or culture.
- Plan International believes that all children, adolescents and young people – without discrimination – are entitled to comprehensive sexuality education to gain knowledge, explore values and attitudes, and develop the skills they need to make conscious, healthy and respectful choices about relationships and sexuality. Parents and educators should be

- supported to embrace children's learning from early childhood to allow them to explore, clarify and form life-long healthy attitudes and practices, free from coercion, violence and discrimination.
- Comprehensive sexuality education should be accessible for all children, adolescents and young people, in both formal and non-formal educational settings. Co-curricular activities which complement the formal curriculum are also important as are parental and community involvement and links to gender-responsive, child- adolescent- and youth-friendly healthcare and other services. It should be provided in a way that is non-judgemental, non-discriminatory, scientifically accurate, accessible, inclusive, rights-based, gender-transformative and adapted to the evolving capacity of the child, adolescent or young person.
- Quality education provision in emergencies both formal and non-formal – must adhere to the minimum standards developed by the Inter-Agency Network for Education in Emergencies. It must: be delivered by trained professionals; promote gender equality and inclusion; recognise and respond to the diverse cultural/ethnic backgrounds of children; and include modules on human rights, conflict resolution, life skills, comprehensive sexuality education, and disaster risk reduction.
- We believe that a quality education should equip children with the skills and abilities to reach their full potential and maximise their chances of finding decent work. Education should be clearly linked to future opportunity, and should enable all learners to acquire the skills to succeed in employment or entrepreneurship.
- We believe that information technology must be built into education systems, to ensure that the digital revolution does not intensify inequalities and exclusion.

TEACHERS: NUMBERS, QUALIFICATIONS, SKILLS AND SUPPORT

Teachers are the primary factor contributing to a quality, equitable and inclusive education. Teachers are an important, highly skilled resource, and as such deserve respect and support. In order for teachers to be able to do their job, and to ensure their regular attendance, national governments should commit to fairly remunerating teachers for their work.

- Plan International believes that female teachers and managers at all levels of education are vital to facilitating the learning of all children, particularly girls, and to combatting negative stereotypes about gender roles. Female teachers should be encouraged into the profession, enabled to progress in their careers, and to take on leadership positions.
- Teaching pedagogies must ensure that all children are supported to achieve learning outcomes and progress in a wide range of subjects, irrespective of gender or disability.

OVERVIEW: ENABLING LEARNING ENVIRONMENTS

- Plan International believes that it is vital to education outcomes and for the wellbeing of children that schools are safe, inclusive spaces. Cultures of non-violence, respect and inclusion in schools are fundamental tenets of a quality education, and as such must be a global education priority.
- It is important that education systems link in with child protection and health systems, to ensure every child's wellbeing, and that no child falls through the gap.

GOVERNANCE AND PARTICIPATION

- Plan International believes that children and young people, as participants in their own education, will best understand the particular challenges they face in accessing a quality, safe education. As such, children's participation in decision-making should be welcomed. Girls' and boys' interests, concerns and opinions should be heard at all levels— from the governance and management systems at school, to national level policy development.
- All children and young people, irrespective of sex, age, disability or other exclusionary

categorisation, should be supported to participate meaningfully in decision-making processes. Targeted interventions should be put in place to ensure that girls and other children from marginalised and disenfranchised groups are enabled to participate on an equal basis with others, and that their value and sense of self-worth is reinforced.

SCHOOL RELATED GENDER BASED VIOLENCE

- Plan International asserts that every child has the right to learn in a safe and secure environment, free from the fear or threat of violence. This is an inseparable aspect of a quality education. Addressing attitudes and behaviours that support or legitimise violence at the national, local, school and community levels, is a key intervention to prevent and respond to school-related gender-based violence.
- We believe it is unacceptable that any child should be a victim of violence of any description either in school, or on the journey to and from school – including sexual violence or harassment, bullying and intimidation, and corporal punishment. We are committed to supporting children to recognise their own value, and the value of others, regardless of their gender. We believe this to be a fundamental learning outcome of an inclusive, quality education.
- Plan International believes that eliminating school-related gender-based violence should be a priority for all actors. School-related gender-based violence constitutes a serious rights violation, impacting on children's ability to enter, transition and complete school.

FINANCING THE RIGHT TO EDUCATION: THE GLOBAL FUNDING GAP

Plan International believes that no-one should be prevented from receiving a quality education due to a lack of resources. At least 12 years' free, quality, basic education, including at least 1 year pre-primary, should be available and accessible for all children. Plan International believes that education systems must be adequately and equitably financed – focusing on inclusive education and on gender equality in education systems. Funding should be prioritised for those who face the most barriers to accessing their right to education to ensure equitable learning outcomes and that no child is left behind.

DOMESTIC FINANCING FOR EDUCATION

Plan International recognises that, as the primary duty bearers, national governments are responsible for ensuring the right of all children to access and complete a quality, inclusive education. Fundamental to realising this right is demonstrating the necessary political and financial will to guarantee the right to education for all - including those most likely to be excluded.

INTERNATIONAL FINANCING FOR EDUCATION

- Plan International believes that the international community has a duty to support national governments from low and middle income countries to ensure public education systems are fully financed, so that every child is able to realise their right to inclusive, quality education. If education goals are not reached, then it will be impossible to fully meet the challenge of Agenda 2030.
- Plan International urges donors from all sectors to increase financing for education both bilaterally and multilaterally in order to meet the global shortfall in education financing.

FINANCING EDUCATION IN EMERGENCIES

Plan International believes that the right to education does not stop in emergencies, and that financing education provision is a crucial part of conflict and disaster prevention and response. National governments have a responsibility to finance the continued education of all children during or in the aftermath of disasters or conflict. Plan International believes that in the case of fragile or failing states, the international community should provide additional financial and technical support in order to ensure that this obligation is met for all children, everywhere. Plan International supports the Education Cannot Wait Fund as a mechanism to increase global funding for education in emergencies.

PRIVATE SECTOR FINANCING FOR EDUCATION

- Plan International believes that education provision is the responsibility of the State, and that the State is accountable for ensuring that the public education sector is fully financed.
- Plan International believes that private financing can play a greater role in supporting global education priorities, and should be welcomed where it seeks to complement, support and strengthen public education systems.
- Given the evidence showing that fee-charging schools exacerbate social and economic inequalities, Plan International does not support the provision of fee-charging private education, either by for-profit or not-for-profit agencies, where this allows the State to fail to meet its legal obligations to provide education for all. This is particularly the case where parents are left with no other options but to send their children to private schools or miss out on education. Plan International recognises that fee-charging education options can be a necessary transitional intervention on the road towards the provision of quality, free education for all children.

MONITORING PROGRESS ON GLOBAL EDUCATION GOALS

Plan International believes that increased, responsible data collection and analysis is fundamental to informing and implementing effective policies that respond to the learning needs of all children. Current measurement leaves gaps in our understanding of education outcomes, and should be addressed by the international community.

➢ Plan International promotes cultures of learning and reflection through internal and external knowledge sharing to enhance evidence-based decision-making in Plan International, in national governments and among other education stakeholders. National governments and international bodies must disaggregate data by sex, age, wealth quintile, location and disability as a minimum.

CONTENTS

Introduction10
Definitions11
International Human Rights Frameworks and International Agreements Supporting The Right To Education
Global statistics
Overview: access to education14
Social Norms and access to education for girls16
Access to education for children with disabilities18
Access to education for the poorest children20
Access to education in emergencies23
Overview: quality, equity and equality26
Quality early childhood care and pre-primary provision28
Quality curricula30
Teachers: numbers, qualifications, skills and support36
Overview: enabling learning environments39
Governance and participation40
School-related gender-based violence42
Financing the right to education: the global funding gap45
Domestic financing for education46
International financing for education48
Financing education in emergencies49
Private sector financing for education50
Monitoring progress on global education goals52
ANNEX 1: Plan International global influencing engagement55
ANNEX 2: The international human rights framework and other international agreements supporting the right to education56

INTRODUCTION

Plan International believes that every child and young person has the right to access and complete a quality, inclusive education that covers at least pre-primary, primary and secondary education, in formal or non-formal settings, at the appropriate age, in a safe and supportive learning environment.

This internal paper provides Plan International's position on the right to inclusive, quality education, as well as analysis of: the current global situation; the legal and political framework; specific issues in relation to education. This paper supports the new Global Strategy, in which education remains a priority, and our work in relation to the 2030 Agenda and the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) — in particular Goals 4 and 5. A number of high-level recommendations are included to guide advocacy, however, a more specific advocacy framework will be developed.

The analysis and positions are founded on human rights, global evidence and Plan International's programmatic work, as well as drawing on a global youth survey conducted by Plan International UK in 2015.

Offices will be expected to put the position into practice using their judgement and analysis of the key issues in their specific context.

Plan International's Global Strategy 2017-2022 renews and refocuses our commitment to quality education for all children, and particularly for girls and excluded groups. We have committed to contribute to ensuring that vulnerable and excluded children, and particularly girls, access and complete inclusive, quality education from pre-primary to secondary, supporting progress towards Targets 1, 2, 5, 6, 7, A & C of Goal 4 of Agenda 2030¹. To achieve this, the Global Strategy sets out the following global priorities:

Influence national governments to:

- make education systems gender-responsive, inclusive and more relevant;
- increase their investments in education, particularly in education access and quality and/or other measures to support successful education transitions from early childhood into adulthood. Develop, test and scale up effective programme models for inclusive and genderresponsive education;
- facilitate, and where needed, provide access to safe, quality, inclusive education in fragile and

conflict affected states and emergency situations.

Plan International recognises that it is the responsibility of national governments, as the primary duty bearer accountable for their commitments and obligations under international human rights law and within Agenda 2030, to ensure every girl and boy is able to realise their right to education. Plan International also recognises the role of the international and national community – donors, civil society, UN agencies and the private sector – in supporting national governments to guarantee the right to education.

This paper deals with formal education structures, and therefore emphasises the responsibilities of governments to ensure the right to inclusive, quality education. Plan International also supports nonformal and informal education as part of a holistic approach to ensuring every child has the right to inclusive, quality education. However, whilst these forms of education delivery will be mentioned in this paper, they will not be discussed in detail. The paper discusses preparation for and routes into employment but does not cover youth economic empowerment in depth, nor does the paper deal with access to tertiary education.

The paper deals first with issues around access to education, analysing the barriers which children encounter in getting to school. The section is divided by broad sub-groups of children - girls, children with disabilities, the poorest children, and those living in emergency situations. The following section deals with issues around quality - the ability for children to be able to learn whilst in school. The section focuses on the early years, curricula, teachers and teaching pedagogies. The third section deals with issues around enabling learning environments, focusing on governance and participation, and school-related gender-based violence. Across these three sections there are some areas of overlap: these have been kept to a minimum.

The latter two sections deal with financing education (domestic, international, private and in emergencies), and monitoring progress on education, related in particular to Agenda 2030.

DEFINITIONS

INCLUSIVE EDUCATION: a wide range of strategies, activities and processes that seek to make a reality of the universal right to quality education. Inclusive education acknowledges that learning begins at birth and continues throughout life, and includes learning in the home, the community, and in formal, informal and non-formal situations.

GENDER-RESPONSIVE EDUCATION: A genderresponsive approach to education creates opportunities for individuals to actively challenge gender norms, promotes involvement in decisionmaking for all children and particularly girls in schools, encourages equality of opportunity for children of different genders, and addresses power inequities between persons of different genders.

EARLY-CHILDHOOD EDUCATION: Early Childhood Care and Education (ECCE) refers to a wide range of programmes aimed at the physical, cognitive and social development of children before they enter primary school.

PRE-PRIMARY EDUCATION: The initial stage of organised instruction, designed primarily to introduce very young children to a school-type environment, that is, to provide a bridge between home and a school-based atmosphere.

PRIMARY EDUCATION: Begins at ages five, six or seven and lasts for four to six years.

LOWER SECONDARY EDUCATION: Lower secondary education generally continues the basic programmes of the primary level, although teaching is typically more subject-focused, often employing more specialised teachers who conduct classes in their field of specialisation.

UPPER SECONDARY EDUCATION: The final stage of secondary education. Instruction is often more organised along subject-matter lines than at lower-secondary level, and teachers typically need to have a higher level, or more subject-specific, qualifications. The entrance age to this level is typically 15 or 16 years

TERTIARY EDUCATION: Education for people above school age, including college, university, and vocational courses.

DECENT WORK: Involves opportunities for work that is productive and delivers a fair income, security in the workplace and social protection for families, better prospects for personal development and social integration, freedom for people to express their concerns, organize and participate in the decisions that affect their lives and equality of opportunity and treatment for all women and men.

BULLYING: Bullying is characterized by the repeated exposure of a person to physical and/or emotional aggression including teasing, name calling, mockery, threats, harassment, taunting, hazing, social exclusion or rumours

INFORMAL EDUCATION: Informal education has no formal curriculum and leads to no formal qualifications. The teacher is someone with more experience, such as a parent or a friend.

NON-FORMAL EDUCATION: Non-formal education is organised, and may or may not be guided by a formal curriculum. It is led by a qualified teacher or by a leader with more experience. Though it doesn't result in a formal qualification, non-formal education is highly enriching and builds an individual's skills and capacities.

FORMAL EDUCATION: Formal education is organized, guided by a formal curriculum, leads to a recognised qualification, and is delivered by qualified teaching staff. It is guided and recognized by government at some level.

SCHOOL READINESS: (1) Ready children, focusing on children's learning and development. (2) Ready schools, focusing on the school environment along with practices that foster and support a smooth transition for children into primary school and advance and promote the learning of all children. (3) Ready families, focusing on parental and caregiver attitudes and involvement in their children's early learning and development and transition to school.

EARLY CHILDHOOD CAR AND DEVELOPMENT

(ECCD): ECCD links the young child's cognitive, social, emotional, and physical processes with the care (by families, communities, and the nation) required to support their development. ECCD is interdisciplinary in its focus. It includes health, nutrition, education, social science, economics, child protection, and social welfare².

INTERNATIONAL HUMAN RIGHTS FRAMEWORKS AND INTERNATIONAL AGREEMENTS SUPPORTING THE RIGHT TO EDUCATION

Education is a fundamental human right and essential for the exercise of all other human rights. Education promotes individual freedom and empowerment and yields important development benefits. Quality education is also central for access to decent work, improved health and gender relations, and respect towards the environment. It should be realised for all people, without discrimination or exclusion, including during emergencies.

As a right, education is a universal entitlement, however, girls and boys face differing barriers to attaining the right to education, therefore human rights frameworks recognise the right to education collectively for all children, and separately for certain demographics. Every child has the right to access free, quality and safe pre-primary, primary and secondary education. Education does not only take place at school: formal and non-formal education are both effective strategies to develop children's full potential. Education opportunities must be accessible to all, be of good quality and be free from violence and gender bias.

The right to education is supported by a robust international framework of legally binding human rights instruments. In addition to the international legal frameworks, which lay the foundations and provide the accountability mechanism for States to guarantee the right of all children to education, States have also committed to a number of global education frameworks which further detail their collective and individual responsibilities to ensure the right to education.

The Universal Declaration of Human Rights

Article 26 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights states that all people at all levels have the right to free, compulsory and accessible elementary education.

The Convention on the Rights of the Child (CRC)

The Convention on the Rights of the Child (CRC) is signed and ratified by every State Party to the UN except the United States of America. This makes it a powerful international legal tool for protecting

children's rights. It contains a number of articles relevant to education. Article 28.1 of the CRC recognises the right to education for all children, and outlines that States Parties have a responsibility to ensure compulsory, free primary education; available, accessible general and vocational secondary education; and accessible higher education for all children. However, while the CRC states that the right to learning and to education begins at birth, it doesn't explicitly refer to State obligations to ensuring access for all to safe, free, quality pre-primary education. This is outlined further in several General Comments – more information can be found in Annex 2.

Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities

Article 24 of the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD) obligates States to provide equal access to education for persons with disabilities, at all levels within both general and vocational education streams. It outlines that States are obligated to facilitate such access by providing persons with disabilities with alternative modes of communication, accommodating the disabled with adequate facilities, and training professionals on the education of people with disabilities. This is supported by Article 23.3 of the CRC, which places the responsibility of provision of free, quality, accessible education for children with disabilities on the State.

Convention for the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women

Article 10 of the Convention for the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW) outlines the responsibility of State Parties' to ensure gender equality within education, including equal access and exposure to opportunity at all levels and within all subject areas, and to also ensure that education curricula specifically tackle negative gender norms.

The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development

In 2015, the United Nations adopted the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) with its Agenda 2030 – a robust and ambitious development agenda for the coming 15 years. Agenda 2030 recognises the importance of education both as a fundamental right for all people, and also as a crucial tool for the achievement of all development goals. Education is a target outcome in goals 3, 5, 8, 12, and 13, in

addition to forming Goal 4: "ensure inclusive and equitable quality education and promote lifelong learning opportunities for all".

Goal 4 of Agenda 2030 represents the greatest commitment on the part of States thus far to realising the right to education for all. It reflects a broad vision of education grounded in the human rights perspective, expanding the ambition of the international community to achieve 10 distinctive targets:

States had previously committed to providing free, compulsory primary education. Within Agenda 2030 this is expanded to include access to quality early childhood development, care and pre-primary education (4.2) as well as primary and secondary education (Target 4.1) Vitally, States have also committed to achieving gender parity in education, and ensuring that education is accessible to all – even the most vulnerable (Target 4.5) – including by extending that commitment to include the provision of learning environments that are child, gender and disability sensitive (Target 4.a).

In addition to increased commitments to improving access to education, States have also made strong commitments to improving education quality. States have committed to ensuring that all children achieve literacy and numeracy (Target 4.6), to providing vocational and technical training (Target 4.4), to a broad set of curricular objectives towards promoting sustainable development (Target 4.7), and to increasing the supply of qualified teachers (Target 4.c).

GLOBAL STATISTICS

Despite the fact that education is recognised as a fundamental human right, and also a critical pathway to achieving all other rights, education has nevertheless not been achieved for all children.

2016 data from the UNESCO Institute of Statistics shows that 263 million children (ages 6-17) are out of school globally³. This number includes 61 million children of primary school age (6 to 11 years), 60 million young adolescents of lower secondary school age (12 to 14 years), and 142 million youth of upper secondary school age (15 to 17 years) for the school year ending in 2014. More than half of all out of school children live in sub-Saharan Africa and Southern Asia.

This means that today, 1 out of 11 primary school age children, 1 out of 6 lower secondary school age adolescents, and 1 out of 3 upper secondary school

age youth are not in school⁴. In low income countries only 14 percent of children will complete upper-secondary school.

Girls are more likely to be excluded from education. Of the 25 million children who will never start school, 15 million are girls. Almost 62 million of those children who are out of school live in conflict areas. Children with disabilities make up an estimated one-third of all out of school children⁵.

It is estimated that there are 65 million primary and lower secondary school aged children with a disability in developing countries, and that half of these children are out of school. Girls, young women and persons with particular impairments, including intellectual disabilities, face the most severe educational inequities. Plan International's own research shows that children with a disability are ten times more likely to be out of school than their peers, and that where they do attend school, they drop-out earlier than their peers, and they have poorer learning outcomes.

The global data shows that significant progress has been made toward gender parity in education. Whilst in 2000, 54 percent of the 375 million out of school children were girls, by 2014 this had reduced to a 1 percent difference in the global rates. However additional data show that girls are still less likely than boys overall to access, transition and complete a quality education:

- 1 in 10 girls, compared to 1 in 12 boys were out of primary school in 2014
- Out of school girls are more likely never to go to school: 47 percent of the 32 million primary school age out-of-school girls are expected never to enter a classroom, compared with 35 percent of the 29 million out of school boys
- ➤ 54 percent of countries have not achieved gender parity at the lower secondary level, and 77 percent at the upper secondary level⁹

The global figures also mask inequalities within countries based on wealth disparity. Across every level of education, the poorest students have lower completion rates than the national average. In developing countries, only 47 percent of girls and 49 percent of boys from low income families complete primary education compared to the national average of 73 percent. decreasing to 18 percent for girls and 22 percent for boys at lower

secondary level, compared to 46 percent overall, and 4 percent for girls and 6 percent for boys at upper-secondary level, compared to 25 percent overall.

In spite of evidence showing its value, investment in early childhood education is lacking, and currently pre-primary education is compulsory in only 40 countries – in most of these only one year of pre-primary is mandated. Early and pre-primary enrolment in education is lower than any other educational level, increasing from 27 percent in 1990 to 54 percent in 2012, but remaining only 20 percent in Sub-Saharan Africa. In many countries less than 10 percent of girls and boys attend some form of early learning/education programme¹⁰ with attendance rates for pre-primary education lowest in the poorest countries with the highest levels of child poverty¹¹.

Worldwide, there are still more than 150 million children aged 3 to 5 who do not have access to preprimary education, including more than 80 percent of children in low-income countries. In comparison, 87 percent of 3-5 year-olds do attend pre-primary education in developed countries. In some conflict-affected countries, as few as 5 percent of children have access to pre-primary education¹².

There are 34 million out of school children and adolescents living in conflict-affected countries¹³. Of these, 17 million are refugees, internally displaced or part of another population of concern (for instance asylum seekers or stateless persons)¹⁴. Notably, girls in conflict-affected contexts are 2.5 times more likely to be out of school than girls in more peaceful settings.¹⁵

Even where children can access schools, in many regions of the world, learning outcomes are very poor. 38 percent of children leave primary school without learning how to read, write and do simple arithmetic¹⁶. For some 130 million children, this is after having attended four years of primary education. Adult literacy rates in developing countries average 82 percent. Of the 18 percent of illiterate adults, 63 percent are female¹⁷.

About 16 million girls aged 15 to 19 and some 1 million girls under 15 give birth every year—most in low- and middle-income countries. Yet very few children have access to comprehensive sexuality education, which could inform them about their bodies, healthy relationships, and practicing safe, consensual sex¹⁸.

OVERVIEW: ACCESS TO EDUCATION

"If the government could find a way to 'persuade' parents, guardians and community leaders to let their girls go to school and then trade / work after school hours, it would go a long way in boosting the rate of girls in schools." Young woman, Nigeria

Goal 4, Target 1 of Agenda 2030 commits governments to ensuring that all girls and boys complete free, equitable and quality primary and secondary education leading to relevant and effective learning outcomes. Fundamental to fulfilling this right is ensuring that education is available (free, and with adequate infrastructure and trained teachers able to support the delivery of education), and accessible (non-discriminatory and accessible to all, with positive steps taken to include the most marginalised).

While all children have an equal right to education, the conditions and resources for universal access may not be available. The barriers comprise a wide range of policies and regulations, attitudes and beliefs that prevent children, in different ways, from realising their right to education. For many children schools are not easily accessible, and in rural areas in particular the distances to travel to school may be prohibitively long. Overcrowding is another issue, with schools not having capacity to accommodate all the children who should be attending. For many children around the world education is unattainable because schools are not adequately designed to accommodate the diverse needs of students. For example, facilities may prohibit certain groups from attending (such as children with physical disabilities), or lead to early drop-out (shared latrines that become unsafe for girls or inadequate for ensuring personal hygiene).

Goal 4, target A of Agenda 2030 commits governments to build and upgrade education facilities that are child, disability and gender sensitive and provide safe, nonviolent, inclusive and effective learning environments for all. The right of every child to education on the basis of equal opportunity is also established in article 28 of the Convention on the Rights of the Child. The Incheon Declaration commits governments to ensure the provision of 12 years of free, publicly funded, equitable quality primary and secondary education, of which at least 9 years are compulsory. This generally covers 4-6 years of primary education, and 3-5 years of lower-

secondary education. These provisions are in addition to 1 year of free pre-primary education.

Exclusion in education, as in other areas, is caused by inequality in the distribution of resources and power, by inequality in the social value assigned to different social groups, and by the social norms that perpetuate these differences. In addition to the various barriers that children face to accessing and realising their right to education, there are also multiple factors which will influence whether children are able to transition to higher levels and to complete their education. The causes of school dropout are intersecting and complex; often, it is not the result of a single event so much as a consequence of several processes or factors.¹⁹ Factors associated with dropout include poverty, social norms surrounding education, violence, child marriage and early pregnancy, and the quality and accessibility of available schools.

Certain demographic groups are less likely than others to access an education: girls, children with disabilities, children from the poorest households, and those living in emergency contexts are all demographic groups that this paper focuses on. Non-discriminatory education policies can reduce the barriers that excluded groups face in attaining their right to an education. Where education is available and accessible to all, inequalities in access on the basis of gender, race, disability, age, sexual orientation, nationality, ethnicity or religion will be reduced.

Plan International continues to focus on the rights of girls to be able to access education. Globally, girls remain more likely than boys to never attend school. With a strong supporting rights framework and a clear global mandate through Agenda 2030, it is unacceptable that girls remain less likely to be able to access an education. Nevertheless, it remains the case that this majority group faces significant barriers to accessing education in many places. This is frequently due to negative social norms that ascribe girls a lower status and value to boys. However, there are also structural barriers which can easily be removed if prioritised. Plan International will continue to work to ensure that girls' education is a priority issue globally, so that inequality in access to education is eradicated.

Plan International's Position

Plan International believes that education should be available and accessible to all children on the basis of equal opportunity and nondiscrimination. Every child must be able to access and complete an inclusive, quality pre-

- primary, primary and secondary education in order to meet global commitments.
- It is unacceptable that certain groups of children are prevented from being able to access, transition and complete quality education due to their gender, nationality, ethnic or social origin, religion or political preference, age or disability. Such barriers are discriminatory and must be tackled through effective policies and adequate funding. Plan International will continue to work to ensure that girls' education is a priority issue globally, so that inequality in access to education is eradicated.
- If Agenda 2030 is not met for the most disadvantaged, then we believe that the global community will have failed. Learning environments must be fit to accommodate all girls and boys regardless of their physical, intellectual, social, emotional and linguistic abilities. To achieve this, all actors must prioritise supporting the most vulnerable and excluded children who are least likely to be able to access education: girls, children with disabilities, from the poorest backgrounds, living in conflict or emergency situations and from the most vulnerable and excluded groups.

Plan International's Recommendations

- National governments must strengthen, and enforce laws to ensure that at least 9 years of basic education is compulsory for all children – and that 12 years of free quality education is available and accessible.
- National governments should implement laws and policies to ensure that at least one year of free, quality pre-primary education is compulsory and available for all children, and, progressively, that all children are able to access free early childhood care education, focusing initially on children from vulnerable and excluded groups. Children with a disability should also be guaranteed access to inclusive pre-primary education and pre-primary teachers trained on inclusive pedagogy
- Governments should put in place proactive measures to identify the poorest, most vulnerable and excluded children and implement targeted policy measures to remove all barriers to education and reduce inequalities in access, transition and completion.

SOCIAL NORMS AND ACCESS TO EDUCATION FOR GIRLS

"Not enough has been done to counter the challenges of access to education for girls. This includes campaigns to end FGM and child marriage, and sexual harassment / abuse of girls in schools... If adequately addressed, it will ensure girls transition in education so that they don't drop out of school or miss out on quality education." Young woman, Kenya

In many countries, poverty combines with geography and ethnicity to keep girls out of school, and the gender gap between girls and boys attending school from socially excluded groups is much larger than in the wider population.²⁰ Poor, rural girls and girls from indigenous populations are among those least likely to access education. Negative social norms and rigid gender roles which ascribe girls a different, often lower or more confined position in society can drive families to prioritise investment in boys' education over that of girls: parents have quoted high costs associated with schooling alongside poor quality of education, gender-based violence and the conclusion that a girl is perceived to be of a marriageable age as key reasons why they withdraw their daughters from school.²¹ Other factors, including ethnicity, disability and sexual orientation intersect and compound, often resulting in further discrimination.

Some families and teachers do not see the value of educating girls, and as such girls are more likely to be out of school or receive less support whilst in school. However, girls born to educated parents are more likely to attend school for longer. In particular, a mother's education level often influences the length of schooling that a girl receives. ²² For example, in rural Pakistan, girls whose mothers have some sort of formal schooling are less likely to drop out from school. ²³

Child, early and forced marriage and early pregnancy both serve as significant barriers to girls' education and at the same time as key causes of dropout for girls.²⁴ Estimates show that if they were eliminated the gender gap in education would reduce by half.²⁵ Girls may also be faced with discriminatory policies which prevent them from continuing their education if they are married or become pregnant.

Child marriage is also clearly linked to wealth; 54 percent of girls of the poorest 20 percent of households are married before their 18th birthday.²⁶

In the richest 20 percent of households, only 16 percent of girls are child brides. This corresponds with recent research that suggests that dropping out of school is less likely to be a direct consequence of child marriage than of poverty, the low status afforded to women, and social norms that lead parents to discount the value of investing in girls and their education.²⁷ At the same time, girls who are out of school are also more vulnerable to child, early and forced marriage. Girls with only primary education are twice as likely to be child brides compared to girls with secondary or higher education, whilst girls with no education are three times more likely to marry early compared to a girl with secondary or higher education.²⁸

In addition to child marriage, poor quality of education, gender-based violence and girls not learning the skills needed for work were cited as key reasons why girls were withdrawn from school in a study conducted by Plan International Egypt. 29 Concerns about school safety, lack of separate sanitation facilities for girls, and the distances needed to travel to school are other factors which affect a girl's chances of completing her education. Parents want to optimize the future of their daughters and 'protect' them from early pregnancy outside of marriage – which in many societies causes shame for the family. When poverty is extreme child marriage also relieves a family of an extra mouth to feed.

Safety in schools is an important concern. Girls are more likely than boys to experience sexual violence in school, with estimates suggesting that 150 million girls and 73 million boys under 18 across the world have been subject to this type of violence in school. An unsafe environment can also interfere with girls' learning ability, thereby preventing them from transitioning to the next level. Girls and boys who experience school-related gender-based violence (SRGBV) are less likely to do well in school³⁰.

Girls also do an unequal share of household chores. Globally, girls aged 5–14 spend 550 million hours every day on household chores - 160 million more hours than boys their age spend. This leaves them with less time to study or attend school. Physically demanding and time-consuming tasks, such as collection of water or firewood, are also primarily performed by girls and women, limiting the time they have left for educational opportunities and paid work. One study found that girls' school enrolment rates increased by 10 percent in one country and by 12 percent in a

second when the time spent walking to a water source was reduced by only one hour.³⁴

A lack of appropriate sanitation facilities can be a barrier to school attendance and to girls' education in particular. Girls who have reached puberty and female school staff who are menstruating need sanitation facilities which enable menstrual hygiene management (MHM). In a group of surveyed developing countries, less than half of primary schools have access to safe water and adequate sanitation.35 Where toilets are provided in schools, many are not safe, do not have locks, and are not gender-segregated for privacy and protection. Without the privacy afforded by these facilities, students will often not use school bathrooms. resulting in absenteeism 10-20 percent of the time³⁶. Toilets isolated from school or lacking basic provisions for privacy are also unsafe spaces for girls. Plan International's research shows that toilets are an area where girls are at increased risk of experiencing violence³⁷.

Gender disparities in early childhood education are less obvious than at later stages – global statistics show that girls are as likely as boys to be enrolled in pre-primary education. However, the limited data availability suggests that in some countries there are gendered gaps in rural, low income populations, as well as son bias in terms of the type of early childhood education institution girls are sent to and the extent to which their regular attendance is supported³⁸.

Plan International's Position

Plan International believes that education is the key to unlocking girls' potential, and one of the

- most effective interventions for achieving development goals. Every girl has an equal right to access a quality education, in safe school environments that are free from gender bias, challenge discriminatory social norms and promote gender equality. We commit to prioritising the removal of gendered barriers to girls' access to education, such as poor sanitation and menstrual hygiene management facilities, early pregnancy and childcare, and child marriage.
- Girls are the under-valued majority, and can be a powerful force in their homes, communities and societies. It is crucial to challenge the gender inequality and social norms which prohibit girls from accessing and completing a quality education. Negative gender norms should never be justified on traditional, cultural or religious grounds.

Plan International's Recommendations

- Governments should ensure that from primary school up, separate latrines and sanitation facilities are provided for girls and boys. These are critical to enable girls' menstrual hygiene management and ensure their attendance. They should also have access to accurate information about menstruation and to clean sanitary equipment.
- measures to support pregnant girls and married girls so that they are able to continue and complete their education. Governments should develop retention strategies and life skills programmes for married girls through targeted outreach and support programmes, initiating evening or part-time formal schooling and

CASE STUDY: spotlight on girls' access to education in ethnic and rural communities

In rural areas of Laos, families are often large and include many children. Parents are not always able to

In rural areas of Laos, families are often large and include many children. Parents are not always able to support all of their children's education, and therefore have to make a decision about which child they can afford to put through school. Often, it is girls who lose out.

"Parents are likely to support their son's schooling rather than their daughter's", said Ms. Kenexay, a teacher at one of the schools in the Bokeo Province. She says this is especially common in the ethnic communities. However, Plan International provides scholarships for primary school children to support ethnic girls' education to complete primary school.

"I was so happy to be selected for a scholarship which helped reduce my parents' expenditure and extend my school life", said Nali, who is 11 years old. She comes from a big family, and her older sister is already married, whilst her two brothers attend secondary school.

"From that scholarship, my mother bought me new books, pens, and a schoolbag. I've also got a school uniform, a sport uniform and shoes. I love them so much", says Nali.

vocational training opportunities, and following up with students who drop out of school. Governments should also end the discriminatory practices of mandatory pregnancy testing of girls, expelling pregnant girls from school, and excluding married students from school.

- Governments should enact, enforce, reform, and uphold laws and policies to ensure that girls and women who have not received formal education or have left school because of marriage, pregnancy, childbearing and/or motherhood have equal access to free, equitable and quality primary and secondary education, including catch-up and literacy education and are able to remain in, return to school or relocate if they wish.
- Governments must address the gaps in provision of water, sanitation and hygiene in schools in order to enhance the accessibility and usability of WASH in school infrastructure in all country settings and help diminish inequities of access.
- Governments, UN agencies and NGOs should take targeted measures to ease the care burden primarily placed on girls and women, supporting interventions that reduce the number of household chores girls undertake, by working with girls, with parents, and through investment in infrastructure, technology and public services.
- ➢ Governments need to do more to keep girls in formal education and help out-of-school girls in emergency settings access education by removing structural, practical and financial barriers. Specific measures include making schools free and easily accessible, ensuring girls' safety on their way to and from school, and persuading parents of the importance of girls' education and offering incentives to keep girls in school.
- Governments, inter-governmental and civil society organisations should actively engage communities, families, girls and boys, young people, traditional and religious leaders, and teachers in girls' education. All actors should prioritise interventions which challenge the harmful gender stereotypes and norms that keep girls out of school by placing less value on their education

ACCESS TO EDUCATION FOR CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES

In many low and middle income countries, a significant percentage of children are growing up with physical/motor impairments, sensory impairments, or cognitive/intellectual impairments. Figures on children with disabilities are uncertain, but between 10 and 20 percent of children in some high income countries have learning or developmental difficulties. Since low and middleincome countries have higher rates of risk factors that affect young children's development than high income countries, the proportion of children with developmental difficulties is almost certainly higher in these countries.39 There is also a clear link to poverty; children from poorer countries, and from the poorest income brackets within countries, are more likely to suffer developmental delays and disability, compared to their more privileged peers.⁴⁰ However, there is a serious lack of data on people with disabilities, which severely limits the ability of the international community to monitor their situation. For example, current data does not allow for in-depth understanding of the cross cutting disadvantages faced by girls and women with disabilities, and thus understand and respond to their educational progress and fulfil their rights.41

Inclusive education means that all students should be provided with meaningful learning opportunities within the regular school system. Ideally, it allows children with and without disabilities to attend the same classes at an appropriate level for their age, with additional, individually tailored support as and when needed. An inclusive approach has been endorsed at international level, including at the 1994 World Conference on Special Needs Education and through the Education for All initiative on the right to education for persons with disabilities.

Children with disabilities are less likely to start school and to transition to higher grades. Household survey data from fourteen low- and middle-income countries show that children with disabilities aged between 6 and 17 are significantly less likely to be enrolled in school than their peers who do not have disabilities. Yarious barriers prevent children with disabilities from realising their right to education. In many countries, stigma around disabilities – from the level of the family to society-wide – is a significant barrier. The whole family may face stigma, making the family reluctant to report that a child has a disability or to take the child out in public. Disabled girls are also less

likely than disabled boys to be in school, facing double discrimination on account of their disability and because of gender stereotypes⁴⁷.

Systemic and pedagogical barriers such as untrained teachers and inaccessible school infrastructure are also significant barriers to accessing education opportunity.⁴⁸ Teachers often lack the necessary training and support for teaching children with disabilities. A review of the situation of children with intellectual disabilities in 22 European countries highlighted the lack of training of teachers who work with children with disabilities as a major concern.⁴⁹ Most of the time, these students were taught by support staff rather than qualified teachers.⁵⁰

Facilities and learning materials (for instance, providing texts in braille) are also rarely adapted to meet the needs of children with disabilities. School infrastructure also often presents a physical and mobility barrier to children with disabilities. Lack of ramps or lifts in school with multi-level infrastructure, heavy doors and lack of accessible toilets are all barriers to children with disabilities attending school.

Access to early learning is especially limited for children with a disability, with pre-school attendance rates particularly low⁵¹. At the same time, early childhood is the most important period for brain development, for early identification of children at risk of disability, and for early intervention to minimize the impact of any impairment. When children with a disability or developmental delay can access early childhood education that is responsive to their individual needs, they will in turn have a better chance of reaching their full capacity⁵².

Children with disabilities are often educated in segregated schools, rather than in mainstream schools⁵³. Teachers across a number of countries have stated an unwillingness to support the inclusion of children with disabilities in their classes.⁵⁴

For children with disabilities, the associated costs of schooling can be far greater because they have additional or differing needs. Where inclusive schools are not available, the costs for families of sending children with disabilities to separate, special schools can also be prohibitively high.

Plan International's Position

 Plan International believes that mainstream education systems can and should be adapted to

- meet the needs of all learners, and should offer learning opportunities for every child. Not to do so is to ignore the potential of all children. Children with disabilities have an equal right to access an inclusive, quality education, and a right to the support and adaptations necessary to facilitate their learning.
- Child-friendly, inclusive education from early years onwards brings better social, academic, health and economic outcomes for all learners, and at less cost than special/segregated education. As such, Plan International believes that inclusive education should be a global priority, without which development goals cannot be met.

Plan International's Recommendations

- National governments should ensure that education infrastructure and transport is accessible to all children, as well as provide necessary aids, adaptations and individual support to enable all children with disabilities to attend regular school, taking into account the differing needs of children with disabilities. Plans must be put in place to ensure that school infrastructure both new and existing includes ramps and easy-open doors; safe, separate, lockable, and accessible toilets; and accessible handwashing facilities. Transport facilities should be safe and disability friendly.
- Girls and boys with disabilities should be included in early childhood care and development programmes to equip and facilitate their transition to primary school.
- Negative attitudes and stigma should be challenged at community level. Governments should support awareness campaigns at all levels, particularly with families, communities and in schools. These are vital to reducing stigma, and eliminating negative behaviours and discrimination against girls, boys and youth with disabilities.
- Plan International encourages the gradual and planned transformation of existing special education resources, both state-run and private resources, into valued resources that support the mainstream education system to enable the effective inclusion of children with disabilities in a coherent manner.

ACCESS TO EDUCATION FOR THE POOREST CHILDREN

Whilst there are numerous reasons why many children are denied their right to education, poverty is a clear underpinning and compounding factor. Across every disaggregated group, those from poorer households are less likely to access education than their richer peers. Poverty – both structural and individual - is one of the underpinning reasons why some children are not able to access their right to an education. Although international law obligates States to provide free, compulsory primary education for all children, and Agenda 2030 expands this to include pre-primary and secondary education as well, many children continue to face economic barriers to accessing the right to education. Conversely, education can be a powerful tool for breaking the cycle of poverty and giving children from poor backgrounds increased opportunities.

The impact of poverty on education begins early, because the poorest children in any country are the least likely to attend early childhood education programmes⁵⁵. Across all regions except South Asia, there are significant disparities in enrolment in pre-primary education between the poorest and wealthiest households: in each region, children in the richest households are at least twice as likely and in some regions three times as likely - to be enrolled in pre-primary school than children from the poorest households. In some countries there is a ten-fold difference in early childhood care and education attendance. Pre-primary programmes tend to be more heavily concentrated in urban areas. Rural areas often have a shortage of teachers due to challenges in recruiting and retaining personnel, particularly those who are qualified56.

Lack of development in the early years is a result of a combination of factors, such as household environment, poor quality care, mal or undernutrition, exposure to toxic stress and lack of opportunities for play and learning. This has an adverse effect throughout life and thus negatively impacts educational attainment, and this is one factor in the cyclical nature of poverty, because increased educational attainment correlates with increased income later in life. Even before reaching age 5, children from poor households are more likely than their more affluent peers to present developmental delays in literacy and numeracy⁵⁷. For instance, by the time they are at the preprimary level, one third of children in low- and

middle-income countries have failed by pre-primary level to develop a core set of age-appropriate skills that allow them to maintain attention, understand and follow simple directions, communicate and get along with others, control aggression, and solve progressively complex problems.⁵⁸.

Early childhood care and education services help build skills at a time when children's brains are developing, with long-term benefits for children from disadvantaged backgrounds. In many parts of the world, however, there is a wide gap in enrolment between the richest and poorest. Part of the reason is that governments have yet to assume sufficient responsibility for pre-primary education: as of 2011, private providers were catering for 33% of all enrolled children. The cost of private provision of early childhood care and education is one of the factors that contribute to inequity in access at this level" 59.

Poverty is also clearly linked to under- and malnourishment. Lack of nutrition in early childhood often has implications throughout the lifecycle, as malnourished children are more likely to miss school, fall sick and struggle to concentrate. Because of this, malnourished children are also more likely to drop out of school.⁶⁰ School-feeding programmes are rare in developing regions and many children are unable to bring food from home. Across the world, 66 million primary school-age children are estimated to be going hungry to school.⁶¹

In rural areas, children have less access to preprimary, primary, lower and upper secondary school. In developing countries, for every 100 children in urban areas who complete primary education, there are only 74 children in rural areas who do so. This decreases to 56 completing lower secondary level, and 39 completing upper secondary level⁶². This disparity is only partly due to insufficient availability, and increased distances to schools in rural areas. Lower population densities mean that schools are much more spread out than in urban areas to accommodate the same number of children. The challenge of getting to school therefore increases, with children having to walk increased distances to school, or take alternative forms of transportation. For some families, the increased cost of public transportation prevents them from being able to send their children to school.

For girls in particular, the barriers are greater due to increased concerns about their safety on the journey to school⁶³. Addressing safety concerns

around girls' journeys to and from school is crucial to addressing school attendance and dropout rates at all levels. For children with disabilities, the increased costs of specialised transportation to school can be prohibitively high. In some societies, such as in Pakistan, separate schools are required for girls and boys. The cost of building, staffing and maintaining gender-segregated schools places additional strain on education budgets in places where the funding is already inadequate. It will often mean that girls are hindered from accessing education because of a shortage of schools for girls, which may be located far away from their homes.

School fees at all levels can be prohibitively expensive, meaning parents have to make difficult decisions about whether or not to send their children to school - or which children to send. Furthermore, tuition fees only constitute one part of the total out-of-pocket costs of education, which also include books, transportation, examination fees, uniforms as well as the lost earnings from child labour. These costs can constitute between 3 and 30 percent of household income per child.64 Even where attending school is free, the hidden costs of education may outweigh the benefits for families of low or insecure income - particularly if the education on offer is of poor quality.65 'Opportunity costs' are a key driver of girls' being withdrawn or not enrolled in school.

When girls bear a disproportionate burden of household chores, child and family care, and homebased income generating activities, parents may perceive school as an unaffordable time commitment for their daughters. Again, evidence shows that when faced with this choice, parents will most frequently prioritise the education of their sons over daughters⁶⁶. Economic downturns have been shown to have a disproportionate impact on primary school completion rates for girls, which are estimated to decline by 29 percent – compared to 22 percent for boys.⁶⁷

An important share of primary school pupils who drop out are over-age by several years, either because they have entered school late or because they have had to repeat school grades.⁶⁸ In 20 of 23 countries with available data, children who dropped out of primary school were more likely to be significantly over-age for their level of education, often by three years or more.⁶⁹ At the same time, the opportunity cost of education increases with age as vulnerable, low-income families weigh the benefits of keeping older children in school against

the need for income. This often leads to children dropping out of school in order to work.⁷⁰

Both Brazil and Jamaica are examples of countries where boys in low income urban settings often drop out to work in semi-skilled jobs that do not require completion of secondary education.⁷¹ In Brazil, boys are even more likely than girls to drop out in upper secondary school. One of the reasons is that they do not view education as offering a guarantee of future employment.⁷² In these contexts, attitudes can be underpinned by a lack of educated male role models.⁷³

Removing the direct and indirect costs associated with education is the most effective way to reduce child labour. More flexible and responsive education systems and improved learning environments are needed to attract working children into the classroom and keep them there⁷⁴, as well as suitable role models, both male and female, to tackle negative norms around masculinity and femininity.

Wealth is still a cause of discrimination in education provision. Where policies do not address income inequality, the poorest children are missing out on their right to education. Although children from the poorest households are now more likely to enrol in school, they are still more likely than children from the richest quintile to drop out.⁷⁵

In some countries, such as Bangladesh and Pakistan, over 30 percent of primary school enrolment is in private schools. In Bangladesh at lower secondary level, 97.71 percent of children are enrolled in private education institutions⁷⁶. Globally, governments have yet to assume sufficient responsibility for pre-primary education: as of 2011, private providers were catering for 33% of all enrolled children⁷⁷. The cost of private provision of early childhood care and education is one of the factors that contribute to inequity in access at this level"78. Some parents may choose to send their children to private schools because they are, or are perceived to be, of better quality. However, where private provision is so widespread as to leave parents with no alternative than to enrol their children in a private education institution, the responsibility and impetus of the State to provide free, quality education for all children is diminished.

Targeted interventions, such as conditional or unconditional cash transfers, can be an effective means to ensure all children are able to access their right to education. Furthermore, targeting spending can improve access to education for the most excluded children. However, education budgets are often skewed towards privileged children and youth rather than the most vulnerable and excluded children and young people — including those living in poverty and remote locations. For example, in Malawi, where the level of public spending per primary school child is among the lowest in the world, 73 percent of spending on education benefit the 10 percent who are most educated.⁷⁹

Plan International's Position

- Plan International believes that no child should be denied the right to access an inclusive, quality education due to poverty, and recognises that poverty exacerbates the likelihood of exclusion for girls or children with disabilities. All actors – governments, intergovernmental organisations and civil society – have a responsibility to support those most in need to access and complete an inclusive, quality education.
- Plan International believes that pre-primary, primary and secondary education should be feeand cost-free. Targeted measures should be taken to ensure that children from the poorest backgrounds, and particularly girls, are supported to access their right to education.

Plan International's Recommendations

- National governments should take proactive measures to identify and address the direct and indirect costs of education. Pre-primary, primary and secondary education must be free for all students.
- Governments must ensure that domestic resources for education prioritize ensuring access to quality education for the poorest and most excluded children. Targeting spending to the poorest quintile and those living in remote locations will help ensure equal access to education for all.
- Governments should invest in targeted measures, such as bursaries, scholarships or cash transfers, to ensure that the associated costs of education – including but not limited to school uniforms and materials and the journey to school – do not prevent any children, and particularly girls, from being able to attend formal or non-formal education.
- Governments must ensure availability of affordable, quality early childhood care, and at least one year of free pre-primary education for all children.
- Governments should work to urgently eliminate the worst forms of child labour, and implement legislation specifying a minimum age for work

CASE STUDY: Apni Beti Apna Dhan Conditional Cash Transfers in India

The government of Haryana developed a conditional cash transfer (CCT) programme for girls whereby their parents were given 500 rupees when the girl was born, and a savings bond of 2500 rupees was purchased in her name. This was redeemable at a maturity of 25,000 rupees, only after the girl turned 18 years old, and only on the condition that she remained in school and unmarried.

The scheme was successful at keeping girls in school. Beneficiaries of the programme remained in school for longer than non-beneficiaries. Moreover, a higher proportion of beneficiaries than non-beneficiaries also achieved higher educational attainment.

However, there were limitations. The programme did not affect the probability of being ever-married or the probability of marriage before the age of 18. Beneficiaries were more likely to get married exactly at age 18. This is likely because many beneficiary families saw the cash as a way to help defray the cost of a wedding or to contribute to a dowry payment.

Girls who participated in the programme were more likely to be enrolled in 8th grade, but the programme did not have an effect on girls staying in school beyond this level to the12th grade or higher levels. The evaluation showed that as girls transitioned to secondary schools, which were further from their villages, requiring travel to attend them, there were additional financial and safety challenges for girls and their families. To protect girls from perceived sexual transgressions, parents often elected not to send their daughters to secondary school.

The study showed that CCTs can have some positive impact on education outcomes for girls, but that CCTs alone are not enough to keep girls in school. Where negative social norms such as child marriage are present, other, or additional solutions may be needed in order to tackle the root-causes of these issues.

(as per ILO standards outlined in Convention 138), and maximum number of daily hours for work, and focus efforts to progressively prevent underage children from working. Governments must offer protection and rehabilitation for children who are or have been engaged in child labour and ensure that they are able to enter or re-enter the formal education system.

ACCESS TO EDUCATION IN EMERGENCIES

The right to education is not suspended during emergencies. Education in emergencies (EiE) is a necessity, providing physical, psychosocial and cognitive protection which can be both lifesustaining and life-saving. It is increasingly recognised as a vital part of an emergency response. EiE ensures dignity and sustains life by offering structure, stability and hope for the future during a time of crisis, particularly for children and adolescents. Agenda 2030 applies to everyone, and education in emergencies is a key element in sustainable development and sustainable peace. It can ensure that the next generation is equipped with the skills and knowledge to be active citizens, find meaningful employment opportunities when they get older, and learn essential human rights based lessons on gender equality and nondiscrimination.

In spite of this, education is often one of the first activities to be abandoned when disasters occur. In protracted conflicts, destruction of school infrastructure, the use of schools for military purposes, or the deliberate targeting of schools, has the potential to deny education for several years - damaging infrastructure, and making schools unsafe spaces. Natural hazards, too, such as earthquakes and flooding, can destroy or render schools unsafe, and present additional hazards on the journey to and from school. Poorly constructed school facilities lead to loss of life and lifelong injury and disability for millions of children and school staff around the world.80 In the immediate aftermath of disasters, schools are also often used as shelters, rather than as learning centres. Localised hazards and daily risks are some of the main reasons children attend school, for example, issues related to road safety, water safety, and smallerscale flooding. Other emerging issues are pollution and haze which cause health issues such as asthma.

Conversely schools can provide physical protection from hostile surroundings, whether in displacement camps or informal settlements in rural or urban areas, and from violations such as violence, child labour, exploitation and recruitment into armed forces⁸¹. Protection is particularly critical for displaced girls and young women; emergencies can exacerbate gender inequalities and discrimination, and place girls at increased risk of gender-based and sexual violence and abuse⁸².

Conflicts have the potential to deny education for several years, leading to generations missing out on an education⁸³. Conflicts and other crises also interrupt economic activity and can drive families, communities, and countries deeper into poverty. For every three years of violence, GDP growth drops at least 2.7 percent, limiting opportunities for social and economic development⁸⁴.

Refugee children are five times more likely to be out of school than non-refugee children. Only 50 percent of refugee children have access to primary education, compared to a global average of over 90 percent⁸⁵. At secondary level the gaps become larger, suggesting that secondary schooling is less available for refugee adolescents, or that there are high drop-out rates. Only 22 percent of refugee adolescents attend lower secondary school, compared to 84 percent of non-refugee adolescents⁸⁶.

Providing refugee children with the opportunity to access and complete a quality education is especially urgent given that many may find themselves in a protracted state of displacement that may go on for years⁸⁷. In 2011, before the crisis in Syria had led to a surge in the number of new refugees, half of all refugees had been in exile for over 22 years⁸⁸. Only a small proportion of displaced persons achieve a durable solution, such as resettlement in a new country, each year⁸⁹, meaning the overall number will continue to increase.

Displaced girls face significant challenges in accessing their right to education. Data for refugees shows that in 2011, there were nine girls for every ten boys enrolled in schools at primary levels in both camp and urban settings⁹⁰, with the gender gap widening as children get older; in 2015, for every 10 refugee adolescent boys in secondary school, there were the equivalent of seven girls⁹¹. Girls and young women make up over 70 percent of the world's internally displaced people, and are also far more likely to be out of school than boys⁹². Child marriage and teenage pregnancy are significant barriers to refugee girls attending school.^[xiii] The gender gap in access to education serves to compound the disadvantage of girls in

displacement settings, and can heighten existing gender inequalities.[xiv]

A recent report on out-of-school children also notes that the fear and insecurity associated with armed conflict reduces the demand for education. [xv] Fear may also aggravate gender inequalities, leading to restrictions of girls' movements in particular. [xvi]

Schools are often in the firing line during armed conflict, with teachers and pupils often seen as legitimate targets for violence, rape and other sexual violence, as well as forced recruitment. A study by the Global Coalition to Protect Education from Attack documented thousands of assaults on students, teachers and institutions in 70 countries in a five-year period ending in 2013[xvii]. The incidents included bombings, kidnappings, illegal arrests, use of schools for military purposes, torture and killings of students and teachers [xviii].

Governments of 64 countries have signed the Safe Schools Declaration, committing them to implement the Guidelines for Protecting Schools and Universities from Military Use during Armed Conflict [xix]. However, these guidelines need to be implemented at the national level. Living in a country with an ongoing armed conflict increases the likelihood of dropout for children in school.[xxi] Furthermore, children who miss school as a result of armed violence tend not to return.[xxi]

Education is also essential in conflict prevention activities, through gender equality and human rights based curricula, as well as in building resilience for children and communities to better respond to shocks resulting from sudden onset disasters. Children, especially girls, do not always have access to life-saving skills that can protect them during a disaster. Cultural restrictions on young women's and girls' behaviour that affects what they are taught, for instance girls not learning or being taught to swim or climb trees, has been found to directly impact their likelihood of survival during a disaster. Resilience building activities provided through education can provide life-saving information to children prior to an emergency, which is particularly vital in contexts most at risk of facing sudden onset disasters in increasing frequency. Life-saving information, as well as details as to where to go in case of an emergency, can then be shared with families and communities, as children often bring this information home with them, building resilience for entire communities.

In addition to curricula based resilience building activities, the Comprehensive School Safety

Framework (CSSF), serves as a global framework that strives to reduce the impacts of disasters, primarily caused by natural hazards, on the education system, schools, staff and children. The CSSF was developed by a multi-stakeholder mechanism composed of UN agencies, international organisations, and global networks called the Global Alliance for Disaster Risk Reduction and Resilience in the Education Sector (GADRRRES). The aim of the CSSF is to promote a culture of safety through building the capacity of stakeholders to conduct comprehensive risk assessments and design interventions to reduce the risks identified. It is based around three pillars which are designed to build the resilience of the education sector to shocks and stresses as well as the resilience of children. The first pillar concentrates on safe school facilities including structural and non-structural interventions, the second on school disaster management and the third on disaster risk reduction (DRR) and climate change adaptation (CCA) in the curriculum. The CSSF is an effective tool in reducing some of the aforementioned impacts on education for example through developing plans to ensure educational continuity in emergencies, implementing inclusive disaster-resilient design and construction and practising disaster drills.

This resilience approach can support in bridging the gap between education initiatives and education in emergencies initiatives, leveraging the collective efforts of both development and humanitarian actors as it aims to reduce the impacts on education.

The Worldwide Initiative on Safe Schools (WISS) is a government-led global partnership that aims to promote the implementation of the CSSF globally through Safe School Leaders. Governments of 41 countries have currently signed up to the WISS committing to implement the CSSF and include it in education policies.

Plan International's Position

- Plan International believes that no child should be denied their right to education due to conflict and disaster. This fundamental right must be protected before, during and after an emergency, including for displaced children, refugees, asylum seekers and internally displaced persons, to ensure educational continuity.
- We believe that education in emergencies is crucial to maintaining a sense of normalcy in children's lives, to provide safe, supportive spaces for children, and for equipping children

- with the skills and knowledge they need to negotiate their present and future circumstances.
- We believe that education is a core humanitarian need. Education in emergencies interventions must be integrated into all stages of emergency planning and response: through contingency and disaster preparedness planning; early recovery immediately following an emergency; and long-term recovery.
- Interventions should ensure that children's immediate education needs are met, whilst also planning for longer term provision, eventually reinstating or strengthening national education services.
- Plan International recognises that education in emergency responses should target those disproportionally affected by emergencies, or at greater risk, in particular girls and children with disabilities.

Plan International's Recommendations

National education authorities should develop disaster risk reduction plans to safeguard children from the impacts of emergencies. Education in emergencies support should be available for all children from pre-primary to secondary levels. It should include early stimulation and learning through play for the youngest children, and primary and secondary

- education, and a range of flexible, accelerated and non-formal education to reach out-of-school children. Girls and other excluded groups must be considered in programme design to ensure that their specific needs are met
- States should fulfil their commitment in the New York declaration on Refugees and Migrants to provide quality primary and secondary education in safe learning environments for all refugee children, and to do so within a few months of the initial displacement. All refugee and asylum seeking children should be integrated into national education systems
- States should sign on to the Safe Schools
 Declaration, and take steps to implement the
 guidelines and protect schools as safe spaces
 during conflict and disaster. Learning
 environments should be child-friendly, safe,
 inclusive and gender responsive, and nonviolent, free from abuse and sexual violence.
- States should endorse the Comprehensive Safe Schools Framework and National and Local governments should implement the CSSF, incorporating a gender sensitive resilience approach into education sector policies, plans and budgets.

CASE STUDY: Safe Schools

Most of the schools in Plan International Sudan's Guli Programme Unit are frequently affected by heavy rain and flash floods, often damaging school infrastructure which consequently affects children's access to quality education. The Elhusai are one particular community subjected to seasonal disasters, which Plan International supports through a safe schools project. Over the course of a year, 20 children from different grades permanently dropped out of school, thought to be linked to the continual erosion of school facilities and resources. A lack of safe latrines during normal time and in disasters, causes many children, especially girls, to leave school early and return home.

In addition to poor school construction, there is a lack of awareness amongst teachers, parents and children about disasters and risk reduction. The community don't understand how to adapt the school calendar to reduce lost school days as a result of seasonal floods.

Accordingly, Plan International Sudan facilitated a participatory comprehensive risk assessment to identify risks and was supported in finding solutions to reduce the risks. The project used the Comprehensive School Safety Framework (CSSF) to ensure all aspects of schools safety were considered including safe school learning facilities, school disaster management and risk and resilience education. The approach build a culture of safety and contributed to building the resilience of children. In particular, 8 classrooms and 2 teacher's offices were retrofitted with support from the government and 4 latrines were constructed (2 for boys and 2 for girls), ensuring safe school building for 325 pupils. Additionally,18 members of the Parent and Teacher Association (PTA) were trained on how to prevent and reduce risks and find effective solutions. Importantly, school children received child-centered disaster risk reduction training including basic first aid, risk assessments, disaster drills and understanding of what causes disasters.

Barriers to accessing education in host countries for refugee children and adolescents as well as other non-citizens must be removed by governments, including by: creating inclusive and flexible registration and accreditation systems; ensuring that transport, fees and associated schooling costs do not serve as hinders; and ensuring that language, academic and protection support is readily available to students and parents

ACCESS TO NON-FORMAL EDUCATION

Non-formal education is a key inclusive education intervention. Non-formal education programmes can help to ensure that out-of-school children are able to access an education, and in some cases can be prepared for re-entry into the formal education system. This is a key intervention used by Plan International, working with education institutions, civil society and communities to support alternative non-formal education programmes for out of school children and youth, including re-entry into the formal system.

Non-formal education programmes do not necessarily follow the "ladder" system. They may have a differing duration and may or may not confer certification of the learning achieved. Non-formal education activities provide out-of-school children and youth access to structured learning, reinforce their self-esteem and help them find ways to contribute to their communities. In some cases, their activities may serve as a 'bridge' to help out-of-school children and youth improve their academic skills to the point where they can re-enter the formal school system⁹³.

Alternative education can also support out-of-school adolescent mothers. For example, non-formal second-chance programmes in Angola and Malawi have created opportunities for adolescent mothers to attend classes by allowing them to bring their children with them⁹⁴. In Jamaica, a government-funded programme provided continuing education to adolescent mothers who, until a change in legislation in 2013, were excluded from school when pregnant. The programme has been effective in reintegrating girls into formal education and reducing further pregnancies⁹⁵.

Unfortunately, little systematic assessment of nonformal education alternatives for out-of-school adolescents and youth has been carried out, either on immediate outcomes or long-term impact. However, it is important that non-formal education is not used as a crutch for lack of investment into formal education systems⁹⁶. The 2015 Global Monitoring Report cautions that NGO service provision may absolve governments of their responsibility to provide education, especially in the non-formal sector. ActionAid found that, over many years, government investment in education appeared to decline in geographical areas where it ran non-formal education centres. Moreover, governments were reluctant to take on the cost of running these NGO centres partly due to their lack of compliance with government regulations⁹⁷.

Plan International's Position

Plan International recognises that non-formal education is a key inclusive education intervention. Non-formal education programmes can help to ensure that out-of-school children are able to access an education, and in some cases can be prepared for re-entry into the formal education system.

OVERVIEW: QUALITY, EQUITY AND EQUALITY

Every child has a right to an education that empowers them by developing life skills, learning, critical thinking, socio-emotional and other capacities, self-esteem and self-confidence free from gender bias. Quality education is an increased focus of Agenda 2030, in recognition that focusing on increasing access to education alone will not in itself improve learning outcomes.

The provision of a quality education – from preprimary to secondary - demands attention to: the content of the curriculum (ensuring that it is comprehensive, relevant and inclusive); and the pedagogy employed (ensuring that this is ageappropriate (for instance play-based for younger children) and supports child-centred, rights-based learning, is gender-responsive, and includes effective assessment). A quality education complies with the aims and purposes of education as outlined in international human rights conventions⁹⁸.

Despite this global understanding of what a quality education entails, and the increased priority given to this aim in Agenda 2030, quality education remains a distant dream for far too many children. According to UNESCO, an estimated 250 million children either don't make it to grade 4 or reach grade 4 without basic skills in reading, writing and maths⁹⁹. It is fundamentally pointless to work towards ensuring every child is able to go to school if schools are not spaces in which they are able to learn and develop. Globally, we must all do better to ensure that we are equipping young people to

face the problems of the future, giving them the building blocks to be able to steer their own learning, and teaching them the values on which they can make informed, thoughtful decisions.

Education is a powerful thing, and it is fundamentally political. What we teach young people has the power to shape their futures, their societies and economies, their world, values and politics. Education has the potential to be extremely damaging – there are many examples of the negative impact that education can have on shaping world events and national futures. Yet education also has the capability of driving positive change. Young people must be taught the skills and the values to respond to the world's gravest problems, working towards making the world a better place for all. It is for this reason that Plan International believes the curriculum should include teaching on human rights, sustainability and equality, and that every child should have access to comprehensive sexuality education.

Quality education also requires an equitable approach to learning. Equity in education is the means to achieving equality, providing the best opportunities for all students to achieve their full potential and addressing instances of disadvantage which restrict educational achievement. Equity measures are not fair per se but rather are implemented to ensure fairness and equality of outcome. They may involve special treatment or additional actions taken to support learners and reverse the historical and social disadvantages that may prevent learners from benefiting from education on equal grounds¹⁰⁰. This approach ensures that disadvantaged groups such as girls or children with disabilities will receive additional support according to their needs, and will not continue to be hindered from achieving learning outcomes due to social disadvantages.

Education can have the power to challenge discriminatory social norms and gender inequality. Gender-sensitive curricula, along with gender-responsive classroom teaching and learning practices, can acknowledge and address issues of inclusion, promote gender equitable learning and help girls and boys challenge traditional gender stereotypes. In order for education systems to comprehensively address gender inequality, every aspect of education must be scrutinised to discover where the barriers might be to equal access, and positive learning outcomes.

Gender Reviews of Education Sector Plans (GRESPs)

Evidence shows that gender reviews of education sector plans and budgets are an effective girls' education intervention. Such reviews enable governments to effectively mainstream gender equality throughout every element of education systems, leading to improvements to access, retention and completion of primary and secondary school education for girls. GRESPs involve a comprehensive gender analysis of every element of a country's approach to education - including enrolment targets, curriculum, teacher recruitment and many other elements. UNGEI and GPE have created a gender review tool to support governments to undertake gender reviews of their education sector plans. Plan International has made a formal commitment to the Global Partnership for Education to support GRESPs in 10 countries by 2018 and has supported the first regional training for this GRESP tool in Tanzania.

Plan International's research has found that assessment systems, curricula materials, pedagogy, teaching and learning processes such as classroom and school management, language of instruction (and the spoken language of teachers and students) as well as teachers' expectations of students can all have an impact on children's ability to learn. These must be addressed in order to achieve positive learning outcomes, and gender equality in learning outcomes¹⁰¹.

Plan International's Position

- Plan International believes that a quality education is comprehensive, empowering, promotes respect for the dignity and value of all people, and provides a broad range of learning processes that include wider life skills and comprehensive sexuality education. Quality education should provide children and young people with the necessary skills and knowledge, attitudes and behaviours to lead positive and productive lives and to be responsible and active citizens.
- Plan International believes that quality education outcomes cannot be secondary to access to education. If children are unable to learn and develop whilst in school, then the education system has failed them.
- We believe that education can help to realise the potential in all children, tackling many of the inequalities and exclusionary practices societies perpetuate. We believe we have a collective responsibility to ensure education systems

achieve this, through quality curricula, teaching pedagogies and learning environments.

Plan International's Recommendations

- At all levels of education, national governments must take active steps to ensure that the content of education is relevant to children's lives, and equips them with the full range of knowledge, opportunities and life skills to cope in a rapidly changing world; that learning environments are safe, participatory and gender-sensitive; and that enough teachers are recruited and trained, in order to ensure that children are able to learn
- Governments should undertake a gender review of their education sector plans, budgets, curricula, enrolment targets and textbooks, along with teacher training and supervision, to ensure that the education system isn't structurally gender-discriminatory, schools are free of gender stereotypes and promote equality, nondiscrimination and human rights, and foster intercultural education. Sufficient budget must be allocated to allow action on any recommendations. Gender reviews of education sector plans should be supported by donors and civil society

QUALITY EARLY CHILDHOOD CARE AND PRE-PRIMARY PROVISION

Goal 4, Target 2 of Agenda 2030 commits governments to ensuring that all girls and boys have access to quality early childhood development, care and pre-primary education so that they are ready for primary education. Early childhood interventions are crucial if education is to fulfil its role as a catalyst for equity, as they can help mitigate the disadvantages faced by children born into poor and non-literate environments¹⁰².

Research shows that early childhood care and development programmes combining care, nutrition, protection and stimulation can improve brain development and strengthen children's ability to learn, develop psychological resilience and adapt to change. Language skills can be improved through conversation, repeating and connecting words in meaningful contexts, and early exposure to literacy through reading and play. Gender-aware early learning and education opportunities can also promote gender-equal socialization – with long term, positive implications for girls' self-esteem, expectations and development¹⁰³.

The provision of ECCD is also important for achieving Agenda 2030 target 5.4: recognize and value unpaid care and domestic work through the provision of public services, infrastructure and social protection policies and the promotion of shared responsibility within the household and the family as nationally appropriate. Unpaid care work, predominantly undertaken by women, remains largely un-recognised and under-valued in our communities, our workplaces and our economies. Unpaid care work can encumber women's economic security, through limiting their workforce participation, limiting the accumulation of their retirement incomes and savings, and affecting productivity, economic growth and poverty reduction. Accessible, affordable, flexible, quality early childhood education and care services are vital to ensure that parents, and in the vast majority of cases mothers, are able to go back to work if they choose to do so following parental leave. This is a step towards addressing the unpaid care economy, where women are the vast majority of unpaid carers.

Where ECCD programmes are targeted at children of young mothers, two vulnerable groups can be supported together. Such programmes can combine care for children with non-formal education opportunities for young mothers to develop their own skills and to continue their learning.

Where pre-primary services exist, the poor quality of these is often a serious issue, and a particular concern given that poor quality early childhood care and education can actually cause harm. Pre-primary facilities are often overcrowded, poorly resourced, unfriendly, and even unhealthy and unsafe¹⁰⁴. Curricula are often overly academic and inappropriate, rather than play-based. There is also frequently an absence of inclusive services that reach all children¹⁰⁵, including through:

- Early identification, referral and inclusion of children with developmental delays or disabilities
- Early childhood care and education services sensitive to the child's language, culture and religion – including mother tongue education
- Mobile preschools and home visits for children living in rural and remote locations
- Child friendly spaces in emergency situations or in areas of protracted crises

- Insufficient supervision and regulation, particularly for institutions in rural and remote areas
- Pupil-teacher ratios (PTRs) as high as 30:1. Large PTRs can often be due to a shortage of personnel, particularly in rural areas

There is insufficient attention paid to supporting young children to transition successfully into primary school¹⁰⁶. In many countries, the consequence of neither children nor schools being "ready" is that drop out and repetition rates in grade 1 are high: and higher than at any other time in primary school. Many of those who remain in school become established in persistent patterns of under-achievement and leave school unable to read fluently, calculate, or solve problems¹⁰⁷.

Given a lack of coordinated planning across the primary and pre-primary levels, many educational systems focus on readying children rather than ensuring that schools provide and support a smooth transition between the two levels. Primary schools often fail to provide an environment which enables all children to learn effectively. A number of factors impact primary schools' readiness for children from pre-primary stage, including:

- Early primary grade teacher capacity: early primary teachers tend to be viewed as less important than those teaching higher grades; many lack the training and access to materials to promote relevant play-based and childcentred educational approaches.
- Language barriers: failure to offer mother tongue education
- Class size and overcrowding: in some countries, meeting targets for free universal primary education has meant significant increase in classroom sizes, including in the early grades. Having large early grade classes interferes with the contact time teachers have with each child, the relationships they build with their students and their capacity to teach. Supporting the development of key skills that are critical for later learning and success is impossible with class sizes of 75–100+ children.

Plan International's Position

Plan international believes that pre-primary education is a vital component of quality education, ensuring children's brain development, strengthening their ability to learn, develop psychological resilience and to adapt to change, and readying children to enter primary school. This helps to mitigate disadvantages faced by children born into poor and non-literate environments.

- Plan International believes that ensuring every child has access to at least one year of free, quality pre-primary education should be a priority for national governments.
- We believe that early childhood care and preprimary education is of critical value for the socialisation of gender equality. It is during early childhood and in very first years of school that discriminatory social norms are formed. Preprimary education must be gender-sensitive and actively reject harmful gender stereotypes.
- Plan International believes that early childhood care provision is a vital intervention to reduce the burden and gendered distribution of unpaid care work, and provides essential support for young mothers in taking up educational or economic opportunities.

Plan International's Recommendations

- National governments should implement policies to ensure that early learning programmes are gender sensitive, and combine care, nutrition, protection and stimulation.
- Governments should support Early Childhood Care and Development (ECCD) so that young girls and boys can begin to get crucial services when there is a critical window of brain development and so that children of young mothers have a safe and protective environment to learn through play while the mother can focus on her own education. Pairing support for adolescent girls and ECCD provides a solution for two vulnerable groups of girls.
- Recognising the particular importance of the early years for gender socialization, governments must take adequate measures to ensure the provision of quality, gender-sensitive pre-primary education - including through reviews of curriculum and learning materials and teacher training.
- National and local governments should increase investments in school readiness interventions that support children's successful transition into primary school and in particular adaptation of the pedagogical approach in early grades so that it is active and play-based rather than more structured or formal.

QUALITY CURRICULA

Inclusive and Gender Responsive Curricula

The classroom can and should be a space free from discriminatory social norms, in which all children are included, and enabled to learn together. For children with disabilities, the curriculum, and how it is delivered, needs to be adapted to enable them to achieve learning outcomes, for instance by making learning materials available in accessible formats, like large print or Braille. Children with developmental/ cognitive disabilities may also need curricular modifications when appropriate/ necessary, so that they can still learn with their peers but complete tasks that are modified to accommodate their disability. A good example of this is in adapting sports and physical education for children with disabilities:

Programme Approach: TREE Model for inclusive sports education

- Teaching style: when explaining or coaching a sport, the teaching style may need to change in order to include children with disabilities. Using appropriate language, ensuring positioning for optimum hearing / visuals, or using a buddy system can all facilitate participation.
- 2. Rules: the rules of any given sport can be adapted to ensure children with disabilities can play. This may mean the ball is allowed to

- bounce twice; or every player has to touch the ball before a team can score; or increasing or decreasing the number of players per team.
- Environment: To include children with disabilities, the environment can be altered by reducing or increasing the size of the playing area; adjusting net heights and sizes; or playing on hard surfaces rather than grass or vice versa.
- Equipment: Equipment can also be adapted.
 This may mean playing with fluorescent balls, using lighter bats or racquets, or using a ball with a bell inside.

For too many students, learning materials are not available in their mother tongue, contributing to lower achievement levels and undermining equity. The language children are taught in often reflects broader societal inequalities or asymmetries in power. In some contexts the language of instruction doesn't align with the community's, the teacher's or the students' maternal language. When the student's maternal language is misaligned, there are often inadequate means, and lack of a clear pedagogic strategy to integrate children linguistically into the learning environment. No reliable data are available for access to Mother Tongue Education at the pre-school level. However, in developing countries an estimated 221 million children enter first grade unable to understand the formal language of instruction. Children who

CASE STUDY: Plan Project case study – children who learn in a language other than their mother tongue

Students in Chom Phou, a village in the Oudomxay Province of Laos, have grown up without early childhood development services and access to pre-primary education before they enrol in first grade. Day one of the school year is therefore likely to be the first time these native Khmu speakers have ever had to learn in Lao - the official language of instruction in the country.

The lack of language skills is a contributing factor to high rates of dropout and repetition in the early years of primary school in rural communities.

The Lao Educational Access, Research and Networking (LEARN) Project is helping new learners overcome these challenges through its Lao language transition course. Taught for the first four weeks of the school year in September, the course aims to build children's Lao language skills in a child-centred, interactive and gender-inclusive environment and lay the foundation for better learning in early primary school.

The teacher, who himself grew up in Chom Phou, knows first-hand how challenging it can be to learn in an unfamiliar language: "Last week, I had to explain in Khmu when children didn't grasp what I was saying in Lao. After two weeks of teaching the short course I can already see improvements in their Lao language skills."

A father to one of the young girls who is enrolled in the language transition course, says: "Parents around here don't have a high level of education. I went to junior secondary school but my wife only completed grade 2 of primary school. We want our daughter to be more educated than we are and to find a job in the government."

receive schooling in their mother tongue language in early grades have better learning outcomes overall and, in particular, significantly better literacy levels, but in spite of evidence of the value and benefits of early education in mother tongue, few countries invest in this¹⁰⁸.

Mother tongue education is also vital for increasing parent participation in, and support for, their children's early education. Improved communication between parents and pre-primary teachers means that parents are better able to participate in school activities and decision-making and in their children's learning, including in the home.

Frequently, children do not have equal access to opportunities in school, meaning that certain students are disadvantaged. In many schools, girls do not have the same access to sports that boys do. In Saudi Arabian public schools, girls are not allowed to play sports at all, despite increased demand for this from girls themselves 109. In other country contexts, girls have access to different sports – for instance in the UK the national curriculum does not outline which sports girls and boys should play, but girls have reported being discouraged from playing football by teachers because it is perceived to be a boys' sport¹¹⁰. More frequently in the UK, girls play sports that are not professionalised (for instance rounders) which may devalue the meaning of sport in girls' eyes. This may correlate to lower participation levels in sport for women than men in the UK111.

The limited official data available suggests that too little is being done within public pre-school programmes to challenge – rather than reinforce – the way children are taught unjust gendered norms and attitudes from the earliest age. This is of critical importance recognizing that children are "socialized into' and begin to learn and internalize gendered norms and expectations about their behaviours, potential and future role in early childhood¹¹².

A review of education policy in 40 developing countries indicated that policies to integrate gender training into teacher education *at any level* remained scarce. Even in developing countries where such strategies exist (Malawi, Nigeria, Rwanda, Sri Lanka, Zambia, Bangladesh, Kenya) inadequate resources, and poor implementation, supervision and evaluation have frequently limited their effectiveness. Likewise progress with developing and implementing gender sensitive curricula – even at the primary and secondary

levels – has been limited.¹¹³ As a result, in many countries education reproduces gender inequalities through biased curriculum material and pedagogical practices, teacher attitudes and behaviours, discipline, and the threat or presence of violence.^{114,115,116}

Where schools reinforce negative gender stereotypes, inequality and discrimination, girls are often discouraged from attending¹¹⁷. Education can have the power to challenge discriminatory social norms in societies where girls are not ascribed the same value as boys. The curriculum and learning materials - right from pre-primary - should combat gender stereotypes that ascribe nurturing, care roles for women, and science, technology, "provider/protector" roles for men. However, in some countries, curricula hinder gender-equitable learning, reinforcing traditional gender stereotypes by representing girls and women in lower status (for instance caregivers) or subservient roles and teaching girls attitudes and expectations for their behaviours and future role that are limiting. In the Punjab region of Pakistan, English textbooks were found to barely represent girls and women, and where they were represented this was in a discriminatory fashion¹¹⁸. Where girls and minority groups are included in learning materials in ways that challenge stereotyped expectations about behaviours and roles, learners are provided with an increased range of role models that inspire them to learn.

"Women's achievements should be showcased to both young women and young men. The curriculum should also focus on more women in history, literature, art and science. Far too many courses exist without a female name being mentioned." Young woman, Australia

Gender-sensitive curricula, along with gender-responsive classroom teaching and learning practices, instead acknowledge and address issues of inclusion, promote gender equitable learning and help girls and boys challenge traditional gender stereotypes, and make freer decisions about what they want to do and who they want to be. In Mumbai, the Gender Equity Movement in Schools project developed an add-on curriculum including content on gender roles, violence, and sexual and reproductive health for standard 6 and 7 children. This led to improved problem-solving skills, increased self-confidence and gender awareness, and more positive attitudes amongst participants¹¹⁹.

Importance of Comprehensive Sexuality Education

The provision of comprehensive sexuality education for both boys and girls is key to promoting an understanding and awareness of sexual and reproductive health and rights and to developing the skills, knowledge, autonomy, confidence and ability to make free and informed decisions about their sexual and reproductive lives, to enjoy fulfilling and healthy relationships and to protect themselves and their partners against ill-health, violence and unwanted pregnancy. Evidence demonstrates that CSE programmes, if delivered correctly, have a positive impact on behaviour, including increased self-efficacy related to condom use and refusing sex.¹²⁰.

Access to comprehensive sexuality education is grounded in human rights - intersecting with the rights to education, health, participation and protection. 121 CSE has the ability to not only empower children, adolescents and young people to make informed, autonomous decisions regarding their sexual and reproductive health and rights, and current and future relationships 122 but can also be part of a holistic approach to challenging gender inequalities and preventing and responding to gender-based violence. 123 As such, it is a powerful tool in the realisation of sexual and reproductive health and rights, and can trigger positive shifts in social norms which underpin violence against girls and women such as harmful notions of masculinity, gender roles and stereotypes both in school and the wider community. 124

There is increased political commitment to the delivery of CSE across the world, with the African Union, East and Southern Africa, and Ministers for Health and Education from Latin America and the Caribbean all signing declarations of commitment to the implementation of CSE. However, CSE is absent from Agenda 2030, and there is strong resistance from some countries to including CSE as part of a national curriculum. At the national level implementation is slow, and few countries have a mandatory, comprehensive sexuality education curriculum in place¹²⁵.

Access to CSE becomes even more important during emergency situations. It is essential that in the aftermath of a disaster, during a protracted crisis, and even during a conflict, education has child-friendly, gender sensitive mechanisms in place to prevent and respond to gender based violence. CSE can teach young people about their sexual health, and where to access sexual and

reproductive health and support services. More broadly, gender-sensitive schools and safe education spaces can offer increased protection from exploitation and harm in an emergency, especially for girls, who are often at greater risk of gender-based violence – including rape, sexual exploitation or abuse, prostitution and transactional sex, and trafficking¹²⁶.

Where humanitarian programmes are delivering education for children affected by conflict, these must be gender-sensitive. The Inter-Agency Standing Committee (IASC) has developed the Gender Marker, a tool that codes, on a 0-2 scale, whether or not a humanitarian project is designed well enough to ensure that women/girls and men/boys will benefit equally from it or that it will advance gender equality in another way.

Relevant and Comprehensive

Quality curricula are essential to ensuring that whilst in school children are learning a comprehensive set of basic skills, competencies and knowledge that are relevant to their lives, and which allow them to actively participate in society, to become economically independent and to make decisions about their futures. National curricula provide a level of standardisation of education content, ensuring children are learning core skills and competencies, and providing a national comparator for educational attainment.

Whilst there is no model curriculum that is relevant in all contexts - in fact, adapting education curricula to the local context is important – it is important that learning is not limited to achieving literacy and numeracy, and that all children have equal opportunities to learn a broader range of life skills and knowledge. Goal 4, target 7 of Agenda 2030 commits governments to ensuring that "all learners acquire the knowledge and skills needed to promote sustainable development, including, among others, through education for sustainable development and sustainable lifestyles, human rights, gender equality, promotion of a culture of peace and non-violence, global citizenship and appreciation of cultural diversity and of culture's contribution to sustainable development".

Education can reinforce or challenge negative stereotypes, equipping people with knowledge, skills and essential life skills. A quality curriculum should allow children to develop their psychosocial competencies and interpersonal skills, so that they can build healthy relationships, empathize with others, make informed decisions, solve problems, think critically and creatively, communicate

effectively, and manage the demands and challenges of their lives in a healthy and productive manner¹²⁷. A quality curriculum should also provide children with knowledge and skills which are relevant for their lives and equip them to navigate and positively influence their societies, cultures and economies. A quality curriculum can also equip children and young people to tackle the world's biggest challenges such as gender inequality, climate change, conflict and violence, and thus it is vital that sustainability, peace and non-violence are prioritised in all national curricula.

The consequences of curricula that do not seem relevant to children's lives can be far-reaching. Many children drop out of education in order to participate in the labour market - undertaking paid employment. This is due to both need, and due to a sense that education is not teaching them skills for better work. Many girls drop out of school due to early pregnancy or child marriage. This is because education is not teaching girls - and boys - that women can actively participate in the labour market, and have opportunities outside the home and unpaid household or care work. Education is frequently also not teaching girls and boys about their sexual and reproductive health and rights through comprehensive sexuality education (CSE). Education that does not equip young people to deal with the realities of their lives can lead to a lack of skills and confidence, limited access to decent work, and lack of or no access to leadership roles.

BOX: Education, jobs and gender

A quality education should equip children with the skills and abilities to reach their full potential and maximise their chances of finding decent work. For girls in particular, education can open doors through increasing their mobility and confidence, and also improve health outcomes, especially relating to sexual and reproductive health and rights. This contributes to preventing the transmission of poverty from one generation to the next and to overall economic growth and prosperity.

However, girls and young women face numerous barriers to completing school and accessing relevant training, which prevents them from acquiring the necessary knowledge and skills to transition into decent work or to start a business.

For example, the hidden burden of unpaid care and domestic work continues to disproportionately affect girls and women. More than two thirds of all child domestic workers are girls¹²⁸ and across the globe, women spend on average three times as much time as men undertaking unpaid care and domestic

work.¹²⁹ In some countries, women spend nearly ten times as many hours as men undertaking unpaid work.¹³⁰ Physically demanding and time-consuming tasks, such as collection of water or firewood, are also primarily performed by girls and women, limiting the time they have left for educational opportunities and paid work.¹³¹¹³²

Structural barriers, including discriminatory legal frameworks, also continue to hinder girls and young from getting a job or starting an enterprise. In fact, 90 percent of countries examined by the World Bank have at least one law that restricts economic equality for girls and women, 133 who as a result may be unable to conduct official transactions, own, inherit, or use property, or get a job. 134 In 18 countries, women still require their husband's consent to work. 135 Restrictions to their mobility as a result of gendered cultural norms, safety or the lack of appropriate public transport, as well as gender stereotypes regarding appropriate and acceptable forms of work for girls and women, also act as significant barriers.

Education policies should also take into consideration the fact that self-employment may be the only option available for youth with or without an educational qualification. Attention should therefore be paid to promoting youth entrepreneurship as well as providing opportunities for continued education and training for workers; such opportunities are still limited in many countries ¹³⁶.

Where girls and women do work, their jobs are likely to be vulnerable, informal and unprotected. They may be underpaid, or not paid at all. The gender pay gap is estimated to take over a century to close at the current rate¹³⁷ and 43 percent of the youth labour force is either unemployed or working, yet living in poverty.¹³⁸

A lack of safe and adequate employment opportunities for girls may influence parents' decision to arrange a marriage for their daughter rather than let her continue her education. In low-income countries, poor education systems, inadequate opportunities for decent employment and qualification mismatch reinforce each other. This is illustrated by the fact that 42 percent of young women are not active in education, training or employment in sub-Saharan Africa.

Still, access to education does increase chances of employment and the potential for future earnings – for each year that a girl stays in school her future income increases by 10 to 20 percent.¹⁴¹ This has a large-scale impact – if gender gaps in the labour

markets were completely closed, as much as US \$28 trillion, or 26 percent, could be added to global annual GDP by 2025.¹⁴² This is equivalent to the combined economies of the US and China today.¹⁴³

Plan International's Recommendations

- Governments should engage with private sector employers to improve national systems for workforce development, including through the development of appropriate curricula for training and skills certification, mentorship schemes, work placements and the creation of decent jobs¹⁴⁴ in a safe work environment where rights are protected.
- Governments must set specific targets on gender equality and empowerment of girls and women that includes access to education, vocational training and decent employment, acknowledgement of unpaid care work carried out by women and access and control of economic and productive resources (including property ownership and inheritance rights).
- Where necessary, legislation, policies and structures should be reformed to eliminate discrimination and harassment in the workplace, ensure equal pay for equal work and ensure that women can access financial services, including credit, loans and bank accounts, on equal terms.
- Governments should invest in policies and social protection systems to create an enabling environment for young women to enter and thrive in the formal labour market, such as parental leave, affordable and accessible child care, flexible work hours and social security.
- Girls and women must be able to acquire life and work skills as required for success and access to vocational and technical training schemes that are demand- and competency-based; are accountable to girls and women; and do not perpetuate gender-segregated occupational roles.

"Many friends of mine were captains of sport teams. My friends inspired me to be active and take leadership in activities. Thanks to them, I didn't fear to do so." Girl, Japan

Curricula must be broad-based, to give children and young people the best chance to make free, informed choices about what they want to study and to develop a full and varied range of knowledge and skills. Along with a core set of content that

should as a minimum include literacy and numeracy, citizenship, human rights education and CSE, students should have opportunity to study subjects that develop other skill sets. These should include creativity, cultural awareness, socioemotional skills, problem-solving, spatial-awareness, social critical-thinking and political awareness.

Adapting curricula to local contexts can also contribute to young people's ability to negotiate their own cultures, societies and economies. Disaster risk reduction education can be critical to improve safety and resilience in the event of natural or man-made hazards. For example, children educated on what to do in the event of an earthquake are likely to make better choices about where to seek protection and what essential items to keep nearby, and will thus be more likely to survive in the event of an earthquake occurring.

Education can support resilience to future crises by educating children about disaster risk reduction and it can keep children safe by teaching them about preventable diseases, nutrition, hygiene and lifesaving topics (such as mine awareness). It also provides a safe space to discuss peace, tolerance, conflict resolution, democracy, human rights and environmental conservation.

Programme Example: Safe Schools

Plan International's comprehensive school safety approach ensures measures are in place to protect school infrastructure, students and education workers throughout the disaster cycle. It encourages schools to establish school disaster management committees that develop Education in Emergencies (EiE) and disaster risk reduction (DRR) plans, conduct regular evacuation drills and include DRR, climate change adaptation (CCA) and conflict issues into formal and non-formal curricula. These provisions raise children's awareness of emergencies and allow the school to prepare in case the school is closed or used as an evacuation centre to ensure educational continuity. It is vital that if the school is regularly used as an evacuation centre that plans are also in place to protect girls from violence by providing them with safe spaces and facilities. The EiE plans also include alternative methods of delivery during an emergency so that students are able to fulfil their right to continued education in spite of an emergency. Furthermore, safe schools projects also train teachers in psychosocial support, allowing them to support children both in emergency settings and in the aftermath of an emergency.

Education and New Technologies

Curricula need to adapt to keep pace with a rapidly changing world, with new technologies, the challenges raised by climate change, and an increasingly digitalised global economy. As the report of the Education Financing Commission outlines, 'up to half of the world's jobs-around 2 billion—are at high risk of disappearing due to automation in the coming decades. In contrast to the impact of innovation in previous generations, new technologies risk not creating new jobs at anything like the scale they are eradicating them. Due to shifts between industries and the changing nature of work within industries, demand for high-level skills will grow, and many low- and medium-skilled jobs will become obsolete. Jobs open to those without high-level skills will often be insecure and poorly paid'145. Acquiring technical ICT skills and learning to use ICT responsibly is also vital in a knowledge based economy where in the medium to long term technology will become inherent to most professional activities.

Education is woefully behind the curve when it comes to keeping pace with new technologies, and equipping young people with the skills for a digitalised economy. Many schools around the world lack electricity. In Liberia, for example, only 6 percent of schools have electricity. Not only does this restrict learning opportunities to daylight hours, it also renders the use of computers/IT impossible.

If information technology is well-tailored to local contexts and integrated into the curriculum, it can provide additional, powerful resources for teacher development and student learning. While digital technology cannot replace well trained, qualified teachers, it can certainly extend and deepen students' learning, and change education practices in the classroom. To facilitate this, it is crucial to train teachers to be able to integrate ICT in their teaching.

ICT can also be useful to facilitate long distance training such as in Plan International's YES!

Academy. The YES! Digital Ecosystem is an innovative tool designed to allow youth to follow courses online to develop their skills and their employability. It provides courses which have been developed by experts who understand the country, the market, the opportunities, what works and what doesn't, so young people can learn what, when, and where they want. Programmes such as this can do much to bridge the gaps in education systems, and facilitate lifelong learning for all.

Plan International's Position

- Plan International believes that education must promote a culture of peace, dignity, equality and sustainability, and enable learners to engage with and address the issues relevant to their lives. The school curriculum should actively combat discrimination or prejudice on the basis of sex, gender, caste, language, age, religion, sexual orientation, ethnicity or culture.
- Plan International believes that all children, adolescents and young people without discrimination are entitled to comprehensive sexuality education to gain knowledge, explore values and attitudes, and develop the skills they need to make conscious, healthy and respectful choices about relationships and sexuality.

 Parents and educators should be supported to embrace children's learning from early childhood to allow them to explore, clarify and form lifelong healthy attitudes and practices, free from coercion, violence and discrimination.
- Comprehensive sexuality education should be accessible for all children, adolescents and young people, in both formal and non-formal educational settings. Co-curricular activities which complement the formal curriculum are also important as are parental and community involvement and links to gender-responsive, child- adolescent- and youth-friendly healthcare and other services. It should be provided in a way that is non-judgemental, non-discriminatory, scientifically accurate, accessible, inclusive, rights-based, gender-transformative and adapted to the evolving capacity of the child, adolescent or young person.
- Quality education provision in emergencies both formal and non-formal – must adhere to the minimum standards developed by the Inter-Agency Network for Education in Emergencies. It must: be delivered by trained professionals; promote gender equality and inclusion; recognise and respond to the diverse cultural/ethnic backgrounds of children; and include modules on human rights, conflict resolution, life skills, comprehensive sexuality education, and disaster risk reduction.
- We believe that a quality education should equip children with the skills and abilities to reach their full potential and maximise their chances of finding decent work. Education should be clearly linked to future opportunity, and should enable

- all learners to acquire the skills to succeed in employment or entrepreneurship.
- We believe that information technology must be built into education systems, to ensure that the digital revolution does not intensify inequalities and exclusion.

Plan International's Recommendations

- National governments must ensure that learning outcomes for girls and boys framed in the national curriculum include a broad and comprehensive range of learning competencies, are culturally sensitive, reflect local and national learning priorities, are designed and adapted in a way that does not disproportionally affect vulnerable groups, and include the skills that enable children to adapt to a rapidly changing world
- National governments should ensure that learning materials are non-discriminatory, gender sensitive, inclusive and representative of all children. Learning materials must be adapted to support the learning needs of all children – and specialised materials must be provided where necessary
- National governments should ensure that the curriculum incorporates education outcomes on human rights and active citizenship, gender equality, sustainability, disaster risk reduction, climate change adaptation and non-violence
- National governments should provide all children from ethno-linguistic minorities access to quality, culturally relevant mother tongue education - from early childhood care and education to the early grades of primary recognising its vital importance to literacy outcomes and also to development of a child's cultural identity, sense of self and selfconfidence
- Quality teaching and learning in an emergency context is paramount: learning should be participatory and classroom management should be child-friendly, gender-sensitive and nonviolent. The curriculum, teaching methods and learning materials should not re-enforce gender stereotypes and should be relevant to the needs and aspirations of all girls
- National governments should connect every classroom to the Internet and work closely with donor governments and the private sector to overcome technical and infrastructure barriers to enabling broadband access. Resources and training should be available for teachers and

students to develop digital literacy skills and to ensure all technology is used effectively and equitably to aid learning and to bridge the gender digital divide¹⁴⁶.

TEACHERS: NUMBERS, QUALIFICATIONS, SKILLS AND SUPPORT

Goal 4, target C of Agenda 2030 commits governments to substantially increasing the supply of qualified teachers, including through international cooperation for teacher training in developing countries, especially least developed countries and small island developing states. In almost half the countries in the world there is an acute shortage of qualified teachers¹⁴⁷. As a result of the struggle to recruit more teachers, quality is being sacrificed, with some countries recruiting untrained or volunteer teachers. With Agenda 2030 committing governments to achieving universal secondary schooling and one year pre-primary by 2030 the strain is even greater.

Goal 4, target 6 of Agenda 2030 commits governments to ensuring that all youth and a substantial proportion of adults, both men and women, achieve literacy and numeracy. This joins target 1 on relevant and effective learning outcomes, and target 2 on primary school readiness, to commit governments to delivering clear learning outcomes through education provision. For the millions of children who are able to attend school, they must be enabled to learn whilst there. Studies have shown that teachers are the most crucial factor for learning outcomes – for instance improving the quality of teaching has a greater impact on education outcomes than reducing class sizes¹⁴⁸.

There are about 30 million primary school teachers and 32 million secondary school teachers working in classrooms around the world. To provide universal primary and secondary education by 2030, 68.8 million teachers will need to enter the workforce. Of these, 48.6 million will replace teachers leaving the workforce, while 20.1 million additional teachers are needed to expand access to school for growing school-age populations with no more than 40 students in a class at primary level, and no more than 25 students per class at secondary level¹⁴⁹.

In countries with data on student-teacher ratios and teacher qualification, it is at pre-primary level – ironically, the stage with the most children and the greatest needs – that we see the largest classes

and the least qualified teachers, who are thus less well prepared to support child-centred learning and play-based pedagogy¹⁵⁰. Levels of qualification, support, supervision and remuneration are worse than at any other stage of education, and low status and the perception that the role is one of care provision rather than education is compounded by gender norms¹⁵¹. The lower requirements in terms of qualifications, low pay and status, poor incentives, and limited career opportunities of early childhood workers undermine the possibility of recruiting and retaining high-calibre staff, which are essential to supporting children to develop to their full potential.¹⁵²

Lack of value placed on teaching as a profession, in addition to low pay and high demands from the job, are all reasons why not enough people choose to enter the profession, and in some contexts high numbers of newly qualified teachers leave the profession. In Africa, attrition rates range from 3% in Mali, to 17% in Angola¹⁵³. In the UK, 30% of teachers leave the profession within 5 years of qualifying¹⁵⁴. Low pay and teacher shortage can lead to teachers working in more than one school, and shift teaching, whereby education is delivered in two or even three slots within a day. This leads to teachers working long hours in order to make a decent living, and having less or no time to dedicate to reviewing students' work or planning lessons. Double shifting has been introduced in developing country contexts such as Rwanda, and also in humanitarian contexts, such as in Jordan, in order to increase access to education for children in refugee camps¹⁵⁵. In addition, teachers working under such conditions are much more likely to be absent from the classroom; to accept bribes from parents; and to be unprepared for classes.

In multilingual countries with many local languages, teachers themselves may not speak the local language which children learn at home, or they may not be fully proficient in the language of instruction. Teachers should be equipped for teaching across a multi-lingual curriculum, so as to ensure that children are not disadvantaged by being unable to learn in their mother tongue. In some cases, this will involve ensuring sufficient placements of teachers who speak local languages, through working with teacher organisations to develop appropriate recruitment and retention schemes. In other cases, it will involve better training, development and support.

Ensuring teachers have the right skills and approaches for effective learning

The skills required to be an effective teacher are multiple and diverse: teachers need to be able to support the individual learning needs of all the children in their class; identify children at risk of delay or disability that need additional support. They must not only have knowledge of their subjects, but be able to help students to learn, build skills and understand the subject matter through age appropriate pedagogical approaches; they must also be able to teach a diverse range of students with different needs and from different backgrounds using culturally sensitive methods. Teachers also need the skills for large class management, recognition of unique needs of boys, girls and children with disabilities, and techniques for child-centred learning and positive discipline. These skills enable teachers to maximise learning opportunities for all students, no matter how disadvantaged their background¹⁵⁶.

The 2013 Education For All Global Monitoring Report calls for teaching practices to be updated, moving away from traditional methods such as lecturing and rote-learning, to focus on building character and critical thinking and moving towards learner-centred pedagogies which emphasise awareness of each child's abilities and phase of development¹⁵⁷. There is evidence that these new methodologies are more effective for teaching all children, and particularly girls and children from marginalised groups¹⁵⁸.

For children with disabilities learning outcomes are lower due to a range of barriers to their learning such as lack of physically accessible education. In addition they are often not provided with the particular assistance they need to ensure the curriculum is accessible to them - such as interpretation, sign-language, or braille. Teachers are often not trained with the pedagogic skills to make even the slightest modifications to student needs. Hence the need for child-centred learning which implies the need to train teachers about different types of learning and the necessary accommodations to optimize student learning. For many disabled children worldwide, schooling rarely continues beyond primary level¹⁵⁹: Teachers trained to be better able to support learners will lead to more children with disabilities achieving learning outcomes, completing primary education, and being able to transition to secondary level.

Gender responsive teaching pedagogies

Female teachers are crucial in order to attract girls to school - countries with more female primary teachers are more likely to have higher enrolment rates for girls in secondary schools¹⁶⁰. Studies show that women teachers can be role models for girls and can also make schools safer for them¹⁶¹. But, female teachers often avoid rural or disadvantaged areas for the same reasons that cause girls to be out of school: safety concerns, lack of electricity, good housing and healthcare 162, which compounds the barriers that girls face in accessing a quality education in the most disadvantaged areas. A key reason for the shortage in female teachers in some areas of the world is gender disparity in schools: there are fewer female qualified candidates – and this is exacerbated as the grades increase and expectations regarding qualifications increase, leading to more female teachers at pre-primary level and far fewer at secondary level. Retaining more girls in education can help to change this trend over time. Other actions that can be taken to recruit female teachers in more rural or disadvantaged areas include providing safe housing, increased pay or subsidised transportation¹⁶³. Incentive schemes may also work, such as ensuring that time spent teaching in rural or more disadvantaged areas contributes towards promotion.

"One of my teachers is a role model for me. She is a very dignified lady in her manners and understands us students, unlike the other teachers. She is not only a teacher with respect to her subject, she also tells us a great deal about life in general, and believes in us and motivates us." Girl, Pakistan

Globally, the numbers show that there are high levels of female teaching staff, with 94 percent of pre-primary teachers being female, compared with 64 percent in primary, 56 percent in lower secondary and 50 percent in upper secondary. However, numbers are unevenly distributed and in some countries the number of female teachers is low for primary and secondary education. At the upper secondary level, the female share in teaching staff ranges from a high of 83 percent in Myanmar to a low of 4 percent in Liberia. The evidence shows that as well as the proportion of female teachers decreasing as education levels rise, this pattern continues into school management, where proportionately fewer women than men rise to school leadership positions, even in countries with high levels of gender equality, such as Finland¹⁶⁴.

Lack of female teachers in leadership roles, or teaching at higher levels, or teaching science, technology, engineering and mathematics, can teach young people that men are more suited to occupying positions of power, or to engage in certain subjects, or that women are more suited to positions that involve care and nurturing¹⁶⁵. Conversely, at the pre-primary level there is a need for more male teachers, so that children are exposed to a diversity of adults and can see that men are equally able to be nurturing and caring.

"I would be really inspired if there were women occupying good positions in my school, not just being secretaries and art teachers. Throughout my education, I have had to struggle and fight my way to where I am now, without role models to look up to – except my mother." Young woman, Uganda

Recruiting more female teachers alone will not solve the problem: all teachers must be trained to use gender responsive pedagogy in the classroom. Gender responsive pedagogy refers to teaching and learning processes that pay attention to the specific learning needs of girls and boys, taking an all-encompassing gender approach in the processes of lesson planning, teaching, classroom management and performance evaluation. Gender responsive pedagogy is about responding to the needs of all students, and acknowledging that they come to the classroom already subject to social norms that ascribe different roles to girls and boys, and already socialised to behave in certain ways. Studies show, for example, that where girls are socialised into being submissive - not speaking up or questioning authority - the typical classroom arrangement of rows of desks facing the front of the room reinforces this gender dynamic. Girls are less likely to participate. This can be tackled through breaking the class up into smaller groups 166.

Plan International's Position

- Teachers are the primary factor contributing to a quality, equitable and inclusive education. Teachers are an important, highly skilled resource, and as such deserve respect and support. In order for teachers to be able to do their job, and to ensure their regular attendance, national governments should commit to fairly remunerating teachers for their work.
- Plan International believes that female teachers and managers at all levels of education are vital to facilitating the learning of all children, and particularly girls, and to combatting negative stereotypes about gender roles. Female teachers should be encouraged into the profession,

enabled to progress in their careers, and to take on leadership positions.

Teaching pedagogies must ensure that all children are supported to achieve learning outcomes and progress in a wide range of subjects, irrespective of gender or disability.

Plan International's Recommendations

- ➤ National governments should prioritise the recruitment, training and retention of a sufficient number of adequately qualified teachers and teaching assistants at all levels including through the definition of competencies frameworks, strengthened pre- and in-service training and more adequate pay/work conditions.
- National governments should target recruitment where there are specific shortages: this may mean recruiting more female teachers, more teachers to early childhood education, and more teachers able to speak local languages. Or adopting policies to attract teachers to the areas where there is most need.
- National governments should develop policies to enable female teachers to progress in their careers, into senior positions, including management positions, leadership positions and decision-making roles within local and national government.
- ➤ Teachers working at all levels of education provision should be provided with comprehensive initial training including in gender-sensitive, inclusive and learner-centred pedagogies and subsequent opportunities for periodic professional development, collaborative learning and participating in communities of practices.
- Teachers must also be trained in some of the basic skills to identify students with a disability or at risk of developmental delay, and teaching assistants should be available to provide one-onone support.
- Teachers must have good working conditions, be remunerated fairly, and have their own rights respected. They should be provided with the appropriate levels of administrative and managerial support.

OVERVIEW: ENABLING LEARNING ENVIRONMENTS

In order to ensure an inclusive, quality education, learning environments must be safe and support

the learning of students. Goal 4, Target A of Agenda 2030 outlines the physical aspects of this: Build and upgrade education facilities that are child, disability and gender sensitive and provide safe, non-violent, inclusive and effective learning environments for all. However, the associated indicator measures only physical infrastructure and facilities, leaving a significant gap in terms of measuring enabling cultures within education systems.

Quality learning environments are fundamental to ensuring the accessibility and quality of education systems. Learning environments must be child friendly, safe and healthy. The creation of flexible, effective, participatory and respectful learning environments that are responsive to the individual needs of all children is vital to ensuring that children are able to learn and develop whilst in school¹⁶⁷.

The rights of children to protection, to live free from violence and fear, to bodily integrity and to inclusion in the decisions that affect their lives are all outlined in human rights frameworks. States have a responsibility, as part of delivering an inclusive, quality education for all children, to ensure that learning environments are safe spaces for children, and that violence and inequality are neither tolerated nor normalised within education systems.

However, for too many children this is not the case. Millions of children live in fear of encountering violence in or on the journey to and from school. Millions of children have no say in their own education, and are unable to actively participate in their own education. For millions of children, school is not an environment in which they can feel safe, happy and empowered. Yet for all children, school is (or should be) a place where they spend a significant portion of their childhood. It is the structured environment in which they learn to develop relationships, develop their minds, and to develop their self-reliance and independence. If this space is not one in which they can be safe and empowered, children will not develop these attributes, and they will have been failed.

Equally, children have a right to participate in the decisions that affect their lives. It is of the utmost importance that children are able to exercise these rights in schools – and in fact education is the space in which children should be taught these rights and responsibilities. The consequences of not teaching young people that they have a voice, and a right, even a responsibility to use their voice in their own political, social and cultural spaces can be dire. In many countries we see the outcomes of

this in low voter turn-out for young people. More extreme consequences can be a generation that feels disenfranchised and disempowered, and feels only a sense of separation and antagonism towards the dominant societal spaces in which they find themselves – spaces that perhaps do not 'represent' them.

Teaching young people how to actively participate, how to consider, ask for what they want, listen to the views and opinions of others, to negotiate, to concede, to compromise or to argue their case is a vital skill-set that is applicable in every facet of people's lives, not only politics. It is especially important for girls, who face greater exclusion and discrimination, and who need the skills to be able to negotiate for themselves whilst navigating a world in which they are often considered of less value than boys, and in which they rarely hold the power. Plan International recognises that these skills are vital for young people, and we prioritise children and young people's participation in every area of our work, in particular for girls.

Part of ensuring safe, healthy, participatory learning environments for all children means ensuring that education systems work well with other systems. Governments are increasingly aware that crosssectoral strategies are needed to ensure the wellbeing of all children, and that no child falls between the gaps in the system. It is important to note that strong ties between education, health and child protection systems are vital to ensuring the wellbeing of all children. Children who are the victims of violence or neglect in one area of their lives, are more likely to be victims in other areas too. This process of poly-victimisation is important to understand and to combat, to ensure that children from neglectful or abusive homes do not fall prey to neglect or abuse in the education system. Stronger links between child protection services and the education system mean that children can be identified early, can be monitored and can receive increased support as needed.

Equally important is to ensure strong links between education and health systems. Every year, children miss out on an average of 272 million school days globally due to diarrhoea alone. Healthier children are more able to learn, more likely to stay in school, and to stay alive. Strong links between education and health services mean that children are better able to access medical care when needed, more likely to get the vaccinations they need to stay healthy, and better able to access youth friendly health and sexual health services.

Plan International's Position

- Plan International believes that it is vital to education outcomes and for the wellbeing of children that schools are safe, inclusive spaces. Cultures of non-violence, respect and inclusion in schools are fundamental tenets of a quality education, and as such must be a global education priority.
- It is important that education systems link in with child protection and health systems, to ensure every child's wellbeing, and that no child falls through the gap.

Plan International's Recommendations

- Governments must ensure that education, health and child protection systems work together to ensure the wellbeing of all children, and to ensure that no child falls through the gaps
- Governments should take steps to ensure that cultures of non-violence and equality are promoted and lived within education systems
- Governments must take steps to ensure that children and young people are included in the decisions that affect their lives and education, through ensuring children are supported to participate in meaningful decision-making processes

GOVERNANCE AND PARTICIPATION

"My voice, and the voice of my fellow students, is not heeded by the school's leaders. They think that what they are doing is completely right and there is no flaw in their methods, even though we believe there is." Girl, Pakistan

A quality education is accountable to children through the participation of children, families and communities in school governance and decision-making. Participation is a basic human right and a fundamental principle of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child. It is associated with other civil rights such as the freedom of expression, thought, association and access to information. Participatory decision-making and young people's involvement in school governance mechanisms are also an important part of education for global citizenship, which forms part of target 7 of Goal 4 in Agenda 2030.

Participation in the governance of education institutions such as schools can help to improve relations between children, parents, community leaders and school staff and leadership. When

young people get their rightful say and when decision makers listen, Plan International's research shows that education systems and their governance improve¹⁶⁸. Establishing spaces for children's active participation is also critical to their development. Participation in school governance systems is often one of the first opportunities for children to develop and exercise their leadership capacities and learn to engage and negotiate in intergenerational decision-making processes. Listening to young people's voices can improve the quality of education provision and policies. Increasing spaces for participation in decisionmaking as well as increasing accountability to students is key to ensuring that girls and boys are empowered through education.

Parent-Teacher Associations or School Management Committees (SMCs) can provide safe spaces in which parents, children and community members can discuss their own priority issues with the aim of enabling quality service provision. These committees can also ensure that children are being enrolled in and consistently attending school, tackling the social and economic barriers to education. For instance, a School Management Committee that is aware of the negative consequences - and the illegality and rights violation - of child marriage, can help to identify atrisk students and support them to continue their education using either informal or formal reporting mechanisms. Other community actions could include awareness-raising about laws on child marriage and ensuring that effective child protection reporting and referral systems exist in schools and communities and are connected to broader justice systems to support girls affected by child marriage.

Schools must ensure children and young people are able to participate in effective, participatory and inclusive school governance and decision-making processes and have the skills to do so. Promoting active citizenship and involving girls and boys in school governance can ensure girls have a voice and are able to influence their parents, teachers and wider community to respect their rights. School management committees with strong links to local government structures can create the means for young people to lobby and hold leaders to account on issues that matter to them about their education.

One mechanism for ensuring girls are enabled to gain the skills to participate in decision-making in a supportive environment is through girls clubs. Girls clubs provide safe spaces for girls to come together to discuss the issues that affect their lives. They

can enable girls to develop their skills and ideas, and to support each other in facing challenges in their schools, their homes and communities. Plan International supports girls clubs in many of the countries in which we work, and there are many examples of how these clubs empower girls to challenge inequality and to make decisions about their own lives. For example, over 50 inspiring girls make up the Uncut Girls' Club, which takes place in a Plan International-supported school in Bonazuria, Ethiopia, where members are educated on the consequences of Female Genital Mutilation (FGM). From there, they spread the message to their families and community, empowering their peers while putting an end to this harmful practice. Girls themselves recruit others into the club. Many have successfully been able to negotiate with their families and communities to remain uncut, and say that their aim is to break this tradition¹⁶⁹.

Quality secondary education should promote development of critical thinking skills which allow children to analyse and understand political arguments which are the building blocks to civic participation, democracy, and empowerment to change their societies and the social norms which affect their lives. Giving girls and boys a voice in decisions that affect their lives can help to improve the quality of education they receive. There are a range of accountability mechanisms that can be used in schools, such as score-carding to gather data and information on the school environment. Encouraging, listening to and acting on young people's views and feedback means governments, local authorities and teachers can be held accountable in their responsibility to provide wellresourced, safe and quality education. By taking part in decision-making in their school and local community, young people gain the skills and confidence they need to have a say in the decisions that affect their lives. It is critical to ensure the involvement of women and mothers as well as men and fathers, and the wider community in school governance. This is a key intervention which helps to ensure education is relevant and reflects opinions from a range of stakeholders.

It is particularly important to target interventions to ensure that girls' voices, and the voices of other excluded groups, are heard. Policy makers and education leaders do not always understand the barriers to education for girls. Girls have a right to be consulted about the decisions that affect their right to education. Exclusion is present at every social and structural level, and therefore these are the same voices that are under-represented in

political and financial decision-making from the national level to school leadership positions.

"Uganda is a patriarchal society... Sometimes even when you are listened to, no action is taken." Young woman, Uganda

"It wasn't effective at all... In my school specifically, our 'Council' was created to make an illusion of a better institution for the Education Superintendency of our city." Female, 15-19, Brazil

Plan International's Position

- Plan International believes that children and young people, as participants in their own education, will best understand the particular challenges they face in accessing a quality, safe education. As such, children's participation in decision-making should be welcomed. Girls' and boys' interests, concerns and opinions should be heard at all levels- from the governance and management systems at school, to national level policy development.
- All children and young people, irrespective of sex, age, disability or other exclusionary categorisation, should be supported to participate meaningfully in decision-making processes. Targeted interventions should be put in place to ensure that girls and other children from marginalised and disenfranchised groups are enabled to participate on an equal basis with others, and that their value and sense of selfworth is reinforced.

Plan International's Recommendations

- National governments should ensure that children are able to participate in the decision making that affects their education – both within school governance mechanisms and in local and national-level policy making. Children, and particularly girls, should be adequately supported to participate in an empowering and meaningful way, with their views given equal weighting and consideration to those of adults.
- Schools should ensure that all participatory structures are inclusive, and that boys, girls, children with disabilities and vulnerable or minority groups are supported to participate, are all represented, and their voices heard.
- Schools should set up School Management Committees as an effective means of involving students, parents and teachers in important decisions about young people's education, and as a means of ensuring transparency and

- accountability in education systems. Committees should include girls and boys, mothers and fathers, and female and male teachers.
- Children and young people should be given a legitimate space in any community and local level accountability programmes aimed at monitoring the quality and efficiency of services provided by education institutions with particular emphasis on establishing child-friendly feedback mechanisms that are gender sensitive and easily accessible.
- Schools should actively reach out to students to hear their views on decisions about their education, in order to involve young people in decisions that affect their lives, and improve their decision making and leadership skills.
- Local education authorities and teachers should be prepared and supported to facilitate the engagement of community leaders and of parents/caregivers (both mothers and fathers) in school governance and in their children's education – as a key step to ensuring relevance, quality, increased parental understanding of the importance of education and their support for their children's education and school readiness.

SCHOOL-RELATED GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE

"While I was in school, my voice was not heard when I reported to our teachers, so we usually ended up not reporting any case to anyone." Young woman, Nigeria

Violence that occurs in and around schools is a serious barrier to realising the right to education. School-related gender-based violence (SRGBV) refers to acts of sexual, physical or psychological violence inflicted on children in and around schools because of stereotypes and roles or norms attributed to or expected of them due to their sex or gendered identity. It also refers to the differences between girls' and boys' experience of and vulnerabilities to violence¹⁷⁰. The failure to protect children from all forms of violence, including in their school lives, is a violation of their rights, compromising their development and well-being.

SRGBV often occurs in unsupervised and private spaces – such as in school toilets, dormitories, in classrooms outside teaching hours, in teachers' residences or around school perimeters. However, where practices are normalised they can also take

place in plain sight of others – in the classroom or school corridors. SRGBV can be perpetrated by other students, or by teachers or other school staff, and can be in the form of: bullying, sexual harassment, transactional sex or sex for grades, non-consensual touching, sexual relationships between pupils and teachers, tolerance of male aggression; corporal and other degrading or violent forms of punishment.

SRGBV is not restricted by region or income. 70 percent of respondents in a UNICEF study in Botswana had experienced sexual harassment, and 20 percent had been asked for sex by a teacher. In an ActionAid study in Kenya, 5 percent of girls reported having been forced to have sex with a teacher¹⁷¹. Recent research by Plan International shows that 22 percent of women in the UK had experienced sexual touching, groping, flashing, sexual assault or rape in or around school when they were students¹⁷². Over a quarter of girls responding to Plan International's Hear Our Voices study – which surveyed children and young people from 11 different countries also claimed they 'never' or 'seldom' felt safe on their way to school.¹⁷³

Despite progress, there remains a lack of global data on violence that takes place in and around schools. This is because it is an under-funded and under-researched area, but also because school children do not always have access to safe, child-friendly reporting mechanisms, and do not always understand that cultures of violence are not acceptable, and therefore violence in schools often goes unreported. However, Plan International estimates that at least 246 million boys and girls suffer from school-related violence every year¹⁷⁴.

One of the most pervasive forms of violence in schools is bullying. Surveys show that between one-fifth (China) and two-thirds (Zambia) of children reported being victims of verbal or physical bullying¹⁷⁵. Up to 60 percent of adolescents in Ghana aged between 13 and 15 reported being victims of physical attacks in the last 12 months, according to UNICEF data on child protection.¹⁷⁶ Data from Global School-based Student Health Surveys shows that worldwide, more than one in three students between the ages of 13 and 15 reported being the victim of bullying in the last year.¹⁷⁷ Children with disabilities are more likely to

CASE STUDY: student participation in school governance

The Model School programme was initiated by Plan International India to address the key issues of disadvantaged children's lack of access to quality education. One of the objectives of the programme was to enhance children's participation in school governance.

Plan International India recognised that there were no systems or structures in place to involve children in the school activities or in the School Management Committee. The Committees were not functioning well and there was no opportunity for children to assess the school activities and its facilities.

To address this, a democratic space for children to form their own governance structure, "Bal Panchayat" (Children's Parliament), was created in all the target schools.

Issues raised by the children's forums included access to safe drinking water; separate toilets for girls; WASH issues; and hygienic practices of cooking school meals. Children also have an opportunity to raise concerns through a suggestion box.

The issues raised were responded to by the School Management Committees, the Government Department for Education as well as local governance mechanisms.

The programme has improved the level of influence children have over issues which affect their education. Children also have a better understanding of democratic processes through their involvement in the activities of the Children's Parliament and its election process. When children were asked to evaluate the system, 95 percent expressed that the school management provided good support to the Children's forum.

Furthermore, the programme has increased awareness among parents about issues such as the importance of education, child protection and related laws. However, there is still some work to be done – for example, children's forums have not been able to really question or monitor aspects of school education such as teachers' availability, instructional time and corporal punishment.

be victims of discrimination and bullying from their peers, 178 as are LGBTIQ children. 179

The 2006 UN study on violence against children underlines that almost all bullying is sexual or gender-based in nature, aimed at putting pressure on children to conform to cultural values and social attitudes, especially those that define perceived masculine or feminine roles¹⁸⁰.

Although the prevalence of bullying has been shown to be similar for girls and boys, the experience of bullying is different for girls and boys. Whilst boys are more likely to engage in physical bullying, girls will more often engage in verbal forms of harassment of their peers.¹⁸¹ Research also suggests that around half of all children involved in bullying are both victims and perpetrators - they are both bullied and bullies. 182 Relational violence, which specifically targets a girl's critical social relationships, can increase her risk of long-term socio-psychological distress¹⁸³. It is often overlooked by educators and policy-makers as a mere expression of 'girls being girls', despite these long-term consequences. Physical violence, used more often by boys, can cause physical and longterm psychological harm.

Teachers themselves may engage in psychological bullying when they speak in a derogatory way to students based on the student's sex, race or class. Girls and boys may be made to feel worthless, unteachable or stupid if they are viewed as behaving in a manner inconsistent with their assigned role in society¹⁸⁴.

Millions of children live in fear of being physically abused under the guise of discipline; in some countries more than 80 percent of students suffer corporal punishment at school¹⁸⁵. Corporal punishment is a direct violation of children's human rights, and as with other forms of violence and abuse, cruel, degrading or violent punishment used in schools is a result of negative cultural and social norms, and is rooted in the power given to authority. Cruel, degrading or violent punishment is also linked to discrimination, being disproportionately inflicted on students with disabilities or from minority backgrounds¹⁸⁶. Corporal punishment has been shown to be the least effective form of discipline at school, and it perpetuates a school climate that is volatile and creates resentment¹⁸⁷.

Corporal punishment is not gender neutral, but is tied to the gender-based values of masculinity and is experienced differently by girls and boys 188.

Although both girls and boys are victims of corporal punishment, the types of punishment and resulting impacts vary according to sex. For instance, boys are more likely to be physically assaulted, whereas girls are more likely to be publicly humiliated or otherwise ostracized¹⁸⁹.

SRGBV is a result of entrenched negative social and cultural norms and power imbalances, legitimising violent behaviours and reinforcing gender identities that subordinate girls, and ostracising boys that do not conform to masculine 'ideals'. SRGBV is correlated with lower academic achievement and economic security, as well as greater long-term health risks¹⁹⁰. Furthermore, children who are bullied will often show a marked decline in achievement and a reluctance to participate in school activities. 191 It also perpetuates cycles of violence across generations. Where schools do not challenge negative gender norms, they may reinforce damaging attitudes and beliefs thus schools have an increased responsibility to challenge gender inequality and gender based violence in all its manifestations.

In most societies, unequal power relations between adults and children and the gender stereotypes and roles attributed to girls and boys leave schoolgirls especially vulnerable to sexual harassment, rape, coercion, exploitation and discrimination from teachers, staff and peers. Boys and girls who do not conform to dominant notions of heterosexual masculinity or femininity are also vulnerable to sexual violence and bullying.

Plan International's Position

- Plan International asserts that every child has the right to learn in a safe and secure environment, free from the fear or threat of violence. This is an inseparable aspect of a quality education. Addressing attitudes and behaviours that support or legitimise violence at the national, local, school and community levels, is a key intervention to prevent and respond to school-related gender-based violence.
- where the second second

Plan International believes that eliminating school-related gender-based violence should be a priority for all actors. School-related genderbased violence constitutes a serious rights violation, impacting on children's ability to enter, transition and complete school.

Plan International's Recommendations

- National governments must adopt and implement comprehensive, and multi-sectoral national action plans, integrated into their education sector plans, to prevent and respond to all forms of violence in and around schools, including SRGBV. Plans should be gender-responsive, support the most vulnerable populations (including children with disabilities), take into account the diversity of experiences and needs of marginalised girls and boys, and look specifically at the school context. Law enforcement, the judiciary, child protection authorities, the transportation sector and civil society organisations must be partners in addressing the vulnerability of children en-route to and from school grounds.
- National governments must review and strengthen laws and policies to protect children from violence, ensure accountability, and treat all children equally. This includes strengthening laws for prohibition of corporal punishment in schools and homes.
- National governments, and civil society organisations should also address attitudes and behaviours of both adults and students in school, and of families and communities, to reinforce the recognition that some common behaviours, such as bullying, sexual harassment and corporal punishment, are actually forms of violence.
- Girls and boys must be recognised as key participants in developing solutions to address violence, bullying and SRGBV.
- Parents, schools, local government and national governments must ensure children understand their rights, and are able to access reporting and response mechanisms. These must be safe, child-friendly, clear, proportionate and consistent with the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child, and must be effectively implemented.
- Teachers and school administrators must be well-trained, equipped and supported to understand, prevent and respond to gender-

- based violence in and around schools. This includes ensuring that teachers are trained on positive discipline methods, and are able to challenge negative gender norms.
- Schools should establish and clearly advertised codes-of-conduct to tackle all forms of SRGBV including bullying and corporal punishment so that all students and staff understand their rights and responsibilities, and how to report SRGBV. Mechanisms must be put in place to hold teachers, school staff and students who violate those Codes of Conduct to account.

FINANCING THE RIGHT TO EDUCATION: THE GLOBAL FUNDING GAP

In order to realise every child's right to education, education systems need to be fully funded, requiring a significant increase in current investment levels globally. It is the role of the State, as the primary duty bearer, to realise this right for all persons living within its borders. Obligations of the State under international law include the development of budgeted implementation plans for education policy. The case for investing in education is also clear. The estimated national economic gain from achieving universal primary education exceeds the estimated increase in public spending required to achieve it192. UNESCO estimates that each additional year of schooling can increase an individual's earnings by 10 percent¹⁹³. Girls who complete a primary education are likely to increase their earnings by 5 to 15 percent over their lifetimes, for boys this figure is between 4 and 8 percent¹⁹⁴.

The education goals in Agenda 2030 represent a more ambitious and comprehensive global education agenda than ever. The International Commission on Financing Global Education Opportunity (EFC) estimates that in order to achieve education goals by 2030 global spending on education needs to increase steadily from \$1.2 trillion per year to \$3 trillion, prioritizing countries where there is the greatest need and demonstrated commitment to reform, with extra support to fragile states¹⁹⁵. UNICEF estimates that providing universal pre-primary, primary and lower secondary education in low-income and lower-middle-income countries by 2030 will cost US\$340 billion a year¹⁹⁶. Secondary education increases the global education financing needs enormously. The perpupil costs of secondary schooling are far higher than those for primary school, and in many lowincome countries, only a minority of poor children even enter secondary education¹⁹⁷.

To fill the financing gap, the EFC calls for an increase in overall overseas development assistance (ODA) and increasing the share devoted to education from 10 to 15 percent. It also recommends tapping into innovative financing mechanisms, such as education bonds, innovative post-secondary student financing mechanisms, disaster insurance for education, impact investing, and solidarity levies¹⁹⁸. As well as spending more, finances for education need to be spent better. UNICEF research on low-income countries overall shows that children from the richest 10 percent of the population receive around 46 percent of the benefits from public spending on education¹⁹⁹. Children entering the education system carrying disadvantages associated with poverty, gender, disability or ethnicity, need more resources to achieve opportunities equivalent to those enjoyed by more privileged children.

The EFC forwards the idea of progressive universalism – expanding provision of quality education for everyone while prioritising the needs of the poor and disadvantaged. This means funding must be spent on those with the least access to quality education – prioritising this approach over approaches that may be more cost-effective – which is an important approach to uphold the tenet of 'leave no-one behind'.

Plan International's Position

- Plan International believes that no-one should be prevented from receiving a quality education due to a lack of resources. At least 12 years' free, quality, basic education, including at least 1 year pre-primary, should be available and accessible for all children.
- Plan International believes that education systems must be adequately and equitably financed – focusing on inclusive education and on gender equality in education systems. Funding should be prioritised for those who face the most barriers to accessing their right to education to ensure equitable learning outcomes and that no child is left behind.

DOMESTIC FINANCING FOR EDUCATION

"I think the government should do more on accountability, to ensure that funds set aside for education are used for the intended purpose." Young woman, Kenya National education budgets should respond to all of the objectives and obligations set out in international human rights frameworks: that education is available, accessible, acceptable, and adaptable. In addition to providing free and compulsory primary education for all children, governments are obliged by commitments they have already made, as outlined in international human rights standards, to progressively introduce free and equal access to secondary and higher education²⁰⁰. In signing Agenda 2030, States have committed to achieving a broader set of education objectives by 2030, including the provision of one-year free pre-primary, and secondary education.

The international benchmark for education spending, as outlined in the Incheon Declaration, is 4-6 percent of GDP, or 15-20 percent of the budget²⁰¹. Many governments around the world have increased education spending. Average spending on education in low-income countries increased from 3.2 percent of GDP in 1999 to 4 percent in 2012²⁰². According to the Global Partnership for Education, among the countries that devoted more than 20 percent of government expenditure to education, Benin allocated the largest share in 2012 (26.1 percent) and also raised the proportion of resources for the sector the most between 2008 and 2012 (7.0 percentage points). Niger also demonstrated strong commitment to education, as education's share of public resources increased by more than 5 percentage points. In contrast, a handful of countries, including The Gambia and Guinea, cut the proportion of resources for the sector by almost 5 percentage points. However, with more ambitious education targets and a growing population, spending increases must happen at much higher rates²⁰³.

In spite of the commitment to provide 1-year free pre-primary education, there remains a consistent lack of government funding for the expansion and enrichment of early childhood and pre-primary education services. In most low and middle income countries, public investment in early childhood care and pre-primary education continues to be very low compared to the international benchmarks of 1 percent of GDP and 10 percent of public education funding²⁰⁴. While comparable data are not readily available, many governments spend only between 0.1 and 0.2 percent of GNP on preschool education (compared to a public/private expenditure on preschool of 0.49% GNP in OECD countries). Of the 27 Sub-Saharan African countries for which data are available, the median public expenditure on

pre-primary education was just 0.01 percent of GNP in 2012²⁰⁵.

Even if governments meet minimum benchmarks on domestic expenditure for education, there will still be an annual education financing gap of US\$39 billion in low-income and lower-middle-income countries. In the case of low-income countries, the gap is equivalent to 42 percent of the financing needed to meet the 2030 education goals²⁰⁶. Increases in primary school enrolment, combined with rapid population growth, have placed additional pressure on education budgets. However, a high proportion of the costs of domestic financing could be covered through economic growth and increased revenue collection by strengthening the domestic tax base. Levels of tax collection in developing countries remain much lower than in rich countries, despite international tax collection benchmarks of 20 percent of GDP.²⁰⁷Furthermore, it is estimated that developing countries lose \$200 billion every year as a result of corporate tax avoidance²⁰⁸, which means that crucial public services such as education are deprived of necessary funding. In addition, illicit financial flows have exceeded the combined capital of ODA and foreign direct investment for seven out of the ten latest years with available data. During this ten-year period, from 2004 to 2013, developing countries lost US\$7.8 trillion.209

Education sector plans must target spending on increasing the quality of education – by investing in teachers and learning materials for example. Governments need to target policy measures to remove all barriers to education and reduce inequalities in access, transition and completion of a quality education. Targeting more resources to ensure that children in rural areas are provided with transport to attend school, or that children from poor families are supported through school feeding programmes, cash transfers (conditional or unconditional) or scholarships to pay for additional school costs such as books and uniforms can directly impact school attendance and completion rates²¹⁰.

Policies and initiatives to address gender equality in education are unlikely to be prioritised without an appropriate budget to support them, making gender-reviews of education sector plans, and gender-responsive budgeting (GRB), are an important practice to strengthen gender-responsive education systems. GRB integrates a gender perspective into all steps of the budget process — planning, drafting, implementing and evaluating - to

raise awareness of gender issues and the impacts of budgets and policies; to make governments accountable for their budgetary and policy commitments to gender equality; and to change and refine government budgets and policies to promote gender equality²¹¹.

Plan International's Position

Plan International recognises that, as the primary duty bearers, national governments are responsible for ensuring the right of all children to access and complete a quality, inclusive education. Fundamental to realising this right is demonstrating the necessary political and financial will to guarantee the right to education for all - including those most likely to be excluded.

Plan International's Recommendations

- Plan International supports the 4 S' approach to domestic financing developed by the Global Campaign for Education, which focuses on the share, size, sensitivity and scrutiny of the education budget.
- In order to achieve universal and equal access to a quality education, governments must increase the share of budget going to education, increasing investment in all aspects of education. In line with widely accepted international benchmarks, a minimum of 20 percent of national budgets, or 6 percent of GDP, should be allocated to education. At least 50 percent of education budgets should be spent on pre-primary, primary and secondary education.
- National governments also need to take measures to increase the overall size of their budgets. National governments should strengthen the domestic tax base, increasing revenue collection to 20 percent of GDP. This should include progressively reforming tax systems to ensure that they are fair, closing tax loopholes and incentives, and taking action on tax evasion.
- In order to deliver a quality education for all children, governments need to increase the sensitivity of education budgets. The ways in which education budget is spent should be consistent with international standards and targeted to ensure that a quality education is available to all children, including those from poor and marginalised socio-economic groups.
- Governments should support the concept of progressive universalism – targeting finances to

those most likely to be out-of-school, or to be receiving inadequate, poor quality education first.

- Governments should complete gender-reviews of education sector plans, and finance the outcomes through gender-responsive budgeting, in order to remove barriers to girls' education.
- Governments should redouble their efforts to provide adequate resources and financing to protect the rights of children with disabilities in line with the commitment set out in Goal 4, Target 5 of Agenda 2030, and in the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD).
- National governments also need to increase citizen scrutiny of the education budget, including by children and young people, to ensure transparency and accountability. Tackling corruption and stopping illicit financial flows are pressing issues for many governments in developing countries.

INTERNATIONAL FINANCING FOR EDUCATION

To support domestic financing for education, there is a vital role for the international community to play in financing the right to education. The EFC projects that international financing for education needs to increase from US\$16 billion per year to US\$44 billion per year in order to meet global education goals. That target has already been missed in the first years of Agenda 2030, and current funding trends are not positive. Between 2010 and 2013, development assistance for basic education fell 11 percent²¹². Several major bilateral donors have also cut aid to education²¹³. Education's share of ODA fell from 13 percent to 10 percent between 2002 and 2015, and amongst multilateral donors it fell from 10 percent to 7 percent in the past decade²¹⁴.

Trends in how international education financing is spent are also worrying. Only 24 percent of education ODA in 2014 went to low-income countries, with less than 70 percent of education aid actually reaching recipient countries, due to a large share of aid funding scholarships in donor countries²¹⁵. The majority of education aid is also spent on primary education, with pre-primary and secondary education receiving little support. As a share of total disbursements to basic education, aid to early education actually fell from just 3 percent in

2002-04 to 2 percent in 2010-12. Bilateral aid is also poorly coordinated: more than half of the 41 countries in highest need of support, as a result of their high numbers of out-of-school children, have to coordinate with more than 15 donors.

The EFC outlines a Global Compact for Financing Education, comprising three key areas. Firstly, domestic resources for education must increase (as outlined in the precious section). Secondly, donor financing for education must increase, rising from US\$16 billion per year in 2016 to US\$89 billion in 2030. Thirdly, the World Bank, regional development banks and donors should establish an International Finance Facility for Education (IFFEd). Mobilising US\$10 billion or more annually in new and additional resources by 2020, and upwards of US\$20 billion by 2030.

In order to meet international education goals, bilateral donors must meet commitments to spend 0.7 percent of their Gross National Income to ODA²¹⁶. Of this amount, and in order to match the funding targets set for recipient countries, donors should allocate at least 15 percent of their development budget to basic education.

The Asian Development Bank (ADB), the African Development Bank (AfDB), the European Union institutions, the World Bank and UNICEF have together accounted for almost a quarter of aid to education in the past decade. However, multilateral aid to basic education is in decline, reducing from 62 to 51 percent between 2000 and 2011²¹⁷. The World Bank is separate to this trend, having increased its contribution over the past decade. However, the proportion of this going to lower-income countries has decreased sharply²¹⁸.

The Global Partnership for Education has allocated nearly US\$3.8 billion to 59 countries in support of education since 2002, and was the fifth largest donor to basic education in 2011²¹⁹. GPE has estimated that it had a US\$585 million funding gap at the end of 2014. The total unmet financial need for the next replenishment campaign, taking into account the existing gap and estimated donor and domestic financing, is around US\$4 billion over 4 years, or US\$1 billion per year. Funding through the GPE ensures coordinated, strategic support to nationally led education plans, targeting the most marginalised children in low-income countries. It also ensures that funding aligns with national education sector plans and with other donor contributions in a coordinated, effective and transparent way.

The GPE's second strategic objective commits them to ensuring gender equality in education in GPE funded countries. Plan International has been working in partnership with GPE and UNGEI on completing gender reviews of education sector plans (GRESPs). Within these assessment is made of the policy and legislative environment, strategies to achieve gender parity in access and completion, as well as strategies for progressing towards gender equality in the education experience, opportunities and learning outcomes. A GRESP has been completed in Laos, and training has been delivered in Tanzania. GRESPs have proved to be an effective, relatively low-cost and sustainable girls' education intervention.

Plan International's Position

- Plan International believes that the international community has a duty to support national governments from low and middle income countries to ensure public education systems are fully financed, so that every child is able to realise their right to inclusive, quality education. If education goals are not reached, then it will be impossible to fully meet the challenge of Agenda 2030.
- Plan International urges donors from all sectors to increase financing for education both bilaterally and multilaterally in order to meet the global shortfall in education financing.

Plan International's Recommendations

- The global compact for financing education outlined by the Education Commission should be adopted by an initial set of pioneer countries, and supported by multilateral development banks. If successful, the compact should be integrated into existing structures to strengthen global education financing.
- Bilateral donors should meet commitments to spend 0.7 percent of their Gross National Income to Official Development Assistance. Of this 15 percent should be allocated to education. Bilateral and multilateral donors should also commit to sending a greater share of ODA to low-income countries; increase the share of education spending going to pre-primary, primary and secondary education; and better coordinate with other donors in order to reduce the burden of reporting for recipient countries.
- To meet funding targets, improve coordination and reduce fragmentation, donor countries should channel more contributions through the GPE, as a way of aligning aid efforts. Donors

should work to ensure that the GPE strengthens their monitoring of gender equality standards and civil society participation.

FINANCING EDUCATION IN EMERGENCIES

There is a global shortfall of around US\$8.5 billion a year in the funding needed to educate the estimated 75 million children affected by crises²²⁰. While the need for funding for education in emergencies has increased by 21 percent since 2010, international financing for it has decreased by 41 percent in the same timeframe²²¹. Education accounts for a small share of requests for humanitarian aid – and only a small fraction of those requests are funded. Education in Emergencies provides essential building blocks for future economic stability. Yet in 2015, only 1.4 percent of humanitarian aid went to education²²².

These figures suggest that donors and humanitarian actors do not prioritise education in humanitarian contexts. This despite the fact that education in emergencies minimises the risk of long-term impacts on the development and wellbeing of the child. This situation is also out of step with the aspirations of parents and children affected by crises, for whom school can restore some security and normalcy and provide hope for a better future²²³.

The evidence shows that the effects of disasters and conflict are for the most part long term, and it is estimated that the average length of displacement for refugees is approaching 20 years²²⁴. This necessitates a holistic approach to funding education in emergencies that bridges the traditional divide between development expertise and humanitarian response.

The Education Cannot Wait Fund (ECW) was set up in 2015 to reach all crisis-affected children and youth with safe, free and quality education by 2030 through joining up governments, humanitarian actors and development efforts to deliver a more collaborative and rapid response. ECW aims to mobilize resources from both public and private sector partners to reach US\$3.85 billion by 2020. To-date an initial commitment of US \$113.4 million has been secured from Dubai Cares, the European Commission, and the governments of Canada, Denmark, France, the Netherlands, Norway, the United Kingdom, and the United States of America. The Global Business Coalition for Education has also announced the mobilization of US\$100 million in financial and relevant in-kind contributions for **Education Cannot Wait.**

It is important that ECW is complementary to existing financing structures such as GPE, in order to ensure that education is fully funded in all contexts – that funding is not diverted from development to humanitarian budgets or vice versa. ECW stresses that "GPE and ECW grants differ in both length and scope. For example, most GPE budget support is for a period of 5 years, whereas ECW grants are shorter and intended to address an immediate gap/need. ECW recipients therefore need to include transition plans for more sustained provision of education. Wherever possible this provision should come from the government, through domestic financing or support from organisations like GPE."

Plan International's Position

- Plan International believes that the right to education does not stop in emergencies, and that financing education provision is a crucial part of conflict and disaster prevention and response. National governments have a responsibility to finance the continued education of all children during or in the aftermath of disasters or conflict.
- Plan International believes that in the case of fragile or failing states, the international community should provide additional financial and technical support in order to ensure that this obligation is met for all children, everywhere. Plan International supports the Education Cannot Wait Fund as a mechanism to increase global funding for education in emergencies.

Plan International's Recommendations

- Humanitarian donors should prioritize funding for education in emergencies, alongside food, water, shelter and health. Donors should commit to fully funding the Education Cannot Wait Fund, ensuring that this is complementary to development funding for education and does not divert funding committed elsewhere.
- In recognition that States affected by conflict, fragility or disasters are less able to meet the costs of education, donors should commit to providing additional funding for education in emergencies.
- Donor governments, philanthropists and the private sector should commit to fully financing the Education Cannot Wait Fund. Funds committed to ECW should be additional to funding already committed to other education financing mechanisms, and minimum benchmarks set out for these.

- Donor governments should also support refugee hosting countries to strengthen education systems to accommodate refugees.
- Donors and governments must ensure that humanitarian funding for education includes specific resources for formal and non-formal education programmes for girls of all ages wherever there is evidence of gendered gaps in access (from pre-primary, primary, secondary and flexible accelerated programmes). These programmes should score at least a 2a or 2b on the IASC gender marker

PRIVATE SECTOR FINANCING FOR EDUCATION

States are the guarantors of education under international human rights standards, and are accountable for ensuring the right to inclusive, quality education for all children. But while increases in domestic financing are imperative, the private sector could play a much more prominent role in supporting public education systems, contributing to collective efforts to achieving the right to inclusive, quality education for all children. Given the shortfall in global education financing, the private sector is an important partner in reaching Agenda 2030.

The State responsibility to ensure a quality education for all children extends to non-State-run schools operating within a given State - private, religious or NGO schools. Religious and community schools play an important role in education systems. In Afghanistan, Bangladesh, Indonesia and Pakistan, Islamic schools (madrasas) have long played an important role in providing primary and secondary education to underprivileged groups. Community schools, too, have often been found to be more relevant to local needs. adaptable, cost-effective and student-centric than government schools²²⁵. It is the role of the State to regulate these schools, and hold them to National standards. However, findings from India, Bangladesh and Pakistan show that madrasas do not receive policy guidelines for curricular content or modernisation²²⁶.

UNESCO estimates that key foundations and corporations based in DAC-member countries spend around US\$683 million a year on activities specifically related to education in developing countries. Of this, only US\$135 million is spent on basic education²²⁷. Private investment also tends to support non-State provision of services and

education delivery. According to the latest available data, ²²⁸ private schools accounted for around 15 percent of primary school enrolment in Plan International's programme countries for which statistics are available. The percentage of private enrolment at lower-secondary level in Plan International's programme countries with data is 21 percent, rising to 26 percent at upper secondary level.

Private foundations and corporations can engage in education in many different ways and with very different motivations, ranging from altruistic philanthropy to self-interested investment. In order to ensure that private investment is contributing to globally identified priority education investments, the private sector should channel its funding through existing global funding mechanisms, such as the Global Partnership for Education, which has a responsibility to ensure transparency and accountability in its investments.

Privatisation of Education

Private education provision can be either for-profit (with financial returns going to shareholders or owners) or not-for-profit (where economic surpluses are re-invested). It is also important to make a distinction between free private education provision - for instance some religious or NGO schools - and fee-charging private education provision. Whilst private actors have the liberty to establish and direct educational institutions under international human rights law, in many countries the provision of for-profit education is against the law. This is the case in the UK, for example, however DFID supports for-profit education provision through its overseas development assistance – a practice for which it has drawn criticism from the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child. Whether for-profit or notfor-profit, all private education provision must conform to minimum standards laid down by the State²²⁹.

The rise of private, fee-charging schools can lead to greater segmentation and fragmentation in the education sector as more children from higher socio-economic groups migrate to the private sector, leaving the poorest and most disadvantaged behind. Research supported by the Privatisation in Education Research Initiative shows that the opportunity costs associated with private education often contributes to the exclusion of the very poorest children, either as a result of the direct cost of fees or the indirect costs associated with private education. Research in South Asia shows that girls are often excluded from private schools due to

gender bias: where parents cannot afford to send all of their children to fee-charging schools, girls are more often selected to remain at home than boys²³⁰. This is increasingly problematic where there is no access to public schooling. However, where the State is unable to provide education, for example in circumstances where informal settlements have built-up on contested land, even low-fee education is better than none. This circumstance should not, however, be sustained.

Private schools can entrench economic divisions and increase and replicate social inequalities, by undermining the quality of education in neighbouring state-run schools. Those children more likely to go to fee-charging schools are more likely to come from (relatively) wealthier families, and are likely to have fewer early developmental inhibitors (for example, they may be better nourished, and have literate parents meaning they will have been exposed to reading at an early age). This means that private schools attract students who are more likely to succeed. Schools with a certain percentage of good students will respond to those students with accelerated curricula, attract good teachers, maintain a certain reputation, and so on. This leaves neighbouring state schools with the poorest and most disadvantaged students, meaning resources will come to be focused primarily on underachieving students. This results in a higher cost-per-pupil financing model, driving away better students and teachers²³¹.

The Global Initiative for Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, the Right to Education Project and the Open Society Foundation's Education Support Programme are leading work to write and agree to the Human Rights Guiding Principles on State obligations regarding private schools²³². Once finalised, these will clarify States obligations regarding private education providers, and ensure alignment of all actors on acceptable private provision of education.

Plan International's Position

- Plan International believes that education provision is the responsibility of the State, and that the State is accountable for ensuring that the public education sector is fully financed.
- Plan International believes that private financing can play a greater role in supporting global education priorities, and should be welcomed where it seeks to complement, support and strengthen public education systems.
- Given the evidence showing that fee-charging schools exacerbate social and economic

inequalities, Plan International does not support the provision of fee-charging private education, either by for-profit or not-for-profit agencies, where this allows the State to fail to meet its legal obligations to provide education for all. This is particularly the case where parents are left with no other options but to send their children to private schools or miss out on education. Plan International recognises that feecharging education options can be a necessary transitional intervention on the road towards the provision of quality, free education for all children.

Plan International's Recommendations

- Private actors should be encouraged to channel funding through multilateral channels such as GPE to ensure alignment of international education spending. Given that corporate actors are not accountable to beneficiaries, funding from the private sector must align with national education sector plans and national and international standards and education priorities rather than corporate interests.
- Donor governments should prioritise supporting public education systems in developing countries. Donor governments should channel funding through recipient governments or through non fee-charging education providers.
- National governments must ensure that private providers meet minimum standards, as laid down by the State, and that educational freedoms do not lead to extreme disparities of educational opportunity for some groups in society (Article 13, ICESCR; paragraph 30, CESCR General Comment 13).
- All governments should support the creation of the Human Rights Guiding Principles on State obligations regarding private schools, and sign on to these once finalised, to ensure that there is a clear set of minimum standards, defined and adhered to globally, on the privatisation of education.

MONITORING PROGRESS ON GLOBAL EDUCATION GOALS

Access to information is crucial if we are to have a collective understanding of how we are progressing in the goal to realise the right of all children to education. Current data collection methods are inadequate, and there are huge gaps in the evidence on education globally.

It is important to involve young people in data collection:

- "...because young people know the challenges that they face in society." Young woman, Tanzania
- "... because young people are the ones on the ground. They know exactly what is happening. It helps to come out with the real information and not estimations, since things are changing every day." Young man, Zambia

Data collection within the SDGs

The 10 education targets within Goal 4 of Agenda 2030 have an attached set of 43 indicators through which success is to be measured. The methodology for measuring many of the indicators is still being formulated a year into Agenda 2030. In addition, measuring and monitoring progress towards the Global Goals will require a major, coordinated effort in the coming years – an effort that is estimated to cost about US\$1 billion a year²³³. There is also concern that many of the indicators developed only partly cover the concepts in each target. This means that additional indicators may need to be developed and measured.

The UNESCO Institute for Statistics (UIS) is responsible for the collection, analysis and dissemination of data needed to monitor progress on Goal 4. The UIS is working with countries and partners to develop standards and methodologies to produce cross-nationally comparable education data with a specific focus on learning and equity. However, this work is ongoing. Increased data collection at the national level will be crucial to global efforts, and Offices for National Statistics will require increased funding and support in order to deliver more and better data. This data will be crucial for the measurement of progress and the development of effective policies which lead to stronger development outcomes for all.

In addition, official indicators can be made far stronger if they are complemented by perceptions-based data, qualitative data and citizen-generated data, as well as data from reliable non-governmental institutions and organizations. All these types of data can be used to stimulate public debate, draw attention to otherwise under-reported issues and provide a fuller picture of reality. Asking people for their perceptions about their own well-being can also lead to more public accountability.

Spotlight: Equal Measures

As a contribution to global monitoring and accountability, Plan International is leading Equal

Measures, a coalition of partners to measure progress for girls and women over the next 15 years. The goal of this partnership is to produce an independent tracking method, or 'tracker', designed to provide access to good quality data where this does not exist, complementing existing data and also demonstrating the value of qualitative data and its importance in capturing multiple aspects of progress. The partnership aims to become an important source of information for advocates, activists, governments, civil society partners and others working to achieve gender equality. The ultimate aim is to fuel a movement to push governments to meet their commitments.

What to Measure

The indicators for measuring progress on Goal 4 are not diverse enough for a truly accurate picture of global education progress. For example, although there is an indicator to measure the number of years of free education, the associated costs of education – paying for materials, uniforms, journey etc. – will not be measured. Measurement in other cases is complex, sensitive and resource intensive – such as measuring quality of teaching. Methods such as classroom observation are also difficult to corroborate across schools let alone between nations and regions.

For learning outcomes, with no globally agreed curriculum, measurements beyond literacy and numeracy are also complex and incomparable. Whilst national assessments are an important way to measure progress, it is equally important to take into account the stress that this puts on children, and the fact that for many students formal assessments are not an environment in which they show their best capabilities. Within the early childhood education sector there are concerns that the push for school readiness and early grade reading and numeracy assessment is already leading to "schoolification" of pre-schools.

In the drive to measure learning outcomes, the concern is that there will be increased pressure on States to show progress through standardised tests (such as PISA), focusing on a narrow range of learning metrics such as literacy and numeracy. This is echoed in Agenda 2030, where literacy and numeracy are the indicators by which to measure learning progress across States in global measures. Whilst these are both important measures of progress, they should not be the only measure of learning outcomes. Outcomes should include knowledge, skills and attitudes, be linked to national goals for education and positive

participation in society. Measuring literacy and numeracy alone will not present a picture of progress across a broad curriculum.

Disaggregating data is an important way to uncover differences and inequalities between groups. Disaggregating the number of children enrolled in, attending and completing different levels of schooling by age and sex, reveals the disparities between girls and boys at different stages of their lives. Disaggregation must also go beyond age and sex to capture data by other characteristics – such as ethnicity, religion, disability, location, marital status and wealth. National Education Management Information Systems should continue to be supported to strengthen the scope and quality of data collection and disaggregation, while also exploring alternative mechanisms to collect data on out of school children and other vulnerable groups.

Without disaggregated data, none of the measurements for progress on Goal 4 will enable us to understand whether the ultimate goal - to leave no one behind – is being met. It will render it impossible to measure progress on equity. Due to the complexity of measuring equity, the Inter-Agency Group on Education Inequality Indicators has been established, to allow for consistent analysis of survey data. Gender parity is currently measured across a number of indicators, which means we have a good sense, at the global level, of gender inequality in education in terms of enrolment. Our understanding is limited for learning outcomes, and to improve this more comprehensive data on gender aspects of curricula, textbooks, assessments and teacher education will all be necessary.

For other vulnerable groups there are further complications. Currently, there is no internationally comparable measure of disability, and therefore global data on disabled children's ability to realise their right to education is limited. This is being addressed in a current project by the Washington Group on Disability Statistics and UNICEF²³⁴. Groups such as internally displaced people, refugees or illegal immigrants may not be registered to attend school and will therefore be invisible. Monitoring of those groups whose mother-tongue is not the language of instruction, or who are from minority religious or ethnic backgrounds is also under-resourced and therefore extremely limited

Plan International's Position

 Plan International believes that increased, responsible data collection and analysis is

- fundamental to informing and implementing effective policies that respond to the learning needs of all children. Current measurement leaves gaps in our understanding of education outcomes, and should be addressed by the international community.
- Plan International promotes cultures of learning and reflection through internal and external knowledge sharing to enhance evidence-based decision-making in Plan International, in national governments and among other education stakeholders. National governments and international bodies must disaggregate data by sex, age, wealth quintile, location and disability as a minimum.

Plan International's Recommendations

- Children and young people should be involved in monitoring and implementation processes, by national governments, implementing partners, and the GPE. This should include in relation to education sector planning and budget setting and monitoring. This is crucial to ensuring children's right to participate in decision-making processes, and to strengthening education sector plans.
- It is important that girls, boys and youth with disabilities and their representative organisations are included – their meaningful participation in data collection, programme design, school management, evaluation and monitoring is essential to quality inclusive education.
- National governments should apply a social accountability approach to education data collection by supporting local communities, including children and youth, to contribute towards filling data gaps by engaging them in collecting, understanding and using qualitative and quantitative education data.
- National governments should work with teachers, through teachers' unions and other means, and with children and young people, to develop systems of assessment that do not put undue burden and stress onto children and teachers, but which give meaningful evidence on progress and the effectiveness of teaching approaches and curricula.
- National governments should increase funding to Offices for National Statistics and other relevant actors for data collection. Increased data will allow governments to implement more

- effective policies, and lead to more efficient financing for education.
- National governments should at a minimum collect sex disaggregated data across all 43 indicators for Goal 4 of Agenda 2030. Data should be made publically available so that all actors at the local, national, regional and international levels can make informed funding and programming decisions.

ANNEX 1: PLAN INTERNATIONAL GLOBAL INFLUENCING ENGAGEMENT

Plan International actively engages in global education initiatives such as the Global Partnership for Education (GPE), the UN Girls Education Initiative (UNGEI), the Global Campaign for Education (GCE), the Interagency Network for Education in Emergencies (INEE), the Early Childhood Development Action Network (ECDAN) and the Education Cannot Wait Fund (ECW), as part of our overall commitment to achieving the right to inclusive, quality education for all children. In particular, Plan International has been a key actor in ensuring that gender equality and inclusion in education has remained a global development priority, actively contributing to consultations for the development of Agenda 2030, and in the development of the Incheon Declaration and accompanying Framework For Action (FFA). Plan International has used evidence from programmes to inform the global discussion on education and ensuring that the most excluded children are not left behind.

The Global Partnership for Education

The GPE is a multilateral mechanism which brings together southern governments, bilateral and multilateral donor agencies, teachers unions, civil society, private sector and foundations, to realize Goal 4 of Agenda 2030. Through GPE, more than 30 bi-lateral, multi-lateral, CSO, foundation and private sector agencies and 65 recipient countries work in partnership to further nationally developed and owned Education Sector Plans. The GPE strategy (2016-2020) focuses on achieving the following three strategic objectives:

- Increased Equity, Gender Equality and Inclusion for All
- 2) Quality Teaching and Learning
- 3) Efficient and Effective Educational Systems

Plan International recognizes the importance of engaging with the GPE at global, National Office and Country Office levels. Plan International strives to link country level work and experiences in education (focusing particularly on GPE's objective around gender equality) with global GPE advocacy and policy work. This approach, by which Plan International links evidence from programmes and experiences engaging in country level processes, to influence global decisions taken by the GPE Secretariat, GPE Board, and bi-lateral donors (i.e.

funding contributions to GPE), has made significant impact since 2011 and has raised Plan's profile globally with GPE stakeholders (GPE Secretariat staff, donors, CSO partners and members of the GPE board). Official public pledges by Plan International to the GPE board at the high-profile GPE Replenishment events in November 2011 and June 2014 solidified Plan International's commitment to education and the GPE mechanism. The pledge in 2014 committed Plan to support 10 gender reviews of Education Sector Plans (ESPs) by 2018.

Plan International has National Offices in 18 out of the 20 donor countries represented in the GPE. More importantly, it has Country Offices in 35 of the 65 recipient countries represented in the GPE. This means its sphere of influence in terms of shaping the global education agenda is three-fold:

At a Country Office level, Plan International can be (and is in many countries) a leading CSO voice in the Local Education Group (LEG). The LEG, which includes the local Ministry of Education, donors, multilateral agencies and CSOs in-country, is responsible for developing, reviewing and monitoring a country's national education sector plan. Plan International should be the go-to agency providing expert advice and suggesting effective national strategies to further girls' education and gender equality. This is directly linked to Plan International's commitment to undertake a gender review of government Education Sector Plans and support action to address the identified gaps. In most countries, the Ministry of Education would welcome this kind of leadership from Plan International, not only because Plan International brings practical evidence from its programmes to inform national strategies for education, but also because funding from GPE is dependent on national education sector plans that include holistic strategies to promote gender equality and inclusion.

At a National Office level, Plan International is working through national education coalitions linked with the GCE to advocate donor governments to make further funding commitments to GPE and prioritize education in general. In Canada, for example, Plan International has been the co-chair of the Canadian International Education Policy Working Group and is advocating for the Government of Canada to increase its funding commitments to GPE replenishment. Plan Germany, Plan UK, and Plan Belgium have also been successful in linking their national education coalition work to GPE. NOs have significant

influence on how their governments contribute to and engage with the GPE and the way their governments prioritize gender equality and education in general, through work with national education coalitions.

At a Global level, Plan International has been feeding into and influencing GPE processes since 2011. The mechanism by which Plan International does this is through its participation in the Northern civil society constituency of the GPE board. Yona Nestel, Plan International Canada's Senior Education Advisor, has been representing Plan International on the GPE Civil Society Constituency since 2011. Plan International has also been involved in developing GPE's first ever Gender Equality Policy and Action Plan.

Plan International is on the global advisory group that oversees the Civil Society Education Fund – a US\$23 million fund made available by the GPE to support local civil society engagement in education sector policy, planning, budgeting and monitoring.

UNICEF/UNGEL

Launched in 2000, the United Nations Girls' Education Initiative (UNGEI) is the EFA Flagship - and UNICEF's primary channel - for girls' education initiatives. UNGEI is a partnership of organisations committed to improving the quality and availability of girls' education and to narrowing the gender gap in primary and secondary education. It provides advocacy and technical support for gender parity and equality in designing, financing and implementing national education plans. They are a key partner for all goals.

Plan International is an active member of the UNGEI and has worked closely with it and the GPE to undertake Gender Reviews of National Education Sector Plans and to support the roll out of the UNGEI/UNICEF/GPE Guidance for developing Gender Responsive Education Sector Plans. Plan International also holds a seat on UNGEI's Global Advisory Committee (GAC), which shares in the planning, decision-making, guidance and accountability of UNGEI.

UNESCO

UNESCO plays a pivotal role in Education For All (EFA) co-ordination and has undergone an important process of reform which has strengthened the global lobby on and delivery of EFA. UNESCO's annual EFA Global Monitoring Report remains the most important source of data and analysis tracking world progress on education. Plan International is in the process of gaining

consultative status with UNESCO, and actively participates in the bi-annual collaborative consultation of NGOs.

The Global Campaign for Education (GCE)

GCE is a civil society movement working to end the global education crisis and ensure that States act now to deliver the right of everyone to a free, quality public education. Plan International has a representative on the GCE's board— and works in particular to ensure young people's voices are represented in the GCE.

Plan International is also represented by CEO Anne-Birgitte Albrechtsen as the alternate civil society representative on the High Level Steering Group of the Education Cannot Wait Fund. Simon Bishop, from Plan International UK, represents Plan International on the Senior Officials Group. Plan International also participates in Task Team 2 of the Fund, which deals with Operational Guidelines and Results for ECW. The Plan International representative is Colin Rogers, with Catherine Ball from Plan International UK and Nadine Grant from Plan International Canada also participating.

Plan International is also a partner on the Global ECD action network that will be working to drive comprehensive ECD policy, programming and investment – including increased access to early leaning/pre-primary education.

Accelerated Education Working Group (AEWG)

Plan International is a contributing member of the AEWG, an inter-agency working group made up of education partners working in Accelerated Education. It is currently led by UNHCR with current representation from UNICEF, USAID, NRC, Plan International, IRC, Save the Children International, ECCN and War Child Holland. Its main objectives are the design, development and testing of Accelerated Education Principles to build standards, guidance and lessons learned on the delivery of accelerated education programming.

ANNEX 2: THE INTERNATIONAL HUMAN RIGHTS FRAMEWORK AND OTHER INTERNATIONAL AGREEMENTS SUPPORTING THE RIGHT TO EDUCATION

Education is a fundamental human right and essential for the exercise of all other human rights. Education promotes individual freedom and empowerment and yields important development

benefits, quality education is also central for access to decent work, improved gender relations, respect towards the environment, health. It should be realised for all people, without discrimination or exclusion, including during emergencies. As a right, education is a universal entitlement, however, girls and boys face differing barriers to attaining the right to education, therefore human rights frameworks recognise the right to education collectively for all children, and separately for certain demographics. Every child has the right to access free, quality and safe pre-primary, primary and secondary education. Education does not only take place at school: formal and non-formal education are both effective strategies to develop children's full potential. Education opportunities must be accessible to all, be of good quality1 and be free from violence and gender bias²³⁵.

The right to education is supported by a robust international framework of legally binding human rights instruments. In addition to the international legal frameworks, which lay the foundations and provide the accountability mechanism for States to guarantee the right of all children to education, States have also committed to a number of global education frameworks which further detail their collective and individual responsibilities to ensure the right to education.

The Universal Declaration of human rights

Article 26 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights states that all people at all levels have the right to free, compulsory and accessible elementary education ²³⁶.

The Convention on the Rights of the Child (CRC)

The CRC is signed and ratified by every State Party to the UN except the United States of America. This makes it a powerful international legal tool for protecting children's rights. It contains a number of articles relevant to education. Article 28.1 of the CRC recognises the right to education for all children, and outlines that States Parties have a responsibility to ensure compulsory, free primary education; available, accessible general and vocational secondary education; and accessible higher education for all children²³⁷. However, while the CRC states that right to learning and to education begins at birth, it doesn't explicitly refer to State obligations to ensuring access for all to safe, free, quality pre-primary education.General

Comment 7 on early childhood provides recommendations on early childhood / pre-primary education, that are absent in the CRC.

Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD)

Article 23.3 of the CRC places the responsibility of provision of free, quality, accessible education for children with disabilities on the State. Article 24 of the CRPD obligates States to provide equal access to education for persons with disabilities, at all levels within both general and vocational education streams. It outlines that States are obligated to facilitate such access by providing persons with disabilities with alternative modes of communication, accommodating the disabled with adequate facilities, and training professionals on the education of people with disabilities.²³⁸.

Convention for the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW)

Article 10 of the CEDAW outlines the responsibility of State Parties' to ensure gender equality within education, including equal access and exposure to opportunity at all levels and within all subject areas, and to also ensure that education curricula specifically tackle negative gender norms²³⁹.

International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (ICESCR)

Article 13 of the ICESCR reiterates the right to education for all children, and further outlines that States Parties have a responsibility to develop school infrastructure, and to improve conditions required for effective teaching²⁴⁰.

The Refugee Convention

Article 22 of the 1951 Refugee Convention outlines the rights of displaced children to education, stating that: "States shall accord to refugees the same treatment as is accorded to nationals with respect to elementary education. States shall accord to refugees treatment as favourable as possible, and, in any event, not less favourable than that accorded to aliens generally in the same circumstances, with respect to education other than elementary education and, in particular, as regards access to studies, the recognition of foreign school certificates, diplomas and degrees, the remission of fees and charges and the award of scholarships."²⁴¹

¹ See section on Quality, Equity and Equality for Plan International's definition of quality education.

The Convention on the Rights of Migrant Workers (CRMW)

For children of migrants, Article 30 of the CRMW obligates State Parties to ensure that children of migrant workers receive equal treatment as those of nationals such as the right of access to education and regardless of the situation of their parent(s).

The UNESCO Convention against Discrimination in Education

The UNESCO Convention against Discrimination in Education outlines that States must ensure that all people are equally able to access a quality education, regardless of race, colour, sex, language, religion, political or other opinion, national or social origin, economic condition or birth, and to formulate policies that will promote equality of opportunity within education²⁴².

The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development

In 2015, the United Nations adopted the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) with its Agenda 2030 – a robust and ambitious development agenda for the coming 15 years. Agenda 2030 recognises the importance of education both as a fundamental right for all people, and also as a crucial tool for the achievement of all development goals. Education is referenced within several of the 17 goals in addition to forming Goal 4: "ensure inclusive and equitable quality education and promote lifelong learning opportunities for all".

Goal 4 of Agenda 2030 represents the greatest commitment on the part of States thus far to realising the right to education for all. It reflects a broad vision of education grounded in the human rights perspective, expanding the ambition of the international community to achieve 10 distinctive targets:

States had previously committed to providing free, compulsory primary education. Within Agenda 2030 this is expanded to include access to quality early childhood development, care and pre-primary education (4.2) as well as primary and secondary education (Target 4.1) . Vitally, States have also committed to achieving gender parity in education, and ensuring that education is accessible to all – even the most vulnerable (Target 4.5) – including by extending that commitment to include the provision of learning environments that are child, gender and disability sensitive (Target 4.a).

In addition to increased commitments to improving access to education, States have also made strong commitments to improving education quality. States have committed to ensuring that all children achieve literacy and numeracy (Target 4.6), to providing vocational and technical training (Target 4.4), to a broad set of curricular objectives towards promoting sustainable development (Target 4.7), and to increasing the supply of qualified teachers (Target 4.c).

However, Agenda 2030 will not be achieved unless greater efforts are directed to taking further effective measures and actions, in conformity with international law, to remove obstacles and constraints, strengthen support and meet the special needs of people living in areas affected by complex humanitarian emergencies and in areas affected by terrorism.

The Incheon Declaration for Education 2030

In May 2015 UNESCO held the World Education Forum in Incheon, Republic of Korea. The resulting Incheon Declaration for Education 2030, and the accompanying Framework for Action (FFA), was adopted by representatives from 160 countries. The FFA expands on the narrative of Goal 4's targets, whilst also establishing strategies to aid implementation. In addition, FFA emphasises three fundamental principles: that education is a fundamental human right and an enabling right; that education is a public good; and that gender equality is inextricably linked to the right to education for all²⁴³.

The Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction

There are strong references to comprehensive school safety throughout the Sendai Framework for DRR. One of the seven global targets makes direct reference to educational facilities (Target 4: 'Substantially reduce disaster damage to critical infrastructure and disruption of basic services, among them health and educational facilities. including through developing their resilience by 2030'). Several of the actions under Priority 1 relate to the role of education in promoting understanding of disaster risk (paras 24g, 24l and 24m), as well as the importance of understanding the impact of disasters on education (para 24d). The importance of disaster resilient design and construction of critical facilities, including schools, is specified under Priority 3 (para 30c), while preparedness in educational facilities is touched upon under Priority 4 (para 33c).

References

- ¹ This paper does not discuss higher education, TVET, employment or entrepreneurship. This work will be addressed within other documents. We have limited the remit of this paper.
- ² The Consultative Group on Early Childhood Care and Development. 2010. 'Early Childhood Care and Development'. [Available at: http://www.ecdgroup.com/pdfs/ECCD_Definition_2010_final.pdf].
- ³ Data from UNESCO Institute of Statistics data site. [Available at: http://www.uis.unesco.org/Education/Pages/oosc-data-release-2016.aspx].
- ⁴ Ibid.
- ⁵ Ibid.
- ⁶ The International Commission on Financing Education Opportunity (The Education Commission). 2016. *The Learning Generation: Investing in Education for a Changing World.* [Available at: http://report.educationcommission.org/].
- ⁷ International Disability and Development Consortium (IDDC). 2016. #Costing Equity: The Case for disability-responsive education financing. [Available at: https://www.iddcconsortium.net/sites/default/files/resources-tools/files/iddc-report-short_16-10-17.pdf].
- ⁸ Plan International. 2013. *Include Us! A Study of Disability among Plan International's Sponsored Children*. [Available at: https://plan-international.org/publications/include-us#].
- ⁹ UNESCO. 2016. *Gender Review: Global Education Monitoring Report: Creating Sustainable Futures for All.* Pp.12-17. [Available at: http://gem-report-2016.unesco.org/en/gender-review/].
- ¹⁰ Note: information from this section is drawn from Plan International's situational analysis and the following documents:
- UNESCO (2015). Education for All 2000 2015: Achievements and Challenges.
- ILO (2015) World Social Protection Report 2014/15: building economic recovery, inclusive development and social justice.
- Schaeffer, S. (2015). The Demand for and the Provision of Early Childhood Services since 2000. Background paper prepared for the EFA Global Monitoring Report 2015.
- UNESCO (2015b). A review of the literature: Early Childhood Care and Education Personnel in Low and Middle Income Countries.
- GCE (n.d.) Global Campaign for Education for Policy Brief: Mother Tongue Education: policy lessons for quality and inclusion
- Global Partnership for Education (2014). Children Learn Better in their Mother Tongue. [Available at:
- http://www.globalpartnership.org/blog/children-learn-better-their-mother-tongue].
- Arnold C. et al. (2013). Transition to School: Reflections on Readiness. Aga Khan Foundation.
- ¹¹ UNICEF (2016) *State of the World's Children: A Fair Chance for Every Child.* P. 56. [Available at: https://www.unicef.org/publications/files/UNICEF_SOWC_2016.pdf].
- ¹² UNESCO (2016). *Global Education Monitoring Report: Education for people and planet: Creating sustainable futures for all.* P.428. [Available at: http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0024/002457/245752e.pdf].
- ¹³ Not to mention fragile states, countries affected by 'natural' disasters, or refugee and IDP populations.
- ¹⁴ Nicolai, Susan, et al. (2016). *Education Cannot Wait: Proposing a fund for education in emergencies*. Overseas Development Institute: London. P. 7.
- ¹⁵ UNESCO. *Global Monitoring Report* 'Humanitarian Aid for Education: Why it matters and why more is needed'. Policy Paper 21: Paris. P. 3.
- ¹⁶ UNICEF (2016). P.42
- ¹⁷ UNESCO (2016). Global Education Monitoring Report Statistical Tables. [Available at: https://en.unesco.org/gem-report/sites/gem-report/files/GEM_Report_2016_2nd_edition_Statistical_Tables.pdf]. Table 10.
- ¹⁸ World Health Organisation (2014). 'Factsheet: Adolescent Pregnancy'. [Available at: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs364/en/].
- 19 UNESCO (2011). Background Paper: The hidden crisis: Armed conflict and education. [Available at: http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0019/001907/190771e.pdf].
 20 UNESCO and UNICEF (2015). Fixing the Broken Promise of Education For All: Findings from the Global Initiative
- ²⁰ UNESCO and UNICEF (2015). Fixing the Broken Promise of Education For All: Findings from the Global Initiative on Out-Of-School Children. UNESCO: Montreal. [Available at: http://allinschool.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/05/oosci-qlobal-report-en.pdf].
- content/uploads/2015/05/oosci-global-report-en.pdf].

 ²¹ Plan International (2013). *A Girls' Right to say No to Marriage: Working to end child marriage and keep girls in school.* [Available at: https://plan-international.org/publications/girls-right-say-no-marriage] P.34.
- ²² UNESCO (2011).
- ²³ Ibid.
- ²⁴UNICEF. 'Education in Emergencies'. [Available at: https://www.unicef.org/education/bege_70640.html]. P.9.
- ²⁵ Minh Cong Nguyen and Quentin Wodon (2016). *Global Trends in Child Marriage*. World Bank. [Available at: http://www.ungei.org/files/Child_Marriage_Trends3.pdf].
- ²⁶ Plan International (2013). P.35.
- ²⁷ Ibid, p.11.
- ²⁸ UNFPA (2012) 'Marrying too young'. UNFPA: New York. P. 34.
- ²⁹ Plan International (2013). P.34.
- ³⁰ UNICEF (2011). Boys and Girls in the Life Cycle: Sex-Disaggregated Data on a Selection of Well-Being Indicators, from Early Childhood to Young Adulthood. UNICEF: New York.
- ³¹ UNICEF (2016a). Harnessing the Power of Data for Girls: Taking stock and looking ahead to 2030. [Available at: https://data.unicef.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/Harnessing-the-Power-of-Data-for-Girls-Brochure-2016-1-1.pdf].

- ³² See Practical Action: Gender and Livelihoods Impacts of Clean Cookstoves in South Asia. Research report commissioned by the Global Alliance for Clean Cookstoves. May 2015; see also Global Alliance for Clean Cookstoves and Energy (2015), Getting Cooking Energy Right in the Post-2015 Indicators. [Available at: http://cleancookstoves.org/binary-data/ATTACHMENT/file/000/000/258-1.pdf].
- ³³ WHO and UNICEF (2015). Joint Monitoring Programme for Water Supply and Sanitation. Report and MDG Assessment. Women and girls were responsible for water collection in seven out of ten households in 45 developing countries.
- 34 The Clinton Foundation and Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation (2015). 'No Ceilings: The Full Participation Report Project'. Citing G. Koolwal and D. van de Walle (2013), "Access to Water, Women's Work, and Child Outcomes," Economic Development and Cultural Change 61. Pp. 369-405.
- 35 https://www.unicef.org/wash/schools/washinschools 53108.html#footnote 1
- ³⁶ International Refugee Council (2005). International Water and Sanitation Centre. School Sanitation and Hygiene Notes & News.
- ³⁷ Greene, M. et. al. (2013) A girl's right to learn without fear: Working to end gender-based violence at school. Plan International: Woking.
- ³⁸ Plan International internal power point: The Right to Education Starts at Birth. 2016. Melanie Swan.
- 39 Maulik P. et al. (2007). Childhood Disability in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: Overview of Screening, Prevention, Services, Legislation, and Epidemiology. Pediatrics.
- ⁴⁰ UNICEF (2014). Early childhood development: a statistical snapshot. Building better brains and sustainable outcomes for children.
- ⁴¹ UNESCO (2014a). Global Monitoring Report. Factsheet on Disabilities and education. UNESCO: Paris. ⁴² Ibid
- ⁴³ World Conference On Special Needs Education: Access and Quality (1994). The Salamanca Statement and Framework for Action on Special Needs Education. [Available at: http://www.unesco.org/education/pdf/SALAMA_E.PDF].
- 44 UNESCO (2004). Education For All Flagship: The Right to Education for Persons with Disabilities: Towards Inclusion. [Available at: http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0013/001378/137873e.pdf].
- ⁴⁵ Filmer, Deon (2008). Disability, Poverty, and Schooling in Developing Countries: Results from 14 household surveys', World Bank Economic Review, vol. 22, no. 1, pp. 141–163.
- ⁴⁶ UNICEF (2013). The State of the World's Children: Children with Disabilities. UNICEF: New York.
- ⁴⁷ UNESCO (2007). Global Education Monitoring Report. Strong Foundations: Early Childhood Care and Education. [Available at: http://www.unesco.org/education/GMR/2007/Full_report.pdf].
- ⁴⁸ IDDC (2016). P.5.
- ⁴⁹ UNICEF (2013). P36.
- ⁵⁰ Ibid.
- ⁵¹ UNICEF (2012). Inequities in early childhood development: what the data say.
- 52 UNICEF (2013). P.21.
- ⁵³ Schulze, M. (2009). Understanding the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities. [Available at: https://iddcconsortium.net/sites/default/files/resources-tools/files/hi_crpd_manual_sept2009_final.pdfl.
- ⁵⁴ UNICEF (2013). Citing Forlin, Chris, et al., 'Demographic Differences in Changing Pre-Service Teachers' Attitudes, Sentiments and Concerns about Inclusive Education', International Journal of Inclusive Education, vol. 13, no. 2, March 2009, pp. 195-209. Felicia Wilczenski's 'Attitudes toward Inclusive Education Scale' (ATIES), developed in 1992, has been particularly
- influential in studies of teacher attitudes: Wilczenski, Felicia L., 'Measuring Attitudes toward Inclusive Education', Psychology in the Schools, vol. 29, no. 4, October 1992, pp. 306-312. For a review, see Kuyini, Ahmed Bawa, and Ishwar Desai, 'Principals' and Teachers' Attitudes and Knowledge of Inclusive Education as Predictors of Effective Teaching Practices in Ghana', Journal of Research in Special Educational Needs, vol. 7, no. 2, June 2007, pp. 104-113.
- 55 UNICEF (2016). P.46.
- ⁵⁶ UNICEF (2012).
- ⁵⁷ UNICEF (2015). Progress for Children: Beyond Averages Learning from the MDGs. UNICEF: New York. P. 53.
- 58 Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health, funded by the Government of Canada through Grand Challenges Canada. Published by PLoS Medicine. [Available at: http://bit.ly/1RxF3nb].
- ⁵⁹ UNESCO (2014) Global Education Monitoring Report: Teaching and Learning, Achieving Quality for All. [Available at: https://www.unesco.de/fileadmin/medien/Dokumente/Bildung/GMR_2013_2014.pdf].
- 60 UNESCO and UNICEF (2015).
- 61 World Food Programme (2010). Factsheet: Fighting Hunger Worldwide: Two Minutes to learn about: School Meals. [Available at: http://documents.wfp.org/stellent/groups/public/documents/communications/wfp220221.pdf]. 62 UNESCO (2016). Table 9.
- 63 Levine, R. et al. (2008) Girls Count: A Global Investment and Action Agenda. Washington, D.C.: Center for Global Development. P.45. Cited in Asrari, L. (2015) Preventing Child Marriage in the Commonwealth: The Role of Education.
- ⁶⁴ Srivastava, Prachi (2013). Low-fee private schools and poor children: what do we really know? The Guardian. [Available at: https://www.thequardian.com/global-development-professionals-network/2015/aug/12/low-fee-privateschools-poverty-development-economist]. 65 UNESCO and UNICEF (2015).
- 66 Srivastava, Prachi (2013).
- ⁶⁷ World Bank (2010) Global Monitoring Report 2010: The MDGs after the Crisis. Washington D.C.: The World Bank.
- 68 UNESCO and UNICEF (2015).
- 69 Ibid.

```
<sup>70</sup> Ibid.
```

- 71 UNESCO (2016).
- 72 Ibid.
- ⁷³ Ibid.
- ⁷⁴ UNESCO and UNICEF (2015).
- 75 UNESCO (2015). P. 83.
- ⁷⁶ UNESCO (2007 b). Secondary education regional information base: country profile –

Bangladesh. UNESCO: Bangkok. [Available at: http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0015/001553/155306e.pdf]. P.22 77 UNESCO (2014). P.2

- 78 Ibid.
- ⁷⁹ Ibid.
- 80 UNISDR, INEE, GFDRR (2009) Guidance Notes on Safer School Construction
- ⁸¹ UNHCR (2016). *Missing Out: Refugee education in crisis*. P.4; Hayley MacKinnon, *Education in Emergencies: the Case of the Dabaab Refugee Camps*. Centre for International Governance Innovation, Policy Brief no.47, July 2014, p.5. An example of this is recruitment of 'idle youths' into Al Shabaab in the Dabaab refugee camps.
- ⁸² Tam O'Neil, Anjali Fleury and Marta Foresti (2016). 'Women on the Move: Migration, gender equality and the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development'. ODI Policy Briefing. P.4.
- 33 Ibid.
- 84 UNHCR (2016). Missing Out: Refugee Education in Crisis. UNHCR: Geneva.
- 85 Ibid.
- 86 Ibid.
- ⁸⁷ At the end of 2014, more than half all refugees globally had been displaced for more than ten years. See Crawford, N. et al (2015) Protracted Displacement: Uncertain Paths to Self-reliance in Exile. London: ODI.
- 88 Ibid
- 89 UNHCR (2016b) Global Trends: Forced Displacement in 2015. [Available at: http://www.unhcr.org/576408cd7.pdf].
- 90 UNHCR (2016). P.29.
- ⁹¹ Malala Fund (2016). Yes All Girls: Education and the Global Response. P.4.
- ⁹² UNHCR and UNESCO (2016). No More Excuses: Provide education to all forcibly displaced people. [Available at: http://webcache.googleusercontent.com/search?q=cache:_HjX1fmzZYsJ:en.unesco.org/gem-report/no-more-excuses+&cd=1&hl=en&ct=clnk&gl=uk]. p.7.
- [xiii] Ibid.

[xiv]

[xv] UNESCO and UNICEF (2015).

[xvi] Ibid.

- [xviii] The countries in the study cover a wide variety of contexts from countries in conflict, to fragile states, to those experiencing civil unrest, to those in times of peace.
- [xxi] Only 65 percent of children in conflict-affected countries reach the final grade of primary school, compared with 86 percent across other developing countries. See UNICEF and UNESCO (2015).
 [xxi] UNESCO (2011).
- 93 UNESCO (2015). P. 94
- ⁹⁴ Jere, C. M. 2012. Alternative approaches for education provision for out-of-school youth in Malawi. Background paper for EFA Global Monitoring Report 2012.
- ⁹⁵ UNFPA (2013). Motherhood in Childhood: Facing the Challenge of Adolescent Pregnancy. New York, United Nations Population Fund.
- ⁹⁶ UNESCO (2015). P. 278
- ⁹⁷ Rose, P. 2010. Achieving education for all through public-private partnerships? Development in Practice, Vol. 20, No. 4/5, pp. 473-83.
- 98 Plan International (2015). *Impact Area Overview: The Right to Education*. Plan International: Woking.
- 99 UNESCO (2014).
- ¹⁰⁰ UNESCO (2015b). World Education Forum Paper: Equality in Education. [Available at: http://en.unesco.org/world-education-forum-2015/5-key-themes/equity-education].
- 101 Postles, C. et al. (2013) Girls' Learning: Investigating the Classroom Practices that Promote Girls' Learning. [Available at: http://www.plan-uk.org/resources/documents/260260].
 102 UNICEF (2016). P.42
- ¹⁰³ The World Bank (2015), World Development Report: Mind, society, and behavior, World Bank: Washington, D.C. Chapter 5. Center on the Developing Child at Harvard University, 'Brain Architecture', [Available at:
- http://developingchild.harvard.edu/science/key-concepts/brain-architecture]. Lake, Anthony, and Chan, Margaret. 'Putting science into practice for early child development', The Lancet, vol. 385, no. 9980, 2014, pp. 1816–1817. International Food Policy Research Institute, Global Nutrition Report 2014: Actions and accountability to accelerate the world's progress on nutrition, Washington, D.C., 2014.
- UNESCO (2015c). Background Paper: The Demand for and the Provision of Early Childhood Services since 2000.
 UNESCO (2015c). A review of the literature: Early Childhood Care and Education Personnel in Low and Middle Income Countries.
- ¹⁰⁶ UNESCO (2015).
- ¹⁰⁷ Arnold C. et al. (2013).
- ¹⁰⁸ Global Canpaign for Education (n.d.). Mother-tongue education: policy lessons for quality and inclusión. [Available at:
- http://www.campaignforeducation.org/docs/reports/GCEpercent20Motherpercent20Tongue20Mother%20Tongue_EN.pdf].

- ¹⁰⁹ Lamees Altalebi (2016). Girls in Saudi Arabia demand the right to have PE Lessons. [Available at: http://www.independent.co.uk/news/world/middle-east/girls-in-saudi-arabia-demand-the-right-to-have-pe-lessons-a7013921.html].
- a7013921.html].

 110 Plan International (2016). *The State of Girls' Rights in the UK*. P. 38. Grace, 10 years old. [Available at: https://plan-uk.org/file/plan-international-ukthe-state-of-girls-rights-in-the-uk-2016pdf/download?token=upKuLdiO]

 111 Sport England. 'This Girl Can'. [Available at: https://www.sportengland.org/our-work/women/this-girl-can/].
- ¹¹² Plan International (2017). Gender and ECD: a review of the linkages. Plan International: Woking.
- ¹¹³ UNESCO (2015d). Gender and EFA 2000–2015: Achievements and Challenges. [Available at: http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0023/002348/234809E.pdf].
- ¹¹⁴ For instance, assessments undertaken by Plan in ten countries in Asia found that women are often portrayed in the home engaging in domestic and caregiving tasks, typically positioned as passive, and self-sacrificing, while men tend to occupy leadership or professional roles, and are described as brave and strong. Male and female teachers have been found to hold stereotypical attitudes about boys' and girls' achievements and roles such as attributing academic achievement in girls to dedicated work but in boys to natural ability or assuming competency at certain subjects, such as boys being inherently better at maths.
- ¹¹⁵ EMERGE (2015) op. cit.
- ¹¹⁶ Plan (2013) *Girls' Learning: Investigating the Classroom Practices that Promote Girls' Learning.* London: Plan International UK.
- ¹¹⁷ Plan International (2014). *Hear Our Voices: Do Adolescent Girls' Issues Really Matter?*. Woking: Plan International.
- ¹¹⁸ Shah, S. F. (2012) 'Gender inclusion: a neglected aspect of the English textbooks in Pakistan'. International Journal of Social Science and Education, Vol. 3, No. 1, pp. 118–27
- ¹¹⁹ Achyut et al. 2011. In UNESCO (2015d). P.48
- ¹²⁰ Kirby D. (2007). *Emerging Answers: ResearchFindings on Programmes to reduce teen pregnancy and sexually transmitted diseases*. [Available at: https://thenationalcampaign.org/resource/emerging-answers-2007%E2%80%94full-report].
- ¹²¹ The right to the highest attainable standard of health and to health care is established in various human rights documents, including the Universal Declaration on Human Rights, Article 12 of the Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights and Article 24 of the Convention on the Rights of the Child.
- 122 Holden, J., et al (2015) 'We want to learn about good love' Findings from a qualitative study assessing the links between comprehensive sexuality education and violence against women and girls. London: Plan International UK and Social Development Direct
- 123 Ibid.
- 124 Ibid.
- ¹²⁵ For more see UNESCO (2015e). *Comprehensive Sexuality Education: A Global Review.* [Available at: http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0023/002357/235707e.pdf]. P.4.
- ¹²⁶ Plan International UK (2016). Internal Position Paper: Girls' Education.
- ¹²⁷ For a detailed analysis of education curricula for sustainability, non-violence and other areas, along with stats on the positive impact of said curricula, see UNESCO (2016).
- ¹²⁸ International Labour Organization fact sheet, Child domestic work: Global estimates 2012. Issued 4 October 2013. Available at: http://ilo.org/ipec/Informationresources/WCMS IPEC PUB 23235/lang--en/index.htm
- ¹²⁹ McKinsey Global Institute (2015). The Power of Parity: How Advancing Women's Equality Can Add \$12 Trillion to Global Growth
- 130 Ibid.
- ¹³¹ See Practical Action: Gender and Livelihoods Impacts of Clean Cookstoves in South Asia. Research report commissioned by the Global Alliance for Clean Cookstoves. May 2015; see also Global Alliance for Clean Cookstoves and Energia (2015), Getting Cooking Energy Right in the Post-2015 Indicators, http://cleancookstoves.org/binary-data/ATTACHMENT/file/000/000/258-1.pdf.
- ¹³² WHO/UNICEF Joint Monitoring Programme for Water Supply and Sanitation, *2015 Report and MDG Assessment*. Women and girls were responsible for water collection in seven out of ten households in 45 developing countries.
- ¹³³ World Bank Group. 2015. *Women, Business and the Law 2016: Getting to Equal.* Washington, DC: World Bank. Available at: http://wbl.worldbank.org/~/media/WBG/WBL/Documents/Reports/2016/Women-Business-and-the-Law-2016.pdf?la=en
- ¹³⁴ World Bank. Gender at work: A Companion to the World Development Report on jobs. World Bank, 2013.
- ¹³⁵ World Bank Group. 2015. *Women, Business and the Law 2016: Getting to Equal*. Washington, DC: World Bank. Available at: http://wbl.worldbank.org/~/media/WBG/WBL/Documents/Reports/2016/Women-Business-and-the-Law-2016.pdf?la=en
- 136 http://www.un.org/youthenvoy/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/Work4Youth-Publication.pdf
- ¹³⁷ The gender is estimated pay gap to take 118 years to close, according to World Economic Forum.
- ¹³⁸ International Labour Organization (2015). *Global Employment Trends for Youth 2015: Scaling up investments in decent jobs for youth.*

- ¹³⁹ Theo Sparreboom and Anita Staneva (2014). Is education the solution to decent work for youth in developing economies? Identifying qualifications mismatch from 28 school-to-work transition surveys. International Labour Office. Work 4 Youth Publication Series, No. 23, Youth Employment Programme Employment Policy Department, [Available at: http://www.un.org/youthenvoy/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/Work4Youth-Publication.pdf]
- ¹⁴⁰ International Labour Office (2016). Young and Female: a double strike?
- 141 Global Partnership for Education (http://www.globalpartnership.org/education/the-benefits-of-education), citing 'The Determinants of Wealth and Gender Inequity in Cognitive Skills in Latin America'. Juliana Guaqueta, Kevin Macdonald, Emilio Porta, Harry Anthony Patrinos and Felipe Barrera. Policy Research Working Papers. World Bank, February 2010.
- ¹⁴² McKinsey Global Institute (2015). The Power of Parity: How Advancing Women's Equality Can Add \$12 Trillion to Global Growth. This scenario requires women to play an identical role in labour markets to that of men. 143 Ibid.
- ¹⁴⁴ The International Labour Organization defines decent work as "productive work for women and men in conditions of freedom, equality, security and human dignity. It involves opportunities for work that deliver a fair income; provide security in the workplace and social protection for workers and their families. It offers better prospects for personal development which also encourage social integration: give people the freedom to express their concerns, to organize and to participate in decisions that affect their lives; and guarantee equal opportunities and treatment for all.
- ¹⁴⁵ International Commission on Financing Global Education Opportunity (2016). P 12
- ¹⁴⁶ Recommendation from ONE (2017). Poverty is Sexist: Why educating every girl is good for everyone. [Available at: https://s3.amazonaws.com/one.org/pdfs/ONE Poverty is Sexist Report 2017 EN.pdf].
- Sean Coughlan, BBC. (2014) 'Acute global teacher shortage, warns UN', BBC News. [Available at: http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/education-29505581.]
- ¹⁴⁸ OECD (2012). Education indicators in focus. [Available at: http://www.oecd.org/edu/skills-beyondschool/EDIFpercent202012202012--N9percent20FINAL20FINAL.pdf].
- 149 UNESCO Institute of Statistics. Statistical data. [Available at : http://tellmaps.com/uis/teachers/#!/tellmap/-1209350075].

 150 UNICEF (2015), The Investment Case for Education and Equity. UNICEF: New York. P. 66.
- ¹⁵¹ UNESCO (2015f). A Review of the Literature: Early Childhood Care and Education (ECCE)

Personnel in Low- and Middle-Income Countries. [Available at:

http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0023/002349/234988E.pdfl.

- ¹⁵² UNESCO (2015f).
- ¹⁵³ UNESCO, 'Facts and Figures: Teacher Gap', [Available at :
- http://www.unesco.org/new/en/education/themes/leading-the-international-agenda/education-for-all/advocacy/globalaction-week/gaw-2013/facts-and-figures/]
- ¹⁵⁴ The Guardian. 'Almost one third of teachers quit within five years of qualifying'. 24 October 2016. [Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/education/2016/oct/24/almost-third-of-teachers-quit-within-five-years-of-qualifying-
- 155 Human Rights Watch (2016). "We're Afraid for Their Future" Barriers to Education for Syrian Refugee Children in Jordan. [Available at : https://www.hrw.org/report/2016/08/16/were-afraid-their-future/barriers-education-syrianrefugee-children-jordan].
- 156 UNESCO (2014). P.33
- ¹⁵⁷ UNESCO (2014). P.39
- ¹⁵⁸ UNESCO (2014). P.43
- ¹⁵⁹ Plan International (2013). Include Us! A Study of Disability among Plan International's Sponsored Children. Plan International: Woking.
- ¹⁶⁰ UNESCO Institute of Statistics. Statistical data. [Available at: http://tellmaps.com/uis/teachers/].
- ¹⁶¹ UNESCO (2016). P.40
- ¹⁶² UNESCO (2014). P.43
- ¹⁶³ Kelleher, F. (2008) Primary School Teacher

Deployment: A Comparative Study. [Available at: https://books.thecommonwealth.org/primary-school-teacherdeploymentpaperback].

- ¹⁶⁴ UNESCO (2015).
- ¹⁶⁵ Journalist's Resource (2016). How female science, math teachers influence whether young women major in STEM fields. [Available at: https://journalistsresource.org/studies/society/education/female-science-math-teachers-stemstudents1.
- ¹⁶⁶ FAWE (2015). Gender Responsive Pedagogy: A Teachers' Handbook. [Available at: http://www.wikigender.org/wpcontent/uploads/2015/08/GRP-Booklet.pdf].
- ¹⁶⁸ Asrari, L (2015). For more information see Plan International UK. (2011) Citizenship In Practice: Young People Driving Change. London: Plan International UK.
- ¹⁶⁹ Plan International case study (2016). Uncut Girls Club. Ethiopia: Unpublished.
- ¹⁷⁰ Greene, M. et. al. (2013).
- ¹⁷¹ Leach, F., Dunne, M. and Salvi, F. (2013). Global review of current issues and approaches in policy, programming and implementation responses to SRGBV. UNESCO education sector, Brighton: University of Sussex. P.12 ¹⁷² Plan International UK (2016).
- 173 https://plan-international.org/because-i-am-a-girl/violence-at-school
- 174 Plan's estimate is based on the following calculation: the 2006 UN Study on Violence against Children reported that 20-65percent of schoolchildren are affected by verbal bullying—the most prevalent form of violence in schools.

Based on UNESCO's 2011 Global Education Digest report, 1.23 billion children are in primary or secondary school on any given day, and Plan estimates that 20percent of the global student population is 246 million children. Therefore, Plan estimates that at least 246 million boys and girls suffer from SRGBV every year. Source: UNESCO Institute for Statistics (2011). Global Education Digest 2011: Comparing Education Statistics Across the World. Montreal, UNESCO Institute of Statistics.

- ¹⁷⁵ World Health Organization (2012). Global School-Based Student Health Survey. Available at: http://www.who.int/chp/gshs/en].
- ¹⁷⁶ UNICEF (2016b). 'UNICEF Data: Monitoring the Situation of Children and Women'. [Available at: https://data.unicef.org/topic/child-protection/violence/peer-violence/#].
- ¹⁷⁷ UNICEF (2016b).
- ¹⁷⁸ Save the children (2009). See Me Hear Me. London: Save the Children. P.106
- ¹⁷⁹ UNESCO (2016). LGBT-FRIENDLY THAILAND? An Infographic on school bullying on the basis of sexual orientation and gender identity. [Available at: http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0022/002277/227752E.pdf].

¹⁸⁰ UNICEF (2006). World Report on Violence Against Children. Available at:

[https://www.unicef.org/violencestudy/4.%20World%20Report%20on%20Violence%20against%20Children.pdf]. ¹⁸¹ Office of the Special Representative of the Secretary General on Violence against Children (2012). "Tackling Violence in Schools: A global perspective: Bridging the gap between standards and practice". [Available at: http://srsg.violenceagainstchildren.org/sites/default/files/publications/Tackling%20Violence%20in%20Schools%20final <u>.pdf</u>].

182 lbid.

- ¹⁸³ Crick, N. and Grotpeter, J. K. (1995). 'Relational Aggression, Gender, and Social-Psychological Adjustment', Child Development, vol. 66, no. 3, pp. 710-22.
- ¹⁸⁴ SRSG on Violence against Children (2012).
- ¹⁸⁵ NGO Advisory Council for Follow-up to the UN Study on Violence against Children (2011). Five Years On: A Global Update on Violence Against Children. [Available at: http://www.crin.org/docs/Five Years On.pdf]. ¹⁸⁶ UNICEF (2006). P. 118.
- ¹⁸⁷ UNICEF (2001). Corporal Punishment in Schools in South Asia. [Available at: http://www.childtrafficking.com/Docs/unicef 2001 corporal punishment in south asia 1.pdf].
- ¹⁸⁸ Humphreys, S. (2008). 'Gendering corporal punishment: Beyond the discourse of human rights'. Gender and Education 20(5):527-540.

¹⁸⁹ MSI, (2008).

- ¹⁹⁰ UNICEF (2006). Pp. 128-130. In regional consultations for this study, physical and psychological abuse, verbal abuse, bullying and sexual violence in schools were consistently reported as reasons for absenteeism, dropping-out and lack of motivation for academic achievement.
- ¹⁹¹ Office of the Special Representative of the Secretary General on Violence against Children (2012).
- ¹⁹² Results for Development (2013). Exclusion from Education: The Economic Costs of Out of School Children in 20 Countries. [Available at: http://educateachild.org/sites/default/files/attachments/R4D_EAC_smallres.pdf].

¹⁹³ UNESCO (2011). Education Counts: Towards the Millennium Development Goals. [Available at:

https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=t&rct=j&g=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwiBxa6XnZP VAhVLIIAKHZPpCXIQFggoMAA&url=http%3A%2F%2Funesdoc.unesco.org%2Fimages%2F0019%2F001902%2F19 0214e.pdf&usg=AFQjCNHGEOAbSRAvXOSLQLNZfqWIOmxTGg].

- ¹⁹⁴ World Bank (2002). Returns to investment in education: a further update. Policy Research Working Paper Series
- ¹⁹⁵ International Commission on Financing Global Education Opportunity (2016). P. 11
- ¹⁹⁶ UNICEF (2016). P. 62
- ¹⁹⁷ UNICEF (2015a). The Investment Case for Education and Equity, UNICEF: New York.
- ¹⁹⁸ International Commission on Financing Global Education Opportunity (2016). Pp 117-118
- 199 UNICEF (2015a). P. 59.
- ²⁰⁰ General Comment 13 of the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, paragraph 14
- ²⁰¹ Incheon Declaration (2015). Paragraph 14. [Available at:
- http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0023/002331/233137E.pdfl.
- ²⁰² UNICEF (2016). P.61
- ²⁰³ Global Partnership for Education (2015). Results report 2014-2015. [Available at:
- http://www.globalpartnership.org/docs/reports/results-2014-15/Chapter%203%20-
- %20Domestic%20and%20External%20Financing%20for%20Education.pdf].

 204 UNICEF Innocenti Research Centre (2008). The child care transition: A league table of early childhood education and care in economically advanced countries. [Available at: https://www.unicef-irc.org/publications/pdf/rc8_eng.pdf]. ²⁰⁵ World Bank (2014). Stepping up Early Childhood Development: Investing in young children for high returns. Washington, D.C.: World Bank.
- ²⁰⁶ UNESCO. Education For All Global Monitoring Report 'Pricing the Right to Education: The cost of reaching new targets by 2030', Policy Paper 18, UNESCO, Paris, July 2015, p. 4. Figures were in US dollars, in 2012.
- ²⁰⁷ ActionAid, Oxfam and Christian Aid (2015). Getting To Good Towards Responsible Corporate Tax Behaviour. Discussion paper.
- ²⁰⁸ Ernesto Crivelli, Ruud De Mooij and Michael Keen (2015). Base Erosion, Profit Shifting and Developing Countries, IMF Working Paper WP/15/118. IMF.
- ²⁰⁹Dev Kar and Joseph Spanjers (2015). Illicit Financial Flows from Developing Countries: 2004 2013. Global Financial Integrity. [Available at: http://www.gfintegrity.org/wpcontent/uploads/2015/12/IFF-Update 2015-Final.pdf]. ²¹⁰ A study in Bihar State, India, where girls were given bicycles to improve safety on the journey to school led to the retention rate of girls tripling, and completion rates increasing by 10percent.%.

- ²¹¹ Ichii, Reina (2010). *Gender Responsive Budgeting in Education Advocacy Brief*. Bangkok: UNESCO Bangkok.
 [Available at: http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0018/001894/189456e.pdf].
 ²¹² UNESCO and UNESCO Institute for Statistics, 'A Growing Number of Children and Adolescents Are Out of School
- ²¹² UNESCO and UNESCO Institute for Statistics, 'A Growing Number of Children and Adolescents Are Out of Schoolas Aid Fails to Meet the Mark', Policy Paper 22, Fact Sheet 31, UNESCO and UIS, Paris and Montreal, July 2015.
- ²¹³ Crawford, Nicholas, et al. (2015). *Protracted Displacement: Uncertain paths to self-reliance in exile*, Overseas Development Institute: London. Pp. 2–3.
- ²¹⁴ International Commission on Financing Global Education Opportunity (2016). P.13

²¹⁵ Ibid.

- ²¹⁶ Plan International, Global Campaign for Education, Oxfam International and Results International (2013). *Financing Education as a Global Public Good: 1000 Days to 2015 and Beyond.*
- ²¹⁷ The Brookings Institution and UNESCO (2013). *Financing for Global Education: Opportunities for Multilateral Action.* [Available at: http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0022/002232/223289E.pdf].
 http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0022/002232/223289E.pdf].
- ²¹⁹ Global Partnership for Education (2013). *How the Global Partnership for Education Adds Value*. [Available at: http://www.globalpartnership.org/content/how-global-partnership-education-adds-value].

²²⁰ Nicolai, Susan, et al. (2016). Pp. 9-10.

- ²²¹ International Commission on Financing Global Education Opportunity (2016). P.13
- ²²² United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (2015). *World Humanitarian Data and Trends* 2015. [Available at: https://docs.unocha.org/sites/dms/Documents/WHDT2015 2Dec.pdf].

²²³ Nicolai, Susan, and Hine, Sébastien (2015).

Investment for Education in Emergencies: A

Review of evidence. Overseas Development

Institute: London, P. 10.

- ²²⁴ James Milner and Gil Loescher (2011). "Responding to protracted refugee situations: lessons from a decade of discussion." Refugee Studies Centre. Forced Migration Policy Briefing 6.
- ²²⁵ DeStefano, J., Moore, A.-M. S., Balwanz, D. and Hartwell, A. 2007. Reaching the Underserved: Complementary Models of Effective Schooling. Washington, DC, Academy for Educational Development.
- ²²⁶ Meghna Sabharwal, Evan M. Berman (2015). Public Administration in South Asia: India, Bangladesh, and Pakistan. Boca Raton: CRC Press. P.205
- ²²⁷ UNESCO (2013). Education for All Global Monitoring Report Policy Paper 05: 'Private sector should boost finance for education'.
- ²²⁸ UNESCO Institute of Statistics. Statistical data: Percentage of private enrolment. [Available at: http://stats.uis.unesco.org/].
- Right to Education. *Privatisation of Education*. [Available at: http://www.right-to-education.org/issue-page/privatisation-education].
- ²³⁰ Jamil, B.R. et al (2012). Investigating Dimensions of the Privatisation of Public Education in South Asia, Case Studies from Pakistan and India. [Available at:
- http://www.periglobal.org/sites/periglobal.org/files/8.Privatisation_of_Public_Education_in_South_Asia(Jamil,Javaid&Rangaraiu).pdfl.
- angaraju).pdf].

 ²³¹ The Economist (2009). *The Trouble with Private Schools*. August 2009. [Available at: http://www.economist.com/blogs/freeexchange/2009/08/the_trouble_with_private_school.
- ²³²Global Initiative for Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, the Right to Education Project and the Open Society Foundation (2017). Regional consultation: Guiding Principles on state obligations regarding private schools. [See: http://en.unesco.org/events/regional-consultation-guiding-principles-state-obligations-regarding-private-schools].
 http://en.unesco.org/events/regional-consultation-guiding-principles-state-obligations-regarding-private-schools].
 http://en.unesco.org/events/regional-consultation-guiding-principles-state-obligations-regarding-private-schools].
 http://en.unesco.org/events/regional-consultation-guiding-principles-state-obligations-regarding-private-schools].
 http://en.unesco.org/events/regional-consultation-guiding-principles-state-obligations-regarding-private-schools].
 https://en.unesco.org/events/regional-consultation-guiding-principles-state-obligations-regarding-private-schools].
 https://en.unesco.org/events/regional-consultation-guiding-private-schools].
 https://en.unesco.org/events/regional-consultation-guiding-private-sch
- ²³³ Sustainable Development Solutions Network (2015). Data for Development: A Needs Assessment for Global Goals Monitoring and Statistical Capacity Development. P. 6. [Available at:

 $\underline{https://sustainable development.un.org/index.php?page=view\&type=400\&nr=2017\&menu=35].}$

- ²³⁴ Washington Group on Disability Statistics. Rationale and Principles for Questions on Child Functioning. [Available at:
- http://www.washingtongroup-disability.com/washington-group-question-sets/child-disability/].
- ²³⁵ This from Plan's Impact Area Overview on the Right to Inclusive, Quality Education
- ²³⁶ Universal Declaration of Human Rights. [Available at:

http://www.ohchr.org/EN/UDHR/Documents/UDHR_Translations/eng.pdf].

- ²³⁷ Convention on the Rights of the Child. [Available at: http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/ProfessionalInterest/crc.pdf].
- ²³⁸ Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities. [Available at:

http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/AdvocacyTool_en.pdf].

²³⁹ Convention on the Elimination of all Forms of Discrimination against Women. [Available at:

http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/ProfessionalInterest/cedaw.pdf].

²⁴⁰ Convention on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights. [Available at:

http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/ProfessionalInterest/cescr.pdf]

- ²⁴¹ The Refugee Convention (1951). [Available at: http://www.unhcr.org/uk/protection/travaux/4ca34be29/refugee-convention-1951-travaux-preparatoires-analysed-commentary-dr-paul.html].
- ²⁴² UNESCO (1960). Convention Against Discrimination in Education. [Available at:

http://www.unesco.org/education/pdf/DISCRI_E.PDF].

- ²⁴³ Incheon Declaration (2015). Paragraph 10. [Available at:
- http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0023/002331/233137E.pdf].